
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Tuesday, 21 July 2020 at 7.30 pm when the business 
specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can 
attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. (Pages 5 - 12)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. General Fund Provisional Outturn Report (Pages 13 - 32)

6. Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report (Pages 33 - 48)

7. Annual Treasury Management Review 2019-20 (Pages 49 - 68)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Annual Governance Statement 2019-20 (Pages 69 - 
110)

9. Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Report 2019-20 (Pages 111 - 
162)

10.Draft Audit Plan 2020-21 (Pages 163 - 
180)

11.Fee Scale for the 2020-21 Audit and update on 2019-20 fees (Pages 181 - 
184)

12.Draft response to Letter to Those Charged with Governance (Pages 185 - 
192)

13.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

14.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in private

Members

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Nirmal Khabra
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance & Audit Committee
 

Tuesday, 10 March 2020                                            7:30pm 

Present: 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Acting Vice-Chair)  

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 
Dakota Dibben 
Nirmal Khabra 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Tony Rice 

Sarah Parfitt Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Andrew Barnett  
Helen Thaqi 
Nikki Ashby 
Liulu Chen  

Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team Leader 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team Leader 
External Auditor, Grant Thornton 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

44. Apologies for absence 

An apology for absence was received from Paul Grady – the External Auditor, Grant 
Thornton. 

45. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. 

The minutes of the meeting on Monday, 17 February 2020 were signed by the Chair. 

46. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Gow, Cllr Rice and the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) declared an Other 
Significant Interest for agenda item 8 as appointed Directors of Rosherville Limited, the 
Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 

47. Order of Agenda 

The Committee agreed that agenda item 10 & 11 be brought forward as the External Auditor, 
Grant Thornton had to leave the meeting early. 

48. 2019-20 External Audit Plan 

Liulu Chen introduced herself to the Committee as the new Audit Manager from Grant 
Thornton and presented Members with the External Audit Plan for the year ending 31 March 
2020. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 10.03.2020

2

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton advised Members that the three significant risks 
identified were the same as in the External Audit Plan for 2018-19. Those risks requiring 
special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial 
statement error were identified as:

 Management override of controls
 Valuation of land and buildings
 Valuation of net pension fund liability

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton further directed Members attention to page 5 of the 
report which explained the findings for the below headlines:  

 Materiality 
 Value for Money Arrangements 
 Audit Logistics 
 Independence 

In response to Members questions, the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) and the 
External Auditor, Grant Thornton explained that: 

 KCC operate the Local Government Pension Scheme; the Council pay them the staff 
pension contributions and they invest and manage the liability of that fund. The 
Council are required, annually, to value the liabilities under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme and the auditors focus on the significant numbers that appear on 
the balance sheet. The auditors focused on the balance sheet figures as they were 
significant and they are obliged to confirm that the sheet is balanced correctly 

 The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) specifically highlighted that the quality and 
extent of work around PPE, Investment Property valuations and IAS 19 valuations 
had to increase across local audit . Therefore Grant Thornton had to engage with 
more audit experts and extend the level of work and resources to meet the increased 
requirements resulting in the revised scale fee 

 With regards to certification of Housing Benefit Grant, the Council receive a grant 
from the Government for housing benefit. Grant Thornton then carry out sample 
testing of random residents housing benefit claims to check if the claims were valid 
and calculated correctly. Upon confirmation that the housing benefit claims are valid 
and correctly calculated, a certification is issued to Gravesham which the Council is 
required to submit. If any mistakes or errors were identified then Grant Thornton were 
required to conduct further work and extrapolate the risks; if numerous errors were 
identified then there was also the possibility that the Council may have to repay a 
certain amount of grant funding  

Following a question, regarding if it was a mandatory requirement or a choice by Grant 
Thornton to have their findings verified externally, the External Auditor, Grant Thornton 
advised that she would consult with the Engagement Lead for Gravesham and circulate an 
answer after the meeting. 

The Chair thanked the External Auditor, Grant Thornton for her presentation. 

49. Interim Progress Report 

This item was dealt with under item 11 – 2019-20 External Audit Plan. 

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 10.03.2020

3

50. Review of Accounting Policies 2019-20 

The Committees endorsement was sought for the Accounting Policies to be used in 
formulating the Financial Statements for the authority for the financial year 2019-20. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) advised that they identified no major changes to 
The Code that will influence the Council’s accounting policies for 2019-20. Therefore, the 
accounting policies will broadly remain in line with those used to prepare the 2018-19 
statement of accounts, although the wording of accounting policies has been updated where 
necessary to provide greater clarification.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) drew Members attention to paragraph 2.3, as with 
the agreement of the Council’s Engagement Lead from Grant Thornton following a 
discussion in autumn 2019, the de-minimis level when considering accruals will be increased 
from £750 to £2,000 for preparation of the 2019-20 accounts. An accrual relates to 
adjustment for income or expenditure which hasn’t been recorded yet such as expenses not 
paid or income not yet received. 

The Council has been required to undertake an assessment to see what the impact of the 
new accounting standard listed at paragraph 2.4, IFRS 16 – Leases, will have on the 
Councils accounts as all qualifying leases will now be recorded on the Council balance sheet 
as assets and what’s owed on that asset will become its liability. Officers from the Finance 
Team have already identified steps for existing leases and have ensured arrangements are 
in place to comply with the new standard. The new accounting standard has not directly 
affected the preparation of the financial statements for 2019-20. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) concluded that the accounting policies have been 
shared with the external auditors and may therefore be subject to any comments / feedback 
from the Council’s external auditors.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) and the Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
fielded questions from the Committee, explaining that: 

 The impact of the new accounting standard IFRS 16 will not have a hugely significant 
impact on the Council; officers have attended various training courses on the 
standard and preparations have already been undertaken. Discussions have been 
held with senior managers, budget holders, the contracts register and various lease 
agreements have been reviewed. The Council has various leases; an example being 
the big belly solar panel bins and a £35K annual lease fee for the Woodville’s cinema 
equipment. All of those fees added together weren’t a significant figure but they will 
all feature on the Council balance sheet next year under the new process 

 As a local authority, the exposure from IFRS 16 was more limited for Gravesham 
where as other Councils will be more impacted due to their usage of their vehicle 
leases. Those using their vehicles for delivering their services and contracting our 
service externally will have to go on the balance sheet 

 As the policies have been submitted to Grant Thornton, they may raise some queries 
or wording issues, but there have not been any major issues reported in previous 
years. However, if they raised any significant problems then they would be brought to 
the Committees attention 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 10.03.2020

4

Resolved that Members endorsed the use of the Accounting Policies as outlined at 
Appendix Two to this report, subject to comments from the Council’s external auditor.

51. Audit & Counter Fraud Quality Assurance & Improvement Program 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
for 2020-21 was presented for approval to the Committee. 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader advised that the QAIP had been reviewed and was 
considered to continue to meet the necessary requirements and will therefore continue to be 
in place for the coming financial year, subject to the proposed amendments from 2.2.1 to 
2.2.4 of the report. 

Following questions and comments from Members, the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader 
advised that: 

 The programme that has been put together fulfils the Committees role in reviewing 
the performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service; the changes that 
were proposed had to be formally approved by the Committee. Additionally, the work 
of the shared service is subject to an external review every five years. The previous 
external assessment, in 2018, assessed the council’s compliance with the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards by reviewing the work carried out by the team and 
concluded that the shared service was 98% compliant with the Standards. Prior to 
this, the shared service had also carried out its own internal assessment, with an 
improvement programme put in place. No significant changes have been made since 
these assessments were undertaken.  

 PM9 relates to the percentage of work the team can charge to implementation of the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Plan. The description was amended from ‘productive’ to 
‘chargeable’ as the former implied that the remaining time was unproductive, 
whereas this is actually used for tasks which support delivery of the Plan, such as 
one to ones, team meetings and time recording etc.  

 PM13 tracked the percentage of audits which are completed within the allocated day 
budget but was removed as it did not take into account how far the audit had gone 
over the allocated day budget or that audits go over the day budget for legitimate 
reasons. Members will still be able to see the budgeted days and the number of days 
used for each specific review as part of the team’s quarterly update and annual 
reports to the Committee and this will continue to be monitored internally, however 
PM13 will not be reported going forward. 

Resolved that Members approved the QAIP presented at Appendix 3 for use in 2020-21. 

52. Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 2020-24 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Strategy for 2020-2024 was presented to the 
Committee for approval. 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader stated that the document attached at appendix two 
was the updated Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy designed for the next four years up until 
2024, but the three main objectives remained the same. The team will continue to build on 
the success achieved by the shared service since 01 March 2016.    

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 10.03.2020

5

The Committee asked for clarification on any changes to the Strategy compared to the 
previous one.  

The Audit & Counter Team Leader advised that there had been a minor amendment to 
Objective Three – Positive Impact; the below wording was added to the Objective  

 We will continue to build on the success of the shared working arrangements and 
explore all opportunities for further development, including the potential to expand the 
partnership and increase cost savings and resilience or sell services.

Resolved that Members approved the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Strategy 
2020-24 presented at Appendix 2.

53. Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21 for Gravesham, attached at appendix two to the 
report, was presented to the Committee for approval. 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader stated that the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan has 
been prepared based on the cyclical programme of core financial and governance activities 
listed on page 8 of the Plan and a risk assessment to ensure that the team’s resources are 
directed to the highest area of risk. Senior management have also been consulted on the 
draft plan to corroborate this risk assessment.   

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader fielded questions from the Committee, explaining 
that: 

 The Committee will receive quarterly update reports on the Plan throughout the 
financial year and reviews will be conducted to ensure that the shared service can 
deliver the Plan effectively ahead of these. If any issues were detected with the Plan 
and amendments were necessary then they would be presented to the Committee as 
part of the next update report, asking for Members approval. 

 Following on from the previous meeting of the committee and the item on the 
Strategic Risk Register, a review was undertaken of the Lower Thames Crossing as 
a strategic risk to the organisation with the Planning Department and the risk was 
assessed as below the threshold. However, it has been recognised as a risk under 
risk two of the proposed Strategic Risk Register, which related to national priorities 
and legislative change, as a significant infrastructure project that the Council will be 
obliged to react to over the course of next year. 

 Within the team are the following staff: 

- James Larkin as the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
- Helen Thaqi, Nikki Ashby and Mark Cayzer as Audit & Counter Fraud Team 

leaders 
- Eight Audit & Counter Fraud Officers 
- An Intelligence Analyst and an Assistant 

 With regard to the total number of days in the Plan, highlighted in the summary table 
on page 6, this time is made up from the Assistant, the Intelligence Analyst, the eight 
A&CF Officers and a portion of the Team Leaders time. The total of this time is then 

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 10.03.2020

6

split between the two local authorities as per the Shared Service Agreement, at 64% 
for Medway and 36% for Gravesham. 

Resolved that Members approved the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21 for Gravesham 
presented at Appendix 2.

54. 2019-20 Audit Scope Letter (Please note that Appendix 2 is restricted 
and will only be available in the private document pack) 

The Committee was provided with a copy of a letter received from the Council’s External 
Auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP, setting out proposed additional fees relating to the 2019/20 
audit of the Council’s financial statements.  

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) summarised the background of the letter and 
informed Members of the Councils decision in 2016 to unanimously accept the invitation to 
opt into the appointing persons arrangements made by PSAA for the appointment of external 
auditors. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that the additional fee of £7,500 in 
addition to the scale fee of £41,036 was set out as being necessary for Grant Thornton to 
meet their requirements for the Councils 2019/20 accounts.  

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) outlined key points from the report to the 
Committee regarding the below four key areas that Grant Thornton explained were directly 
related to the need for the additional fee: 

 Increased challenge and depth of work – raising the quality bar 
 Property, plant and equipment (PPE or ‘Fixed Assets’)
 Pensions (IAS 19)
 Complex accounting issues and new accounting standards 

The Letter set out the intention to approach the PSAA for the additional fee; the Section 151 
Officer attended a meeting of the Kent Finance Officer Group and it has been recognised 
that the current level of audit fee was not sustainable to deliver a quality and compliant audit 
service..  There is a government review currently being undertaken to consider the scope 
and role of external audit, the Redmond review; the initial findings from the review are 
expected later on this month with formal reporting currently scheduled for June.. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) fielded questions from Members and explained 
that: 

 The Council is registered for VAT and is able to claim VAT back 
 The fee was discussed with the Director (Corporate Services) and he felt that it was 

an acceptable charge. The consultation from the PSAA on fees for 2020/21 is 
underway and the Council will be submitting a response to that through the District 
Councils Network 

 Grant Thornton have always reserved the right to increase their prices most likely in 
preparation of cases where Councils haven’t prepared sufficient working papers to 
support their Statement of Accounts or they haven’t complied with the Code of 
Practice creating more work for the external auditors 

Page 8



Finance and Audit Committee 10.03.2020

7

 Gravesham have a very good track record with responding to audit enquiries and 
producing quality working papers to support the Statement of Accounts which is 
supported by the outcomes from the Audit Letters. There is nothing to suggest that 
the outcome of the Audit Letter in July 2020 will be any different 

 The external audit fees have significantly reduced since they peaked in the mid 
2000’s at £125K. Before that the Council used to be charged by the Audit 
Commission who undertook Value for Money and CPA assessments ranking the 
Council under Performance Measures 1-4. Over time the scope of audit has reduced, 
and as the scope decreased so did the fee 

The Chair echoed the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) comments regarding external 
auditing and advised that they both attended a PSAA conference where her comments were 
reflected by other Finance Officers from London. 

Before the end of the meeting, the Committee congratulated the Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) on her recent promotion to the post of Director (Corporate Services). 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:30pm. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 29 June 2020 / 21 July 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Provisional Outturn Report 2019/20 

Purpose and summary of report:
To present:

 The 2019/20 provisional General Fund Outturn Report, including movements in the 
General Fund working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2019/20 provisional General Fund Capital Outturn
To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance.  This report provides details of the 
provisional budget outturn for the 2019/20 financial year and complements the 2019/20 
Financial Statements for the authority, which will subsequently be considered by the 
Finance & Audit Committee. 

1.2. During 2019/20, the Council continued to operate robust budgetary control actions to 
ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s 
finances.  In addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget 
monitoring reports, these actions have included:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring all recruitment activity to be considered and approved by Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, as set 
out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covering the period.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

General Fund - Revenue

2.1. The provisional outturn position for the year is an underspend of £1,194,250. This 
position has largely arisen as a result of the Council’s ongoing proactive action to realise 
base budget reductions through delivery of Bridging The Gap activity, as well as 
favourable year-end performance against some budget lines. Action to manage 
vacancies and other workforce matters also resulted in employee-related costs being 
lower than originally budgeted.

2.2. The council ended 2018/19 in a favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £184,670 
to be approved for carry forward into 2019/20.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is £10.35m, constituted of the minimum 
working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £4.00m and usable Working 
Balances of £5.1m. 

2.4. Movements in the year have resulted in a net increase in reserves of £0.67m, with the 
level of reserves being £11.24m at start of year and £11.91m at year- end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the long-term future of local government funding, and more recently, 
the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic.

2.6. General Fund - Capital

2.7. The revised budget of the General Fund Capital Programme for the year is £8.2m, 
including £1.3m to support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property 
portfolio and £1.7m to fund the initial works to redevelop the St George’s Shopping 
Centre.  Actual spend for the year was £3.3m. 

2.8. The Capital Programme has been updated during the budget-setting process for 
2020/21, to take account of projects that are no longer expected to occur during 2019/20 
but in 2020/21 and future years instead.

3. GENERAL FUND - REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2019/20

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2019/20 was £11,474,270, funded by 
retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and use of £742,500 
Usable Working Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. Following some limited changes to the responsibilities of Directors and Assistant 
Directors from 2nd September, the former Environment & Operations and Housing & 
Regeneration directorates have been adjusted to Housing & Operations and Planning & 
Development respectively. This reflects the transfer of Housing Services from Housing & 
Regeneration to Housing & Operations. The table on the next page and subsequent 
commentary reflects the revised structure and sets out the closing assessment of 
performance against the Original Budget by Directorate.

3.1.3. The provisional General Fund outturn against the Original Budget is presented in the 
table below. It should be noted that headings for directorates, reserves and transactions 
below the line have been adjusted to neutralise the effect of year-end accounting entries 
such as depreciation, and incorporate the correct accounting treatment for reserves and 

Page 12



3

grant income. As a result, the table may not be directly comparable to previous budget 
monitoring reports.

3.1.4. The original budget requirement upon which 2019/20 council tax levels were originally 
set remains unchanged, and all other lines only include variations which CIPFA funding 
regulations permit to be levied against council tax and business ratepayers.

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Outturn 
2019/20 (£)

Variation 
2019/20( £)

All Directorate - Salaries 13,700,720 13,485,590 (215,130)
Chief Executive (120,160) (120,320) (160)
Communities 47,760 (1,189,850) (1,237,610)
Corporate Services 4,891,740 4,982,990 91,250
Housing & Operations (696,900) (396,020) 300,880
Planning & Development 10,620 (181,500) (192,120)
Non-Directorate Specific 1,074,900 1,055,230 (19,670)
Interest and Investment Income (917,750) (1,055,560) (137,810)
Government Grant Funding (1,213,840) (1,288,040) (74,200)
Transfers to/ (from) reserves 192,480 668,280 475,800
Transfers to/ (from) balances 611,150 611,150 0
Transactions below the line (6,106,450) (6,076,760) 29,690
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,474,270 10,495,190 (979,080)

Business Rates Income (3,085,050) (3,300,220) (215,170)
Council Tax Income (6,892,290) (6,892,290) 0
Parish Precepts (339,740) (339,740) 0
New Homes Bonus (611,150) (611,150) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 196,460 196,460 0
Use of Working Balances (742,500) (742,500) 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (1,194,250) (1,194,250)  
Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

 
3.2. All DIRECTORATE – SALARIES

3.2.1 Staffing: £215k favourable variance – the council continued through the year to 
maintain a close analysis of staffing budgets through regular monitoring to Management 
Team and effective management of vacant posts and the staffing establishment. The 
budget for 2019/20 incorporated a vacancy allowance of £350k; the year-end position 
was an underspend of £565k, giving rise to the net favourable variance of £215k. 

3.3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.3.1 There are no significant variances to report.

Page 13



4

3.4. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £1,238k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.4.1. Acquisition of Units at Springhead Park: £236k favourable variance – as part of the 
council’s continuing Property Acquisition Programme, the purchase of several industrial 
units at Springhead Park was completed in February 2019.  Due to the timing of this 
acquisition compared to budget-setting arrangements, this was not able to be reflected 
in the 2019/20 original budget and therefore there is now a favourable year-end  
variance of £236k to report.  

3.4.2. Right of access to land at Coldharbour Lane: £207k favourable variance – in April 
2019 the Council received a sum of £207k relating to the granting of access rights over 
the strip of land fronting Lanes Avenue (off Coldharbour Lane), in order to provide 
pedestrian access to the Bovis Homes / Persimmon Homes scheme at that site.

3.4.3. Council-owned Garages: £149k favourable variance – within the council’s Balancing 
the Budget initiatives identified in November 2018, a review of council-owned garages 
and clarification of the legal position has resulted in a reallocation of income and 
expenditure between the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and General Fund. It has 
been determined that where such garages or parking spaces are being used by non-
council tenants, the associated income and expenditure should be appropriated to the 
General Fund, rather than the HRA as has traditionally been the case. The resultant 
effect is a net benefit to the General Fund of £149k in 2019/20 with £180k anticipated in 
future years.

3.4.4. Acquisition of site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend: £56k favourable variance – as 
part of the same strategy described in paragraph 3.4.1., the council acquired in January 
2019 the site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend, which at the time was tenanted by Bon 
Marche. This purchase was also not completed for reflection in the 2019/20 original 
budget, and therefore there is now additional income of £56k to report. 

3.4.5. Although Bon Marche subsequently went into administration in October 2019, the 
administrator found a buyer for the business, and rather than take the property back and 
try to re-let it, the Council negotiated a new lease with the buyer. Whilst the subsequent 
rent is lower (£40k per annum, compared to the £58k Bon Marche were paying after an 
initial rent-free period), the transaction does ensure that the property remains let and an 
income stream is maintained.

3.4.6. Legal Shared Services: £50k favourable variance – as a result of year-end 
underspends in the shared service hosted by Medway Council, largely due to staff 
turnover and vacancies, there is a reduction in the council’s contribution to the shared 
service budget. The result of this is a year-end favourable variance of £50k. 

3.4.7. St Georges’ Shopping Centre: £526k favourable variance – during 2019/20 the 
Council has received rental income from the centre, as well as meeting costs arising 
from the finance lease arrangement and other items relating to non-recoverable service 
charges e.g. in instances of vacant units.  Additionally, a rent guarantee sum has been 
accrued from Reef as part of contractual agreement, and investment income has been 
generated from the initial investment balance received. The net effect of these income 
streams less costs incurred in 2019/20 is £526k. This has been set aside at year-end in 
an earmarked reserve described further within section 3.11 to safeguard against lost 
rental income, void periods and non-recoverable service charges during further phases 
of redevelopment at the centre.

3.4.8. Other Net Variances: £14k favourable variance – the net effect of other variances 
across the Communities Directorate is a favourable variance of £14k. 

Page 14



5

3.5      CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £91k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1 Interest Payable: £246k favourable variance – when setting the budget for 2019/20 in 
February 2019 there was an assumption that the authority would undertake some 
external borrowing during 2019/20 to support elements of the capital programme.  
However, as these schemes have not progressed in the timescales originally envisaged, 
the external borrowing anticipated is now budgeted to be undertaken in 2020/21 instead, 
thus resulting in reduced interest costs in 2019/20.

3.5.1 Housing Benefit Net Subsidy: £116k favourable variance – during 2019/20 the total 
level of recoverable overpayments has been higher originally budgeted. This, alongside 
a reduced level of housing benefit administration expenditure, has resulted in an overall 
favourable variance within the service.

3.5.2 Corporate Inflation Provision: £93k favourable variance – the Council holds a 
central fund for supplies and services inflation within the Corporate Services directorate 
to act as a safeguard against inflationary increases to contract payments and general 
supplies and services costs. In 2019/20, services were largely able to manage 
inflationary increases within existing budgets, resulting in a reduced call on this fund 
compared to the original budget. The impact of this is a year-end underspend of £93k.

3.5.3 Corporate Expenses: £23k adverse variance – following activity to refine budgetary 
arrangements including analysis of historic items held on the balance sheet, £23k has 
been charged back to the revenue budget in 2019/20.

3.5.4 Bank Charges: £37k adverse variance – credit card fees were some £29k higher than 
originally anticipated as there were delays in finalising the new contract with Worldpay, 
as well as fees incurred from an additional 6,800 sales relating to Garden Waste 
invoices.  Other charges relating to the Council’s bank account and Capita Bill Payment 
contract were some £8K higher than forecasted, leading to the overall net variance of 
£37k.

3.5.5 Increased Sundry Debt bad debt provision: £60k adverse variance – following 
analysis of the year-end provision for General Fund sundry debt, an increased provision 
in 2019/20 is required, leading to a £60k adverse variance.

3.5.6 Covid19 Impact – additional bad debt provision: £377k adverse variance – in 
addition to the routine practices of establishing a bad debt provision relating to General 
Fund sundry debt and Housing Benefit overpayments, officers have also been 
assessing the potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on debt recovery.  To 
summarise, it has been identified that more current debts which generally do not attract 
a bad debt provision would be at greater-risk of non-payment than is usually the case. 
Officers have undertaken various aged debt analysis modelling, and thus in the interests 
of budgetary prudence and in recognising these unique circumstances, a further bad 
debt provision of £377k has been set aside.

3.5.7 Other Net Variances: £49k adverse variance – the net effect of other variances across 
the Corporate Services Directorate is an adverse variance of £49k. 

 

Page 15



6

3.6     HOUSING & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE  – £301k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.6.1 Garden Waste Collection Service: £53k favourable variance – the garden waste 
subscription service has continued to expand in 2019/20.  This additional volume, in 
conjunction with a review of the existing charging structure from 1 April 2019, has led to 
additional net income of £53k compared to the original budget.

3.6.2 Controlled Parking Zone Review: £30k favourable variance – the Service Review 
process identified a need to update some aspects of the existing Controlled Parking 
Zones. Implementation of the new arrangements went live in May 2019; as result of 
moving away from five-year permits to a system of annual permit renewal, a favourable 
variance has been realised in 2019/20 of £30k.

3.6.3 Parking equipment: neutral variance – funding of £33k has been transferred from the 
Service Review Reserve in order to finance the purchase of new equipment and signage 
to enable the operation of new parking schemes within the town centre. 

3.6.4 Waste Freighter vehicle parts: £31k adverse variance – there have been on-going 
reliability issues with the refuse vehicles due to their age, which has resulted in higher 
maintenance costs than provided for within the original budget. Rectification of defects 
with these vehicles has required the purchase of replacement parts which has led to an 
adverse variance of £30k.  The replacement of the current fleet of refuse vehicles has 
started with two vehicles on order and due to be delivered in 2020.

3.6.5 Town Centre Improvement Works: £33k adverse variance – as part of the town 
centre review it was agreed that a budget would be provided to trial new equipment and 
update some of the current equipment used within the town centre.  This has led to an 
adverse variance of £33k.

3.6.6 Waste Recycling Support Payment: £90k adverse variance – the waste recycling 
support payment has exceeded budget every year since the agreement with KCC was 
put into place and the income budget has been increased to reflect this. For 2018/19, 
due to gate fees for recycling materials going up, the disposal saving for Kent County 
Council and subsequently Gravesham Borough Council has gone down leading to an 
adverse variance of £45k; this has then been reflected in the 2019/20 forecasted 
payment leading to a further adverse variance of £45k.

3.6.7 Denton and Southfield Shaw Repairs: £93k adverse variance – the day-to-day 
maintenance and up-keep of the sites was accommodated within existing budgets.  The 
additional expenditure on both sites was due to significant major works that needed to 
be carried out, including clearance of excessive fly-tipping and major drainage issues at 
Denton Caravan Site and an extensive electrical upgrade on one area of Southfield 
Shaw.  

3.6.8 Net income deficit within Car Parks: £106k adverse variance – Covid-19 has had a 
detrimental impact on pay and display income; weeks 50 & 51 saw a very sharp fall in 
car park usage and from 24th March the car parks were free of charge.  These factors 
had an impact of approximately £25k.  The usage, (in terms of pay and display tickets 
purchased) across all car parks was down slightly from 2018/19 which has had a 
detrimental impact on income, compared to initial predictions for 2019/20.  

3.6.9 Homelessness: neutral variance – the year-end position for service shows an overall 
balanced budget position, after government funding received by the Council has been 
applied.  In Quarter Four of 2019/20, the Council was approached by 393 households 
requiring assistance to resolve their housing needs.  This resulted in 74 households 

Page 16



7

being housed in temporary accommodation (including legacy cases) at year-end, the 
same number as the end of Quarter Three and a slight reduction on the 80 households 
requiring such assistance at the end of Quarter Two. 

3.6.10 During 2019/20, the number of homeless households in temporary accommodation 
continued to reduce, from a peak of 111 at the end of April 2019 (including 44 
households in nightly paid accommodation, of which 17 placements were outside 
Gravesham), to 74 at the end of March 2020 (including just 7 households in nightly paid 
accommodation, of which 3 placements were outside Gravesham).

3.6.11 Following the coronavirus pandemic and the instruction to get all rough sleepers out of 
shared sleeping sites by 30 March, emergency temporary accommodation for a total of 
57 rough sleepers has been provided. This includes a number of people to whom the 
Council has no duty to accommodate and those with no recourse to public funds who 
are not eligible for any financial assistance towards their housing costs. For 2019/20, 
these costs have been met by the grant-funded Rough Sleeper initiative, although the 
long-term impact will continue be monitored throughout 2020/21. 

3.6.12 Total expenditure on temporary accommodation during 2019/20 was £361k, partly offset 
by £132k Housing Benefit income, and £18k received from households who are 
ineligible for Housing Benefit. The remaining balance of £211k has been met by grant 
funding provided by central government, resulting in an overall neutral reported variance 
for the service.

3.6.13 Other Net Variances: £31k adverse variance – the net effect of other variances across 
the Housing & Operations Directorate is an adverse variance of £31k.

3.7     PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE –  £192k FAVOUARBLE  VARIANCE

3.7.1 Planning Performance Agreements:  £85k favourable variance – during 2019/20, 
funds were received from the Port of Tilbury relating to the planning performance 
assessment (PPA) associated with the “Tilbuy2” project. The project comprised of a 
review of the Port of Tilbury, including the potential re-design of the terminal and 
associated infrastructure of rail and road facilities, revisions to the existing marine 
infrastructure, and wider transport considerations to link the existing road and rail 
network around the surrounding River Thames area. The PPA contributed to 
Gravesham Council officer resources associated with pre-application discussions, 
protocols for the provision of information and responses related to the project, and the 
examination and pre-decisions stages of the Development Consent Order process. 

3.7.2 Planning Consultancy Costs: £51k favourable variance – the consultancy budget is 
typically used to procure specialist agricultural advice on rural planning matters, and 
design advice relating to major applications. It is also utilised for the engagement of 
consultants to assist with the processing of planning applications, particularly when 
additional capacity has been required.  During the course of 2019/20, a range of 
recruitment across the service has taken place, leading to a reduced requirement to 
engage consultants and therefore a year-end underspend has arisen.

3.7.3 Housing Services – Empty Properties: £30k favourable variance – this budget is 
held to cover legal fees to enable the Council to serve various legal notices, issue Empty 
Dwelling Management Orders, cover Land Registry fees or consider the Compulsory 
Purchase of empty properties and any minor works in default. This budget was not 
required during 2019/20 since no enforcement action relating to empty properties that 
attracted legal costs took place. Therefore, there is an underspend for 2019/20 of £30k.

Page 17



8

3.7.4 Local Development Plan: neutral variance – funding from the Planning Policy 
Reserve of £101k has been released in order to support the delivery of the Local Plan 
Partial Review, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies documents as 
well as wider corporate priorities.  Expenditure includes a sustainability appraisal, a 
habitats regulations assessment and other reviews and studies of the local area, as well 
as communications and publicity related expenditure. During the budget-setting process 
for 2020/21 the reserve has been re-profiled to take account of the latest projected 
expenditure patterns over the next 4 years.

3.7.5 Other Net Variances: £26k favourable variance – the net effect of other variances 
across the Planning & Development Directorate is a favourable variance of £26k.

3.8    NON-DIRECTORATE SPECIFIC –  £20k FAVOUARBLE  VARIANCE

3.8.1 Past Service Pension Contributions:  £20k favourable variance – as a result of 
timing differences between the budget-setting process for 2019/20 and the forecast 
charges for the year being notified, there is favourable variance at year-end of £20k.

Page 18



9

3.9 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2018/19 – £185k

3.9.1 The following items from 2018/19 have been approved for carry forward to 2019/20 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Summary of General Fund Revenue 2018/19 year-end carry forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2019/20

Communities Regeneration £980 Maintenance works are required on the town pier access system, this 
budget is required to offset the cost of this work.

Communities Younger Persons Fund £1,810 Unspent budget to be rolled forward to to pay for grant funded projects 
already identified in 2019/20.

Communities Older Persons Fund £2,050 To be rolled forward to pay for various projects which have already been 
identified.  These include a TV for Portreeve Resident's Association and 
Defribrillator's at Meopham Parish Council, Istead Rise Memorial Hall and 
Vigo Village Hall.

Communities Property Services £5,000 The final 2018/19 service charge for St John's House has not yet been 
received.  As the building was empty for a few months this charge may 
exceed the original estimate.  As such this budget carry forward is being 
requested to cover that eventuality as a one off event.

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£7,610 Unspent MOD grant to be rolled forward.  The MOD have agreed that this 
money can be carried forward and used against an appropriate project 
next year.

Communities Woodville Halls £10,000 Equipment for market café.  Spotlites are interested in taking on a unit in 
the market to provide the café there. This approach will give the market a 
much needed offer and ensure there is the provision needed.  Spotlites 
will be able to use staff & stock across both sites making this a cost-
effective second business for them. To do this, there will be a need to 
purchase equipment including fridges, hot warmers, tea/coffee machine.  
In the very unlikely event the offer did not work, the equipment would 
be reused in the main Spotlites kitchen.                                            

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£10,590 To support a range of initiatives for next year – community cohesion, 
tackling hate crime, building footfall in the town etc. This will be linked to 
ongoing work and the Altogether Stronger project that the council has 
just received approval for.

Communities Woodville Halls £22,000 The auditorium floor needs repairing, sanding and varnishing each year. 
However, as this has not been undertaken for a number of years, 
replacement of the floor is now required.                                   

Communities Woodville Halls £23,000 This budget will pay for the introduction of a second till at Spotlites and a 
redesign of the counter to accommodate this. This will enable the team 
to better serve customers, particularly during busy times.                 

Communities Woodville Halls £70,000 The current dimmer rack responsible for the auditorium lighting needs to 
be replaced; however, a survey is required to ascertain whether this is 
the most appropriate route or whether a change to the overall lighting 
installation is more appropriate / cost effective. Ring-fencing the balance 
of savings (£70k) is expected to cover the majority of the cost of this 
work. 

Corporate Services Corporate 
Performance

£1,520 The Corporate Plan as a project operates over a rolling four year basis. In 
years 2 and 3 virtually no monies are committed. However, year 4 
(2018/19) has a sizeable portion spent as we carry out preparatory work 
on the new plan and year 1 (2019/20) will likely see all monies spent.  The 
bulk of the budget will be committed to the various communication and 
promotional aspects of the new Corporate Plan; imagery, printing etc. 

Environment and 
Operations

Horticulture £3,450 Some of the Playground budget was set aside to fund the cost of the 
replacement parts at Woodlands Park Play Area.  The replacement head 
unit was not received by 31/03/19 due to a delay with the delivery. The 
budget now needs to be used to offset this cost in 2019/20.  

Environment and 
Operations

Car Parking £26,660 The underspend achieved in 2018/19 is needed to supply & install CPZ 
Parking Signs in 2019/20.

Total carry-forward requests £184,670

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2018/19

Page 19



10

3.10    INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £138k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.10.1 When setting the investment income budget for the Multi Asset Funds, it was assumed 
that a dividend return of just under 3% would be generated as the investment had only 
been held for approximately nine months.  However, the return was around 3.7%, 
leading to additional income of £83k. 

3.10.2 When setting the investment income budget for Property Funds, whilst the investments 
had been held since 2016, a prudent view was taken that returns would be around 3.2% 
given the uncertain economic conditions surrounding Brexit.  Dividend returns for the 
year were around 4.2%, resulting in additional income of £90k.

3.10.3 Each year the General Fund makes a interest payment to the HRA based on the various 
HRA balances held during the year.  In 2019/20, this payment was £35k more than 
originally budgeted.

3.10.4 Thus, the net overall position for interest and investment income is a combination of the 
additional incomes of £83k and £90k respectively in conjunction with the additional year-
end transfer required to the HRA of £35k. 

3.11 FUNDING STREAMS – £431k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.11.1 Government Grant Funding – Section 31 grants: £74 favourable variance – the 
outturn for Section31 grants received to compensate the Council for various business 
rate reliefs granted has provided a net benefit to the MTFP in 2019/20 of £74k.

3.11.2 Transfers to/(from) reserves: £476k net additional transfer to reserves – this 
comprises:

 NNDR Growth Fund Reserve – membership of the Kent Business Rates Pool has 
generated £169k that has been transferred into the NNDR Growth Fund Reserve. This 
represents a reduction of £50k from what was previously anticipated in the original 
budget for 2019/20.

 St George’s Income Protection Reserve – following on from the favourable variance 
relating to the St George’s Shopping Centre described within the Communities 
Directorate section, an equivalent sum of £526k has been transferred to this earmarked 
reserve. This will ensure that monies are set aside to negate lost rental income, void 
periods and non-recoverable service charges, particularly during the early phase of the 
project with construction and re-enlivening works taking place. The full surplus 
generated of £526k has been transferred to the reserve, therefore resulting in no net 
overall variation to the Council.

3.11.3 Transactions below the line – Minimum Revenue Provision: £30k adverse variance 
– the MRP budget for 2019/20 was based on the assumption that the garages would 
transfer from the HRA to the General Fund as referenced in section 3.4.3.  It was 
subsequently determined that there was no requirement to transfer the garages as 
physical assets between the HRA and General Fund, but that income and expenditure 
was appropriated between the funds, and therefore did not give rise to any adjustment 
on MRP.

3.11.4 Business Rates Income: £215k favourable variance – the outturn for 2019/20 
business rates income takes into account benefits resulting from membership of the 
Kent Business Rates Pool of £98k.  Additionally, the outturn for Section 31 grants 
received to compensate the council for various business rate reliefs granted (within the 

Page 20



11

Government Grant Funding section) has also been updated, giving a further MTFP 
benefit of £74k.

3.11.5 Following the Council’s membership of the Kent Business Rates Pilot scheme in 
2018/19, subsequent year-end reconciliations of data across the region have been 
undertaken to finalise the overall position. The resultant effect is a net further benefit to 
the Council of £107k relating to the Financial Sustainability and Housing Growth Funds.

3.11.6 A further sum of £10k has been received in 2019/20 relating to a one-off distribution 
from the national NNDR levy account surplus. 

3.11.7 Therefore the total variation for this section is a combination of the £98k Kent Pool 
benefit, £107k additional Kent Pilot 2018/19 monies and £10k levy account surplus – an 
overall favourable variance to the MTFP of £215k in 2019/20.

3.12 Working Balances and Reserves

3.12.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 9,287,850 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 611,150 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (742,500)
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2018/19) 1,194,250 
Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2020) including Minimum 
GF Working Balance 10,350,750 
Less: Minimum GF balance (1,250,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (4,000,000)

Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2020) 5,100,750 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 21



12

3.12.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
final movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Actual Actual Closing
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2019 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 420 (101) 50 369 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,377 (157) 100 1,320 

 Spend to Save Reserve 157 3 160 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,326 (33) 356 1,649 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 310 (60) 250 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 99 12 111 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) 
Reserve 

50 (25) 25 
Elections Reserve 172 (120) 22 74 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 666 (166) 500 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 305 (40) 75 340 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 414 (417) 105 102 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 780 222 1,002 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 478 (60) 170 588 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 150 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 170 57 227 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 422 526 948 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 424 59 483 
 Service Review Reserve 247 (6) 241 
 Playgrounds Reserve 167 (50) 117 
Decriminalisation Reserve 85 100 185 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 9,419 (1,235) 1,857 10,041 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,819 (166) 212 1,865 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 11,238 (1,401) 2,069 11,906 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.12.3 Significant or new approved use of reserves, other than those already referred to in 
section 3.11 or within individual directorates include:

3.12.4 Asset Enhancement Reserve – £95k see “Essential Repairs to Buildings” paragraph in 
section 4.1 within the Capital Programme.

3.12.5 Corporate Priorities Reserve – £16k CCTV (Communities), £8k Corporate Debt Pilot 
System (Corporate Services), £7k Safer Place Officers’ equipment (Communities), £26k 
LATCO Development Costs (Capital Programme).

3.12.6 NNDR Equalisation Reserve – Transfer of £166k to meet NNDR Collection Fund deficit 
from 2018/19.

3.12.7 Elections Reserve – £120k Borough Council elections in May 2019 (Communities).

3.12.8 DSO Vehicle Capital - £417k Operational Services vehicles – see “Purchase of 
Vehicles (DSO Fleet) paragraph in section 4.1 within the Capital Programme. 

3.12.9 Playgrounds Reserve – £50k playground replacement works - see “Replacement 
Playground Programme” paragraph in section 4.1 within the Capital Programme.

Page 22



13

3.13     Medium Term Financial Planning

3.13.1 The General Fund has ended the 2019/20 financial year in healthy position, principally 
due to the Council pressing ahead with its proactive Bridging the Gap programme of 
activity to respond to the unrelenting financial challenges facing local government. This 
is largely due to some significant new income streams resulting from the purchases 
made under the Property Acquisition Programme as well as strong return within interest 
and investment income.

3.13.2 The Council continues to be a member of the Kent Business Rates Pool, and in 2019/20 
this generated a direct benefit of £98k as set out within section 3.11.

3.13.3 The financial environment within which the Council operates will remain challenging and 
with yet more uncertainty in 2020/21.  It was confirmed in December 2019 that following 
the single-year funding arrangement for 2020/21, a more comprehensive review of Local 
Government Finance, pending the outcomes of the Fair Funding Review would take 
place during 2020/21. This has since been postponed until after April 2021 given the 
current Covid-19 pandemic.

3.13.4 The Covid-19 pandemic is also likely to affect the Council’s financial outlook in 2020/21.  
In terms of year-end accounting and reporting for 2019/20, the major impact of Covid-19 
is experienced within the increased debt impairment provisions set aside, as described 
within the Corporate Services directorate. 

3.13.5 During 2020/21 it is likely that the Council will see significant reductions of income, for 
example in the following areas:

 Rental income payments from tenants within commercial and investment properties 
 Fees charges – for example car parking income and receipts at The Woodville
 Investment income from Property and Multi-Asset Funds
 Council Tax and Business Rates

3.13.6 As of writing, the Council has received around £1.1m funding from Central Government 
in order to assist with the response to the pandemic. Although assisting with direct 
expenditure, the local government sector continues to lobby Central Government for 
further support to assist with the projected income losses described above.

Page 23



14

4.       GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1       The following table details the final outturn for the General Fund Capital Programme and  
      the revised original budget for 2019/20, taking into consideration adjustments for     

            carried forward items approved by the Section 151 Officer and Management team, and 
            subject to audit.

Scheme

2019/20 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2019/20 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2019/20 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2019/20 Final 
Outturn                

£
Variance               

£

C/Fwd and 
Adj's to 
2020/21            

£

2020/21 
Approved 

budget         
£

2020/21 
Original 
Budget 

including 
C/Fwd                 

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 465,400 389,390 854,790 430,420 (424,370) 424,370 474,500 898,870
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 21,580 0 21,580 6,750 (14,830) 14,830 0 14,830
Parrock St Car Park - resurfacing 0 167,500 167,500 155,760 (11,740) 11,740 0 11,740
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 535,000 52,870 587,870 517,040 (70,830) 70,830 205,000 275,830
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 50,000 0 (50,000) 50,000 0 50,000
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000) 100,000 0 100,000
Waste & Horticulture back office system 192,950 0 192,950 84,260 (108,690) 108,690 0 108,690
Replacement Playground Programme 185,300 0 185,300 135,430 (49,870) 49,870 55,000 104,870
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 40,000 (40,000) 0 0 0 0 40,000 40,000
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 (1,400,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Property Acquisition Programme 2,328,600 (2,328,600) 0 0 0 0 3,286,980 3,286,980
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 (2,566,810) 1,092,000 0 (1,092,000) 1,092,000 2,566,810 3,658,810
Land at Dering Way 4,735,000 (4,500,000) 235,000 32,090 (202,910) 202,910 4,500,000 4,702,910
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 5,461,640 (3,761,640) 1,700,000 1,816,610 116,610 0 130,000 130,000
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 80,000 80,000 50,560 (29,440) 29,440 0 29,440
Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches 50,000 0 50,000 50,000 0 0 0 0
Heritage Assets 328,500 (278,500) 50,000 16,420 (33,580) 33,580 355,000 388,580
Gym Equipment  Leisure Centres 0 181,000 (181,000) 181,000 205,000 386,000
Back up Generator 75,000 0 75,000 0 (75,000) 75,000 0 75,000
Envelope Filling Equipment 20,000 0 20,000 19,660 (340) 0 0
Parking Machines 251,200 (251,200) 0 0 0 251,200 251,200
LATCO development costs 0 0 50,000 11,000 (39,000) 24,110 0 24,110
LATCO working capital provision 0 0 500,000 (500,000) 500,000 0 500,000
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages 0 2,000,000 2,000,000 (2,000,000) 2,000,000 0 2,000,000
Town Centre Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0 67,590 67,590
Parking Software 0 0 0 0 0 0 74,750 74,750
Purchase of Freighters 0 0 0 0 0 0 400,000 400,000
Enforcement of Private Housing 
Standards 0 0 0 0 0 0 55,000 55,000

Brookvale Office Accommodation 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,400,000 1,400,000
IT Infrastructure Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 330,000 330,000

19,898,980 (12,436,990) 8,192,990 3,326,000 (4,866,990) 4,968,370 14,396,830 19,365,200

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2019//20

 Essential Repairs to Buildings 

The following work was completed in 2019/20:
- Resurfacing of the access way to Brookvale Depot;
- The replacement of water heating plant to Kings Farm changing rooms;
- Annual window servicing and follow-up repairs to windows at the Civic Centre
- LED lighting on the ground and first floors of the Civic Centre have been upgraded;
- Replacement of dimmer racks and rewiring of lighting circuits to The Woodville
- Replacement of the main roof at Cascades Leisure Centre (insurance works) is 

nearing completion

A number of projects will now be completed in 2020/21:
- Rebuilding of boundary wall at St Peter & St Paul’s Church this has been delayed to 

the new financial year due to Covid-19 restrictions;
- Initial on site investigations relating to the conservation of the Larkin Memorial
- Installation of LED Lighting for the remaining floors of the Civic Centre
- Work to the 1st floor flat toilet at the Civic Centre
- Replacement of roof coverings to café and pool changing rooms to Cascades

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – the new cemetery management software has 
now been implemented.

Page 24



15

 Parrock Street Car park resurfacing – this initiative was completed during the third 
quarter of 2019/20 and some additional works have also now been undertaken.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – all the fleet vehicles ordered for 2019/20 have 
been delivered and the fleet renewal plan is now being updated ready for 2020/21.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – enforcement of a Bus Gate with Automatic Number Plate 
Recognition (ANPR) cameras as opposed to a physical 'gate'/barrier is the preferred 
option for replacement of the King Street gate.  The capital budget reflects the 
associated costs for camera enforcement.  A business case was submitted to KCC 
Highways in 2019 and this approach is supported by the Joint Transportation Board.  A 
decision is now awaited from KCC to enable this project to proceed.

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – a review is currently taking place considering 
blocks of flats to determine the number of bins required before any orders are placed.  A 
food waste trial is currently being undertaken at Pickwick House to understand the 
feasibility of food waste collections from blocks of flats.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the first stage implementing information 
systems for bin deliveries, domestic, and garden waste has been completed. The 
second stage of implementation, focusing on trade waste, is underway with an expected 
operational date of July 2020.

 Replacement Playground Programme – the equipment has been renewed at Central 
Avenue, Durndale Lane and Waterton Avenue play sites. A 20 year programme for play 
site renewals has been agreed from 2020/21 onwards, and has been incorporated into 
the budget-setting process.

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – a way forward has now been agreed on the 
replacement of the server room air conditioning unit and Property Services are obtaining 
quotes for the work, on behalf of IT Services.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – this has been temporarily delayed, and is now 
reflected within the Capital Programme for 2020/21 instead of 2019/20. This is due to 
some wider works to the Depot being implemented in order to facilitate launching the 
Vehicle Servicing Local Authority Trading Company initiative with effect from 1 April 
2020.  The delay also allows for additional office accommodation within Brookvale Depot 
to be utilised in the meantime whilst the necessary reconfigurations are made to the 
depot yard.  

 Property Acquisition Programme – the council continues to be pro-active in identifying 
suitable acquisition opportunities to add to its commercial property portfolio, albeit this 
activity is currently on hold given the pandemic situation.  

 Land Acquisition Programme – agreement was reached in early January to secure a 
parcel of land to the East of Lion Business Park, Gravesend, at a projected cost of 
around £1.1m. Additionally, the council continues to maintain an overview of strategic 
land sites in the borough so that, as sites come to the market, their acquisition can be 
considered as a means of delivering development and revenue generating opportunities 
for the council and the wider borough in the future.

 Land at Dering Way – the scheme is currently on hold pending the outcome of a wider 
master planning exercise for the various landholdings under the ownership of the council 
in the Denton area, and thus been re-profiled within the Capital Programme.  This 
master planning exercise will seek to consider complementary uses of the adjacent land 

Page 25



16

holdings to ensure that development in that area maximises benefits to the council and 
to the wider community, taking advantage of opportunities to improve access to and 
provision of services, green space and high quality housing.

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) – the works to re-enliven the mall areas of the 
St George’s Centre have now been completed.  Further works at the site have been re-
profiled within the Capital Programme, in line with the latest projected pattern of 
development.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – works started on the major refurbishment of the 
existing flumes in December during a planned shutdown period at Cascades. The 
majority of works internally have now been completed, which included some additional 
internal structural steel repairs. The external works to the flume structures will now take 
place later in the Spring time, although this will not require a shutdown of the pool hall to 
complete. Final works costs are now estimated to be £80k, funded from a combination 
of S106 monies and existing council budgets.

 Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches – the Gravesend Rugby Football Club site was 
highlighted within the Gravesham 2016 Playing Pitch Strategy as strategically important 
to the local area but in need of refurbishment.  Gravesham Sports Trust were successful 
in raising the additional external funding required, and works to complete replacement 
carpet works on site have now been completed. 

 Heritage Assets – the capital programme has been adjusted to reflect expenditure in 
2019/20 and the programme of expenditure for future years.  2019/20 expenditure 
relates to repairs at New Tavern Fort; progressing works to the riverwall at St Andrew’s 
Arts Centre (taking place in 2020/21); preparation of a conservation management plan 
and associated surveys to inform future restoration works within Gravesend Cemetery; 
and, surveys to progress repairs to Gravesend Blockhouse and the Larkin Monument, 
Higham.  Alongside the Council’s own capital programme, plans are underway to submit 
applications for funding from the National Lottery Heritage Fund.  Progress will be 
subject to Covid-19 restrictions where applicable.

 Back-up Generator – tender documents to procure a back-up generator have been 
prepared.  The project manager is currently making arrangements for the tender to be 
issued.

 Envelope Filling Equipment – a new envelope filling machine was installed following a 
short procurement exercise. The new machine has provided more advanced capabilities 
and is more reliable than the previous machine.

 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – at Full Council on 17 December 2019, Members gave 
approval for the addition of a £2m loan within the 2019/20 Capital Programme for the 
purpose of providing long term funding to the Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity 
Housing Association. There was no request for funding received prior to the end of the 
financial year and this provision is now reflected within the Capital Programme for 
2020/21.

Page 26



17

5 Capital Resources

5.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future    

General Fund Capital Resources

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2019/20                                                          

£       

Final Balance 
31/03/2020           

£
Capital Receipts (988,020) (6,670) 398,410 (596,280)
S106 Capital Contributions (531,050) (50,000) 50,000 (531,050)
Capital Grants unapplied (330,290) 0 183,100 (147,190)
Total Capital Resources (1,849,360) (56,670) 631,510 (1,274,520)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2019/20

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2019/20              

£

Final Balance 
31/03/2020              

£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 (179,160) 0 176,190 (2,970)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Local Enterprise Partnership Funding (6,910) 0 6,910 0
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (330,290) 0 183,100 (147,190)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2019/20

Page 27



5.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These  
      contributions are treated as specific grants as they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          

£
HRA               

£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2019/20                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0 0 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.
Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,460) (259,460)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Total S106 Contributions (531,050) 0 (81,000) (612,050)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2019/20

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

P
age 28



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this provisional outturn report is to identify performance against the 
original budget set for the 2019/20 financial year and illustrate how this affects the 
Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the council at the end of the 
financial year (subject to audit).

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 29

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


20

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 30



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 29 June 2020 / 21 July 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report  
2019/20

Purpose and summary of report:
To present:

 The 2019/20 provisional Housing Revenue Account Revenue Outturn and movements 
in the Housing Revenue Account working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2019/20 provisional Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn

To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact the HRA 
Business Plan.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report provides details of the 
provisional budget outturn for the 2019/20 financial year and complements the 2019/20 
Financial Statements for the authority which will subsequently be considered by the 
Finance & Audit Committee. 

1.2. During 2019/20 the Council continued to operate robust budgetary control actions to 
ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s 
finances.  In addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget 
monitoring reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

Page 31 Agenda Item 6



2

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 32



3

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of the financial year, income and expenditure was balanced, with a net total 
positive variance of £462k against the original budget.  In the 2019/20 original budget, a 
contribution of £337k was needed from the HRA General Reserve to balance the budget 
and a further £3.173m was being taken from the HRA General Reserve to support the 
HRA capital programme.  However despite an additional £21k being taken from the HRA 
General Reserve to finance the capital programme, as a result of the outturn position, no 
monies were needed from the General Reserve to support the revenue position, and a 
contribution of £146k to the HRA General Reserve is instead being made.

2.2. The position was generated in the main due to increased costs set against Supervision 
and Management, and Capital Financing which was offset by savings against the 
Repairs and Maintenance budget and additional rental income.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at the end of the year remained at £3.0m, the minimum 
level of Working Balances for the HRA.  

2.4. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform. 

Housing Capital

2.5. The final outturn of the Housing Capital Programme for the year was £15.8m, against 
budgeted expenditure of £18.6m.  Capital budgets totalling £1.187m have been carried 
forward to 2020/21 (beyond those approved by Full Council in February), relating to the 
maintenance of the Council’s housing stock, the New Build programme and the 
provision of Disabled Facilities Grants.

Page 33



4

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2019/20

3.1.1. The table below sets out the provisional year-end position against the original budget for 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) based on variances during 2019/20.

3.1.2. At 31 March 2020 there was a net total positive variance of £462k against the original 
budget.

Description
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Outturn   
2019/20 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,357,200 5,952,020 594,820
Repairs and Maintenance 7,618,140 7,394,930 (223,210)
Depreciation 6,911,810 6,953,620 41,810
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 667,490 640,450 (27,040)
Capital Finance 10,189,750 10,426,700 236,950
Sub Total Expenditure 30,744,390 31,367,720 623,330
Rents of Dwellings (25,031,400) (25,665,980) (634,580)
Other Rental Income (29,300) (19,750) 9,550
Service Charges (1,399,800) (1,819,640) (419,840)
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (147,130) (7,130)
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,480) (517,240) 4,240
Other Income (112,450) (150,530) (38,080)
Sub Total Income (27,234,430) (28,320,270) (1,085,840)
Contributions to/(from) reserves (3,509,960) (3,047,450) 462,510
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2019/20

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £594K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £239k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2019/20 incorporated a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It was anticipated that 
this would occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover 
within day-to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design 
of services.  The year end position is an underspend of £339k therefore giving rise to a 
net favourable variance of £239k.  Whilst the majority of this underspend is attributable 
to the Supervision and Management budget line, there is an element of the savings that 
is incorporated in the Repairs and Maintenance budget lines.

3.2.2. Warden Salary Recharges: £432k adverse variance – The re-allocation of Warden’s 
Salaries are no longer required since the introduction of the Intensive Housing 
Management.  The adverse variance is attributable to an adjustment made to correct the 
corresponding budget entry from the 2019/20 budget.

3.2.3. Accounting Adjustments: £187k adverse variance – There has been a revaluation of 
employee benefits undertaken (as per IAS19) which has resulted in an increased 
pension contribution not budgeted for in 2019/20.  However, the opposite side of this 
adjustments is reported as an underspend within the Capital Finance budget line.  As a 
result there is no overall negative impact on the HRA of this adverse variance.

Page 34



5

3.2.4. Covid -19: £50k adverse variance – The Covid-19 pandemic has increased the 
probability of loss of income in respect of housing and sundry debt, and as a result an 
additional debt impairment provision has been made to offset any potential loss directly 
associated with the pandemic.

3.2.5. Community Wardens: £26k adverse variance – Due to anti-social behaviour it was 
deemed necessary to have increased security patrols at The Hive, Gravesham Court 
and Homemead.  This resulted in additional spend against the original budget set for 
2019/20.

3.2.6. Rental Income Analytical Software: £37k adverse variance – The housing income 
team purchased rental income analytical software at a cost of £37k.  Whilst this has 
created an adverse variance as there was no provision for the expenditure in the original 
budget, the funding for the software was carried forward from the 2018/19 underspend.

3.2.7. Consultants Fees: £29k adverse variance – The Housing Department undertook an 
independent strategic review of the services which are provided in 2019/20 which has 
resulted in an adverse variance against the original budget.

3.2.8. Holding Hands Scheme: £17k adverse variance – The increased incentive payment 
scheme to encourage eligible tenants to downsize their property has been more 
successful than anticipated.  This has resulted in an adverse variance of £17k in 
2019/20 but the outcome has had a positive effect on the housing stock, releasing much 
needed larger properties.

3.2.9. Council Tax: £22k adverse variance – The Housing Revenue Account is responsible 
for making payment of Council Tax on empty properties.  The turnover of vacant 
properties has been higher than anticipated and has resulted in the adverse variance.   

3.2.10. Other Minor Variances: £33k adverse variance – A number of minor variances were 
recorded within Supervision and Management; the net effect of these variances was an 
overspend of £33k.

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE – £223K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Repairs & Maintenance: £223k favourable variance – As reported through 2019/20, 
the Responsive Repairs Team continue to deliver efficiencies and savings in its 
operations whilst providing an equitable service that meets the Council’s objectives as a 
landlord as well as managing tenants’ expectations.  Additional software has been 
purchased to compliment the IT system that was introduced in 2018/19 to support the 
evolution of the service.  It has created further opportunities to work in smarter ways to 
deliver efficiencies and savings, underpinned and reinforced by the policies that ensure 
that only necessary work is carried out and that any works above and beyond the 
responsibility of the Council are paid for by the tenant.

3.4. DEPRECIATION - £41K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1. Depreciation: £41k adverse variance – the depreciation budget for 2019/20 was 
based on the asset valuation as at December 2018.  However the final depreciation 
charge for 2019/20 was based on the higher HRA asset value as at 1 April 2019 and 
therefore resulted in a increased charge.  The depreciation charge is recycled through 
the Major Repairs Reserve and used as a funding source for future capital works and 
therefore there is a corresponding favourable variance within the Capital Financing 
budget line.

Page 35



6

3.4.2. INTENSIVE MANAGEMENT FUND - £27K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.4.3. Call Centre Costs: £25k favourable variance – the favourable variance is due to a 
duplication of budget for the provision of an out of hours contact centre for supported 
housing residents.  The duplication of this budget will be addressed in the 2021/22 
budget setting process.

3.4.4. Other Minor Variances: £2k favourable variance – A number of minor variances were 
recorded within the Intensive Management Fund; the net effect of these variances was 
an underspend of £2k.

3.5. CAPITAL FINANCING – £236K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1. Interest: £152k adverse variance – the original budget for 2019/20, prepared in 
December 2018, included a provision for debt interest charges, based on the 
continuance of a single loans pool.  However, as reported as part of the 2018/19 outturn, 
the authority’s debt portfolio was switched from a single loans pool to a two loans pool in 
order to apportion debt charges fair and equitably between the General Fund and HRA.  
Therefore, the debt charges resulting from the HRA self financing loans resulted in an 
additional cost of £152k.

3.5.2. Revenue Contribution to Capital: £312k adverse variance – In the 2019/20 original 
budget there was an assumption that £3.173m from the HRA general reserve would be 
used to finance the capital programme.  The capital financing for the HRA programme 
was reviewed as part of the year-end processes and as a result a further £21k was used 
from the reserve.  In addition, service charge contributions towards capital totalling 
£277k was used to finance the 2019/20 capital programme along with a £14k 
contribution from the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation towards works at Wallis Park.  
These three variances have resulted in an overall adverse variance of £312k.

3.5.3. Accounting Adjustment: £187k favourable variance – the technical year end 
accounting adjustments referred to in Para 3.2.3.has a favourable variance on the 
Capital Financial budget line of £186k.  As a result there is no overall positive impact on 
the HRA of this favourable variance.

3.5.4. Depreciation: £41k favourable variance - the final depreciation charge for 2019/20 
was based on the higher HRA asset value as at 1 April 2019 and therefore resulted in a 
increased charge as outlined in 3.4.1.

3.6. RENTS ON DWELLINGS - £634K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.6.1. Rents on Dwellings - £272k favourable variance – the final position was influenced by 
an increase in the number of affordable rented properties as a result of new properties 
built or purchased under the New Build Programme.

3.6.2. Debt Impairment Provision: £362k favourable variance - due to the roll out of 
Universal Credits, the provision for bad debt was budgeted to reflect the potential impact 
of increased rent arrears due to benefits being paid directly to tenants.  Whilst the level 
of arrears has increased, (based on the debt outstanding as at 31 March 2020) there 
was a shift in the debt criteria from long to short term.  Therefore, there was no 
requirement to increase the debt impairment provision in 2019/20 resulting in a 
favourable variance of £362k.

Page 36



7

3.6.3. OTHER RENTAL INCOME - £9K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.6.4. Miscellaneous Rents - £12k adverse variance – Miscellaneous rental income has 
been reallocated to Other Income in order to comply with financial reporting.  The 
adverse variance has been offset with the favourable variance on Other Income. 

3.6.5. Other Minor Variances: £3k favourable variance – A number of minor variances were 
recorded within Other Rental Income; the net effect of these variances was an 
underspend of £3k.

3.7. SERVICE CHARGES - £419K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.7.1. Service Charges - £142k – favourable variance – the favourable variance at year-end 
resulted from the net collection of service charge contributions from both HRA and 
leasehold tenants.

3.7.2. Leaseholder Service Charge (Contribution to Capital): £277k favourable variance – 
income from the leaseholder contribution to capital works was not budgeted for in 
2019/20 and has resulted in a positive favourable variance, which has been used to 
finance part of the capital programme.  This figure is the remaining variance once 
eligible leaseholder refunds have been taken into consideration.  Contributions to capital 
works are refundable if the works have not commenced prior to the leaseholder selling 
their property.

3.8. NON-DWELLING INCOME - £7K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.8.1. Garage Income: £53k adverse variance – The adverse variance was a result of the 
delay in the consultation with tenants for the implementation of an increased charge to 
garage rental. 

3.8.2. Commercial and Other Rental Income: £59k favourable variance - the favourable 
variance is mainly due to the increased rental income received for the hire of space for 
telecommunication masts on HRA land and buildings.  

3.8.3. Minor Variances: £1k favourable variance – a number of minor variances were 
recorded within Non-Dwelling Income; the net effect of these variances was a favourable 
outcome of £1k.

3.9. INTENSIVE MANAGEMENT  INCOME  - £4K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.9.1. Minor Variances: £4k – adverse variance – a number of minor variances were 
recorded within the Intensive Management Income; the net effect of these variances was 
income being underachieved by £4k.

3.10. OTHER INCOME - £38K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.10.1. Cost Recovered: £41k – favourable variance – the final position was influenced due 
to the recovery of the Court Costs which does not form part of the original budget and 
the reallocation of other rental income.

3.10.2.  Variances: £3k – adverse variance – a number of minor variances were recorded 
within Other Income; the net effect of these variances was £3k.

Page 37



8

3.11. Working Balances and Reserves

3.11.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 
balances:

Working Balances £

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 3,000,000
Outturn Position 2019/20 (3,047,450)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2020) before 
transfers to/from HRA General Reserve (47,450)

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 3,047,450
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 31 March 2020) 3,000,000

Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.11.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year:

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 
£'000

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income) 
£'000

Forecast Use 
of Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
£'000

Forecast 
Balance 

31/03/2020 
£'000

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (6,085,210) (146,390) 3,193,850 (3,037,750)

Total (6,085,210) (146,390) 3,193,850 (3,037,750)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

Page 38



9

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The following table details the final outturn for the Housing Capital Programme and the 
revised original budget for 2019/0, taking into consideration adjustments for the carried 
forward items approved by the Section 151 Officer and Management Team, and subject 
to audit.

Ref No: Scheme

2019-20 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/fwd

2019-20 
Final 

Outturn
Variance

Estimated 
C/Fwd 

approved at 
Council for 

2020-21

C/fwd to 
2020-21

2020-21 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/fwd

A Replacement Programmes 4,920,550 4,439,030 (481,520) 0 116,800 4,122,450
B Improvement Programmes 2,069,290 1,931,460 (137,830) 0 0 1,702,350
C Health & Safety Works 1,773,980 1,937,520 163,540 0 0 1,305,310
D Major Void Works 0 0 0 0 0 200,000
E New Build & Acquisitions 7,662,300 6,837,440 (824,860) 0 824,860 12,399,860
F Housing Computer Systems 600,000 0 (600,000) 600,000 0 600,000
G Replacement Play Equipment 80,000 14,290 (65,710) 0 0 103,750
H Bin Housing 0 0 0 0 0 13,190
I CCTV 0 0 0 0 0 37,060
J Fire Doors 0 0 0 0 0 175,000

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 17,106,120 15,159,740 (1,946,380) 600,000 941,660 20,658,970
K Disabled Facilities Grant 1,526,400 651,220 (875,180) 0 875,190 1,707,990

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 18,632,520 15,810,960 (2,821,560) 600,000 1,816,850 22,366,960

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2019/20

4.2. The total capital budget for 2019/20 was £18,632,520 of which £17,106,120 relates to 
HRA capital schemes and £1,526,400 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  These 
budgets included £1,216,890 and £693,600, respectively that are carried forward from 
2018/19.

4.3. The focus of the 2019/20 HRA capital programme was to maintain  a minimum decent 
homes standard for the Council’s housing stock, with £8,763,820 earmarked for this 
purpose across the Replacement, Improvement and Health & Safety Works 
Programmes.  After taking into account the proposed carried forward amounts across 
these three programmes there are savings of £338k at the end of the financial year.  
Reduced replacement costs on kitchens and bathrooms have contributed toward these 
savings.

4.4. The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with £7,662,300 
allocated for this purpose.

4.5. The works that were undertaken/completed in 2019/20 are detailed below:

4.5.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 210 kitchen replacements;

 127 bathroom replacements;

 64 properties had new window and door replacements.  A further 52 properties 
and communal areas at Carl Ekman is 95% completed but have been delayed 
due to Covid-19.  Window to communal areas at The Hive is now complete;

 1669 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, 
minor works and upgrades to consumer units;

 50 blocks has had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works completed;

Page 39



10

 7 residential blocks had the roofing completely replaced;

 27 domestic properties have had roof renewals.

4.5.2. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 347 properties had new central heating systems installed;

 21 properties had new storage heating installed;

 1468 properties have had CO (carbon monoxide) detectors installed;

 66 level access showers/wet rooms/over bath showers installed;

 39 stair-lifts installed;

 11 adaptations completed (kitchens, wheelchair accessibility);

 16 properties have had modernisation works carried out;

 A major refurbishment project at Park Place comprising of 6 blocks has been 
completed.  This included the renewal of flat roofs, upgrades to the stairways, 
handrails, balustrades and new/re-surfacing to walkways.

4.5.3. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 3 passenger lifts situated in Wallis Park have had major modernisation works 
carried out;

 The retrofitting of a Fire Sprinkler system at Homemead and Gravesham Court 
has been completed and commissioned;

 Works to upgrade access control equipment completed at 19 sites;

 Upgrades to warden control systems completed at 4 sites;

 Upgrades to site access (pedestrian/vehicle gates) completed at 6 sites;

 Update of the communal area lighting to LED completed at Park Place and Carl 
Ekman;

 Upgrade of meter cupboard doors to fire rated doors in communal areas at The 
Hive, Gravesham Court, and Homemead completed;

 Asbestos Management surveys completed for communal areas at various sites.

4.6. New Build (Ref D)

4.6.1. The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of additional 
social housing.  The following is the reported position at year end:

 The development of St Hilda’s Way, now known as Pankhurst Place, was 
completed and hand over took place on 12 February 2020 and is providing an 
additional 17 units consisting of 10 x 1 and 2 bed apartments which includes a 1 

Page 40



11

x 2 bed wheelchair compliant home, 4 x 2 bed maisonettes and 3 x 2 bed 
houses;

 Construction continues on the former Whitehill Tenants Associations Club site 
where Westridge Construction Limited will deliver 24 x 1 and 2 bed apartments 
and 8 x 3 bed houses.  Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the contractor anticipates 
a slowdown of works due to supply chain issues.  This will have an impact on the 
completion date and a revised programme is expected to indicate that completion 
will be early 2021.  The site is being overseen by the Considerate Constructors 
Scheme (CCS) who have reported safety precautions are in place with regard to 
social distancing and additional PPE has been made available where necessary

 Following a mini tender via the South East Consortium (SEC) Framework, 
Westridge Construction have been appointed as the main contractor for the 
demolition and development of the Valley Drive site.  The site will deliver 32 x 1 
bed apartments for over 55’s and 16 x 1, 2 and 3 bed general needs apartments 
including 1 x 3 bed wheelchair compliant home.  Westridge are in possession of 
the site and are awaiting disconnection of the gas and electrical services to the 
current units.  Pre-demolition works are due to commence in April to remove any 
hazardous materials and non-structural elements.  The scheme was a finalist in 
‘Best Older Persons Development – under 50 homes’ at the Inside Housing 
National Awards in November 2019;

 Following a mini competitive tender, Westridge Construction were successfully 
appointed to deliver the scheme at St Patrick’s Gardens for 23 x 1 and 2 bed 
apartments.  Contracts are currently being drafted and once signed, Westridge 
are expected to take possession of the site late May/early June 2020;

 Planning permission was approved on 5th February 2020 for 7 x 1 bed bungalows 
at Constable Road/Rembrandt Drive.  The tender documents and employers 
requirements have been submitted to the SEC with a tender submission date of 
3rd July 2020;

 A planning submission for 1 x 1 bed bungalow at Rembrandt Drive was 
presented and rejected by the Planning committee on 5th February 2020.

4.6.2. Despite the current impact from the Covid-19 pandemic, the council remains determined 
to deliver on its agenda of increasing the housing supply and continues to work with it’s 
stakeholders in the identification, design, and construction of good quality affordable 
homes.

4.6.3. The Housing Development Team are currently working on approximately 20 sites that 
are at various stages of the planning, design and build process from initial conception to 
works on site.

4.6.4. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2019, the balance on the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve fund stood at £438,550.  The proposal is to use the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme.

4.6.5. Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

Page 41



12

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £
2012-15 c/f 3,330,320 7,770,750 11,101,070 51,278,050 31-Mar-17
2015-16
Q1 124,270 289,960 414,230 11,515,300 30-Jun-18
Q2 233,510 544,870 778,380 12,293,680 30-Sep-18
Q3 589,670 1,375,910 1,965,580 14,259,260 31-Dec-18
Q4 650,580 1,518,010 2,168,590 16,427,860 31-Mar-19
2016-17
Q1 697,650 1,627,850 2,325,500 18,753,360 30-Jun-19
Q2 205,200 478,790 683,990 19,437,350 30-Sep-19
Q3 541,710 1,263,990 1,805,700 21,243,060 31-Dec-19
Q4 532,670 1,242,890 1,775,560 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-22
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-22
Q2 1,382,090 3,224,870 4,606,960 40,932,920 30-Sep-22
Q3 544,030 1,269,410 1,813,440 42,746,360 31-Dec-22
Q4 559,730 1,306,040 1,865,770 44,612,130 31-Mar-23

13,383,630 31,228,500 44,612,130

Table 5: New Build

4.7. Housing Computer System (Ref E)

4.7.1. Following extensive due diligence and market testing a new supplier for a housing 
system has been identified.  Officers are working with colleagues in both the Legal and 
the Information Technology department to complete the procurement process using the 
G Cloud 11 Framework by way of a direct award.  It is anticipated that procurement will 
be completed in the coming months with an expected implementation project start date 
of mid-June 2020.

4.8. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.8.1. A 20 year replacement plan to upgrade the sites has been agreed by Management 
Team.  This project has been included within the Housing Asset Business Plan and is 
due to commence in 2020/21.  Works at Wallis Park, carried out in 2019/20,  were 
funded by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation and therefore the full years budget 
allocation will be carried forward into 2020/21.

Page 42



13

4.9. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I)

4.9.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council, via the Better Care Fund, in 2019/20 was 
£832,800.  The total funding available is £1,526,430 which includes carry forward from 
2018/19 of £693,630.

4.9.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care.   In Quarter Four of 
2019/20 a total of 89 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is as follows:

 23 grant cases were approved

 21 households had works completed

 3 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 42 grant cases are awaiting approval

4.9.3. The Council distributed £185,400 to private homeowners within the borough who qualify 
for Disabled Facility Grant assistance and additional grants totalling £434,290 have been 
approved in principal.

4.9.4. A total of 41 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 
which enables people to gain access to funding which otherwise would not have been 
available.  It has assisted 4 people to have better managed hospital discharges and a 
further 37 people have been discharged from hospital into a safer home environment.  In 
Quarter Four there was a significant increase in the number of people being discharged 
from hospital, compared to previous periods, as hospitals were facilitating quicker 
discharges to manage the pressures on the NHS due to the emerging COVID-19 
pandemic.

4.10. Capital Resources

4.10.1. The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 (£)

Income 
2019/20 (£)

Use of Funding 
2019/20 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,318,810) (261,170) 419,970 (1,160,010)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (68,900) (17,280) 0 (86,180)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (1,402,480) (6,715,650) 8,031,960 (86,170)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (652,030) (197,360) 0 (849,390)
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (5,544,950) (2,869,320) 1,970,830 (6,443,440)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve (438,550) (814,250) 1,252,800 0
Disabled Facility Grants (693,640) (832,800) 651,220 (875,220)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
Total (14,458,360) (11,707,830) 12,326,780 (13,839,410)

Table 6: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2019/20

Page 43



14

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 31st March 
against the original budget set for the 2019/20 financial year, and illustrate how this 
affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 44

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


15

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 21 July 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Treasury Management Annual Review 2019-20

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report on treasury management acitivity during 2019-20 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) 
revised code on Treasury Management.

Recommendations:
1. The Finance and Audit Committee recommends to Full Council that the Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement 2020/21 is updated to reflect a revised sovereignty 
rating for the UK as detailed in Section 9 of this report.

2. The Finance and Audit Committee note the contents of this report.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 
2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the 
actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2019-20.  This report meets the 
requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the 
Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code).

1.2 In accordance with reporting requirements for each financial year, Full Council 
received the following reports for 2019-20:

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 26 February 2019)

 a mid-year (minimum) treasury update report (Council 17 December 2019)

 an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity 
compared to the strategy (this report, which will be received by Council on 
6 October 2020 through consideration of the Minutes of this meeting of the 
Finance & Audit Committee)

1.3 The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and 
scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities.  This report is, therefore, 
important in that respect as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury 

Page 47 Agenda Item 7



2

activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies previously 
approved by Members.

1.4 The report also provides confirmation that the Council has complied with the 
requirement, under the Code, to give prior scrutiny to all of the above treasury 
management reports by the Finance and Audit Committee before they were 
reported to the Full Council.  Member training on treasury management issues 
was undertaken during the year on 8 July and 13 November in order to support 
members’ scrutiny role.

2. THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING

2.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities 
may either be: 

 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue 
resources (capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), 
which has no resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or

 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply 
resources, the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need

2.2 The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  
The table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.

2018/19 
Actual £m*1

2019/20 
Revised 
Budget 
£m*1

2019/20 
Actual £m*1

Capital Expenditure – GF 1.053 6.866 3.294

Capital Expenditure – Commercial 12.298 1.327 0.032

Capital Expenditure – HRA 10.783 17.106 15.160

Capital Expenditure – GF Housing 0.821 1.526 0.651

Total Capital Expenditure 24.955 26.825 19.137

Financed in Year 12.520 23.733 19.137

Unfinanced Capital Expenditure*2 12.435 3.092 0.000

*1 based on the Provisional Outturn Report 2019/20
*2 unfinanced capital expenditure relates to GF and Commercial activity

3. THE COUNCIL’S OVERALL BORROWING NEED

3.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is termed 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).

3.2 Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are 
prudent over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should 

Page 48



3

ensure that its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year 
(2018/19) plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for 
the current (2019/20) and next two financial years.  This essentially means that 
the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  The table below 
highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position (external debt plus finance 
lease) against the CFR.  The Council has complied with this prudential indicator.

31 March 
2019 Actual 

£m

31 March 
2020 

Revised 
Budget 
£m*2

31 March 
2020 Actual 

£m*1

CFR General Fund (£m) 101.984 103.327 101.573

CFR Commercial (£m) 23.824 24.676 23.338

CFR HRA (£m) 84.564 79.826 79.826

Total CFR 210.372 207.829 204.737

Gross Borrowing Position 187.537 184.526 182.526

Under / over funding of CFR 22.835 23.303 22.211

*1 based on the Provisional Outturn Report 2019/20

3.3 The Capital Finance Requirement (CFR) includes a Finance Lease to the value of 
£93.432m which relates to the agreement with Council has entered into with Reef 
to redevelop the St George’s Shopping Centre.  There are 49 years remaining on 
the finance lease and therefore the CFR will be reduced over this period through 
an MRP charge (Minimum Revenue Provision charge - statutory annual minimum 
revenue charge to reduce the total outstanding CFR).

3.4 The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” 
required by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the 
Council does not have the power to borrow above this level.  The authorised limit 
for 2019/20 was amended by Full Council at its meeting on 25 June 2019.  The 
table below demonstrates that during 2019/20 the Council has maintained gross 
borrowing within its authorised limit.

3.5 The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either 
below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the authorised limit not 
being breached.  The operational boundary limit for 2019/20 was amended by 
Full Council at its meeting on 25 June 2019.

3.6 Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream.

Page 49



4

2019/20

Authorised Limit (as per the TMSS 20-21) 256.900

Maximum gross boundary position during the year 187.525

Operational boundary (as per the TMSS 20-21) 250.400

Average gross borrowing position 185.026

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream 20.67%

4. TREASURY POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2020 

4.1 The Council‘s treasury position (excluding the St George’s Shopping Centre 
finance lease) at the beginning and the end of 2019-20 was as follows:

31 March 
2019 

Principal 
£m

Rate/ 
Return

31 March 
2020 

Principal 
£m

Rate/ 
Return

Average 
Life yrs

PWLB Loans 85.900 81.081

Stock Loans 8.000 8.000

Short Term Loans 0.012 0.015

Total Debt 93.912 3.23% 89.096 3.28% 5.05

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR)

116.746 - 111.305 - -

Over/ (Under) 
borrowing

(22.834) - (22.209) - -

Total Investments 46.229 - 43.145 - -

Net Debt
(Total Debt minus 
Total Investments) 

47.683 - 45.951 - -

4.2 From 2018/19, this authority has operated a two loans pool, split between the 
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

Page 50



5

4.3 The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows:

31 March 
2019 

Actual 
£m

March 
2019 

Actual %

2019/20 
original 
limits %

31 March 
2020 

Actual 
£m

March 
2020 

Actual %

Under 12 months 4.831 5.14 50 13.433 15.08

12 to 24 months 13.418 14.29 50 7.184 8.06

24 months to 5 years 23.315 24.83 75 25.141 28.22

5 to 10 years 52.348 55.74 75 43.338 48.64

More than 10 years 0.000 0.00 100 0.000 0.00

Investment Portfolio Actual 31 
March 2019 

£m

Actual 31 
March 2019 

%

Actual 31 
March 

2020 £m

Actual 31 
March 2020 

%

Treasury Investments

Fixed Term Investments 8.000 17.31 11.000 25.50

Certificate of Deposits 9.000 19.47 5.000 11.59

Notice Accounts 5.000 10.82 4.500 10.43

Money Market Funds 4.296 9.29 4.528 10.49

Total managed in house 26.296 - 25.028 -

Property Funds 10.543 22.81 10.195 23.63

Multi Asset Funds 9.390 20.30 7.922 18.36

Total managed externally 19.933 - 18.117 -

Total Treasury 
Investments

46.229 100.00 43.145 100.00

4.4 All internally managed investments were for up to one year.

Page 51



6

5. THE INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND CONTROL OF INTEREST RATE RISK FOR 
2019/20

5.1 Investment returns remained low during 2019/20.  The expectation for interest 
rates within the treasury management strategy for 2019/20 was that Bank Rate 
would stay at 0.75% during 2019/20 as it was not expected that the MPC would 
be able to deliver on an increase in Bank Rate until the Brexit issue was finally 
settled.  However, there was an expectation that Bank Rate would rise after that 
issue was settled, but would only rise to 1.0% during 2020.

5.2 Rising concerns over the possibility that the UK could leave the EU at the end of 
October 2019 caused longer term investment rates to be on a falling trend for 
most of April to September.  They then rose after the end of October deadline was 
rejected by the Commons but fell back again in January before recovering again 
after the 31 January departure of the UK from the EU.  When the coronavirus 
outbreak hit the UK in February/March, rates initially plunged but then rose 
sharply back up again due to a shortage of liquidity in financial markets.  As longer 
term rates were significantly higher than shorter term rates during the year, value 
was therefore sought by placing longer term investments where cash balances 
were sufficient to allow this. 

5.3 While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully 
appreciative of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in 
terms of additional capital and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the 
financial crisis. These requirements have provided a far stronger basis for 
financial institutions, with annual stress tests by regulators evidencing how 
institutions are now far more able to cope with extreme stressed market and 
economic conditions.

5.4 Investment balances have been kept to a minimum through the agreed strategy of 
using reserves and balances to support internal borrowing, rather than borrowing 
externally from the financial markets.  External borrowing would have incurred an 
additional cost, due to the differential between borrowing and investment rates as 
illustrated in the charts shown below. Such an approach has also provided 
benefits in terms of reducing the counterparty risk exposure, by having fewer 
investments placed in the financial markets. 

5.5 The graph below shows the London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID - the rate at which 
banks borrow from one another) against the Bank of England Base Rate for 
2019/20.

Page 52



7

6. BORROWING STRATEGY AND CONTROL OF INTEREST RATE RISK RATES IN 
2019-20

6.1 During 2019-20, the Council maintained an under-borrowed position.  This meant 
that the capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully 
funded with loan debt, as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and 
cash flow was used as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as 
investment returns were low and minimising counterparty risk on placing 
investments also needed to be considered.

6.2 A cost of carry remained during the year on any new long-term borrowing that was 
not immediately used to finance capital expenditure, as it would have caused a 
temporary increase in cash balances; this would have incurred a revenue cost – 
the difference between (higher) borrowing costs and (lower) investment returns.

6.3 The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances, has 
served well over the last few years.  However, this was kept under review to avoid 
incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able 
to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of 
maturing debt.

 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, 
caution was adopted with the treasury operations. The Director (Corporate 
Services) therefore monitored interest rates in financial markets and 
adopted a pragmatic strategy to manage interest rate risks.

Page 53



8

6.4 Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer term 
fixed borrowing rates during 2019/20 and the two subsequent financial years.  
Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing 
over the period.

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View       31.3.20
Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22

Bank Rate View 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

3 Month LIBID 0.45 0.40 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30

6 Month LIBID 0.60 0.55 0.50 0.45 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40

12 Month LIBID 0.75 0.70 0.65 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55

5yr PWLB Rate 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10

10yr PWLB Rate 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30

25yr PWLB Rate 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70

50yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

6.5 HM Treasury imposed two changes in the margins over gilt yields for PWLB rates 
in 2019-20 without any prior warning; the first on 9 October 2019, added an 
additional 1% margin over gilts to all PWLB rates.  That increase was then 
partially reversed for some forms of borrowing on 11 March 2020, at the same 
time as the Government announced in the Budget a programme of increased 
spending on infrastructure expenditure.  It also announced that there would be a 
consultation with local authorities on possibly further amending these margins and 
restrictions around the use of PWLB for the purchase of commercial property.

Page 54



9

6.6 Following the changes on 11 March 2020 in margins over gilt yields, the current 
situation is as follows.

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 200 basis points (G+200bps)

 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 180 basis points (G+180bps)

 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)

 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)

 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

6.7 There is likely to be little upward movement in PWLB rates over the next two 
years as it will take national economies a prolonged period to recover all the 
momentum they will lose in the sharp recession that will be caused during the 
coronavirus shut down period. Inflation is also likely to be very low during this 
period and could even turn negative in some major western economies during 
2020-21. 

7. BORROWING OUTTURN FOR 2019-20

7.1 No external borrowing was undertaken during 2019-20.

7.2 No rescheduling of debts was carried out during the year as the average 1% 
differential between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates 
made rescheduling unviable.

7.3 On 28 March 2020, a further loan the Council had taken on as a result of HRA 
self-financing matured. Loan principal totalling £4,738,000 was repaid. The 
Council has made a voluntary contribution of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
equal to the loan principal in order to reduce the CFR accordingly.

8. INVESTMENT OUTTURN FOR 2019-20

8.1 Investment Policy - the Council’s investment policy is governed by Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) investment guidance, 
which has been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the 
Council on 26 February 2019.  This policy sets out the approach for choosing 
investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by the three 
main credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional market data (such as 
rating outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.).

8.2 The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and 
the Council had no liquidity difficulties.

8.3 Investments held by the Council – the Council maintained an average balance 
of £35.355m of internally managed funds during the year. The internally managed 
funds earned an average rate of return of 0.96%. The 3 month London Interbank 
Bid Rate (LIBID) rate which is used as the most appropriate comparative 
performance indicator was 0.67%. Despite the continued low investment yields 
offered by financial markets, the average rate of return exceeded by 0.29%.

8.4 Property Funds – As at 31 March 2020 the Council achieved an average income 
rate of return on its investments and capital growth as follows:

Page 55



10

Property Funds Average 
Income 

Return %

Capital 
Growth/ 

(Loss) %*1

Lothbury 4.17 1.77

Hermes 3.33 8.24

CCLA 5.04 (6.16)

Total 4.07 2.11

*1 capital growth / (loss) since 2016

8.5 The capital growth / (loss) figures above are based on movement from the original 
investment in 2016.  So whilst there has been an overall increase in capital values 
since 2016, during 2019/20 there was a capital loss across all three funds as a 
direct result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  Due to the nature and speed of impact, 
Property Fund Managers were dealing with an unprecedented set of 
circumstances on which to base a judgement and determine the fund values.  As 
a result less reliance can be placed on the valuations.

8.6 Appendix 2 to this report shows how the capital fund valuations have changed 
month on month since 2016 as well as the capital value of each of the Property 
Funds over the same period.

8.7 Lothbury and CCLA have both temporarily suspended trading in their funds, which 
essentially means that investors can neither enter nor exit the fund for a period of 
time.  Fund Managers use this mechanism in extreme circumstances in order to 
protect the fund and current investors from significant falls as a result of needing 
to sell properties at a substantially reduced rate in order to meet the demand of 
cash flowing out of the fund.

8.8 Future capital values and dividends may be affected as the pandemic continues, 
but it is difficult to quantify the impact at this stage, although it is likely to affect 
the three funds in different ways.  Officers are closely monitoring capital values 
and remain in regular contact with the Property Fund Managers, to ensure they 
are aware of the latest developments.

8.9 Multi-Asset Funds – As at 31 March 2020 the Council achieved an estimated 
average income rate of return on its investments and capital loss as follows:

Multi Asset Funds Average 
Income 

Return %

Capital 
Growth/ 

(Loss) %*1

JP Morgan 4.39 (17.12)

Jupiter 4.53 (28.10)

Aberdeen 5.96 (18.92)

Total 4.75 (20.78)

*1 capital growth / (loss) since 2018

Page 56



11

8.10 The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic is much more obvious on the Multi Asset 
funds, as can clearly be seen in the table above.

8.11 Appendix 3 to this report shows how the capital fund valuations have changed 
month on month since 2018 as well as the capital value of each of the Multi Asset 
Funds over the same period.

8.12 Despite the value of the Multi Asset funds increasing in during the course of 
2019/20, as the impact of the pandemic began to be felt across the world, equity 
markets fell in value and the resulting capital values of the funds reduced 
significantly.  As Governments across the world have introduced various policies 
to stimulate the economy, fund values have begun to stabilise.  However, it will 
remain to be seen how the pandemic affects capital values and dividend 
payments going forward.

8.13 As with the Property Funds, Officers are closely monitoring capital values and 
remain in regular contact with Fund Mangers, to ensure they are aware of the 
latest developments.

8.14 Property Acquisitions – The purchase of commercial properties and land 
acquisition is not deemed a Treasury Management investment but a Service 
Investment. However there is a direct impact upon Treasury Management on the 
basis that any such purchase reduces the level of investable cash balances. 
Treasury officers will continue to liaise closely with Legal and Property to ensure 
that cash is available at the appropriate time to facilitate the further purchase of 
commercial properties and land as set out in the 2020/21 Capital Programme.

8.15 MiFID II – On 3 January 2018 new EU legislation came into force that impacted 
upon the Council’s treasury management activity.  MiFID II (Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive) was aimed at increasing investor protection by creating a 
more efficient, risk-aware and transparent market for investment services and 
activities. This legislation required the FCA to treat all local authorities as Retail 
Clients but did allow local authorities to opt up to an Elective Professional Client 
status if they met certain pre-determined criteria. The Council was not obliged to 
opt up but by not doing so could have precluded the Council from dealing with 
certain institutions or funds. The Council opted up to Elective Professional Client 
status with all the institutions that required it to do so and has ensured that during 
2018/19 it has continued to comply with the requirements of the institutions to 
maintain Elective Professional Client status.

9. UK SOVERIGNTY

9.1 On 27 March 2020, Fitch, one of the three ratings agencies took the decision to 
downgrade the UK’s long term sovereign rating to AA-.

9.2 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) allows Officers to place 
investments within the UK provided that the sovereign rating stays above AA-.  
Therefore this downgrade potentially caused problems for treasury management 
as it effectively meant that we would need to withdraw all investments held with 
UK institutions, to which we have instant access, and place it with an institution 
which is domiciled outside of the UK, with a sovereign and institution rating which 
met the requirements of our TMSS.  This would effectively have locked all our 
cash balances in fixed term deposits and leave the authority with no liquidity.  
Given the current situation with the COVID-19 pandemic, it was more critical than 
ever, to ensure that the Council had sufficient access to cash in liquid investments 
should it be needed.

Page 57



12

9.3 Over the previous few weeks, the UK government and Bank of England had taken 
a series of measures aimed at helping the economy through crisis and it was likely 
there would be more to follow.  Given this backdrop, Officers had a much better 
understanding of how the UK was responding to the crisis than they did about 
other countries and for this reason a temporary change to the TMSS was 
proposed.

9.4 The then Director (Corporate Services), in his capacity as Section 151 Officer, in 
consultation with the then Assistant Director (Corporate Services) and Principal 
Accountant (Housing and Exchequer), agreed to amend the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement to reduce the UK sovereign rating by one level 
so that Officers could continue to place investments with counterparties within the 
UK provided that the sovereign rating remains above A+.

9.5 This decision was taken in line with the Council’s constitution which allows the 
Section 151 Officer to take all necessary action in respect of the management of 
the Council’s investments to ensure their security is maintained.

9.6 The Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee was briefed on this issue as was 
the Leader of the Council, who were both fully supportive of the decision.

9.7 Given ratification of the TMSS is a Full Council decision, Finance and Audit 
Committee are asked to recommend to Full Council that this change is formally 
agreed.

9.8 At this stage no further downgrades on the UK’s long term sovereignty rating have 
been announced by the ratings agency.  Should this or the downgrades of other 
sovereign ratings occur, which results in officers being unable to place 
investments a further discussion will be held with the relevant officers at such time 
and members of the Finance and Audit Committee will be kept informed.

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 58



Prudential and treasury indicators Appendix A

1.  PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2018-19 2019-20 2019-20

Actual Revised Actual

£m £m £m
Capital Expenditure
    Non - HRA £1.874 £6.392 £3.945

    Commercial £12.298 £1.327 £0.032

    HRA £10.783 £15.867 £15.160

    TOTAL £24.955 £23.586 £19.137
 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream (This is the 
proportion of annual debt financing costs as a percentage 
of the council’s annual budget requirement)
    Non - HRA 5.39% - 0.59%

    Commercial 24.95% - 32.24%

    HRA 25.85% - 28.15%

 

Gross borrowing requirement (inc finance lease)
    brought forward 1 April £98.093 £187.538 £187.5538

    carried forward 31 March £187.538 £183.154 £182.526

    in year borrowing requirement £89.445 £4.384 (£5.012)

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as at 31 March (This 
is the amount of capital spending that has not been 
financed by capital receipts, capital grants of 
contributions from revenue)

    Non – HRA £101.984 £101.573 £101.573

    Commercial £23.824 £24.430 £23.338

    HRA £84.564 £79.826 £79.826

    TOTAL £210.372 £205.829 £204.737
 

Annual change in Cap. Financing Requirement 
    Non – HRA £93.582 (£0.411) (£0.411)

    Commercial £12.059 £0.606 (£0.486)

    HRA (£4.101) (£4.738) (£4.738)

    TOTAL £101.540 (£4.543) (£5.635)

 

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £   p £   p

    Increase in council tax (band D) per annum  * £9.67 £16.82

    Increase in average housing rent per week N/A N/A

Page 59



14

2.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT  
INDICATORS 2018/19 2019/20 2019/20

Actual Revised Actual
£'000 £'000 £'000

Authorised Limit for external debt (This is the 
maximum amount of borrowing which the council is 
permitted to undertake on a temporary basis to 
manage cash flow demands)
    borrowing £117.700 £105.400 £105.400
    borrowing (commercial) £98.000 £35.000 £35.000
    other long term liabilities £20.000 £103.430 £103.430
     TOTAL £235.700 £243.830 £243.830
 
Operational Boundary for external debt (This is the 
maximum amount of borrowing which the council is 
permitted to undertake on a day to day basis and must 
not be breached other than for temporary cash flow 
demand purposes)
     borrowing £117.700 £100400 £100400
     Borrowing (commercial) £96.500 £30.000 £30.000
     other long term liabilities £20.000 £98.430 £98.430
     TOTAL £228.830 £228.830
 
Actual external debt £93.912 £93.831 £89.094

Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure
     Net interest re fixed rate borrowing / investments 100 % 100 % 100 %
 
Upper limit for variable rate exposure

     Net interest re variable rate borrowing / investments 25 % 25 % 25 %
 
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 
365 days £20,000 £20,000 £20,000

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing 
during 2019/20 Lower limit Upper limit

under 12 months 0% 50%

12 months and within 24 months 0% 50%

24 months and within 5 years 0% 75%

5 years and within 10 years 0% 75%

10 years and within 15 years 0% 100%

15 years and within 20 years 0% 100%

Greater than 20 years 0% 100%

Note: The figures shown in the tables above reflect the position as at the date of reporting.  
They are subject to change during the final accounts process.

Page 60



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal As per Section 1.13B.67 of the Council's Constitution, the Chief Finance Officer has 
delegated responsibility from Cabinet.
 “in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans as are legally 
permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing requirements”

Finance and Value 
for Money 

A summary of the perceived risks associated with Treasury Management were 
identified in the Treasury Management Strategy approved by Council on 26 
February 2019.  Officers continue to monitor the risks on a day to day basis and 
identfiy mitigating action to minimise risks.
In order to achieve a balanced budget, the authority relies upon generating 
maximum interest from its investments whilst minimising the exposure to risk.  In 
order to achieve this, investments are only placed with institutions which meet the 
criteria set out within this report.  Investment durations do no exceed those as 
advised by Link Asset Services credit ratings which are associated with the specific 
institutions.
Where the authority is required to borrow to meet the needs of the authority, 
Officers will seek advice from Link Asset Services on timings and options in order to 
ensure the best deal for the authority.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with Treasury Management and capital expenditure are 
detailed within this report

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 61

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


16

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Successfully 
Managing Key Business Risks.

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder Treasury Management activities are carried out in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment strategy which minimises the risk of 
criminal activities.  The arrangements to ensure appropriate governance around 
capital expenditure are set out in the Capital Strategy.

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 62



Gravesham Borough Council Investment Portfolio

Property Funds

-£200,000.00

-£150,000.00

-£100,000.00

-£50,000.00

 £-

 £50,000.00

 £100,000.00

Jun
16

Jul
16

Aug
16

Sep
16

Oct
16

Nov
16

Dec
16

Jan
17

Feb
17

Mar
17

Apr
17

May
17

Jun
17

Jul
17

Aug
17

Sep
17

Oct
17

Nov
17

Dec
17

Jan
18

Feb
18

Mar
18

Apr
18

May
18

Jun
18

Jul
18

Aug
18

Sep
18

Oct
18

Nov
18

Dec
18

Jan
19

Feb
19

Mar
19

Apr
19

May
19

Jun
19

Jul
19

Aug
19

Sep
19

Oct
19

Nov
19

Dec
19

Jan
20

Feb
20

Mar
20

V
al

u
at

io
n

 (
D

e
cr

e
as

e
)/

In
cr

e
as

e 

Property Fund Movement In Capital Values Month on Month  

CCLA Local
Authorities
Property Fund

Lothbury

Hermes

 £-

 £1,000,000.00

 £2,000,000.00

 £3,000,000.00

 £4,000,000.00

 £5,000,000.00

 £6,000,000.00

Jun
16

Jul
16

Aug
16

Sep
16

Oct
16

Nov
16

Dec
16

Jan
17

Feb
17

Mar
17

Apr
17

May
17

Jun
17

Jul
17

Aug
17

Sep
17

Oct
17

Nov
17

Dec
17

Jan
18

Feb
18

Mar
18

Apr
18

May
18

Jun
18

Jul
18

Aug
18

Sep
18

Oct
18

Nov
18

Dec
18

Jan
19

Feb
19

Mar
19

Apr
19

May
19

Jun
19

Jul
19

Aug
19

Sep
19

Oct
19

Nov
19

Dec
19

Jan
20

Feb
20

Mar
20

B
al

an
ce

 

Property Fund  Capital Values 

CCLA Local
Authorities
Property Fund

Lothbury

Hermes

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council Investment Portfolio

Multi Asset Funds

-£700,000.00

-£600,000.00

-£500,000.00

-£400,000.00

-£300,000.00

-£200,000.00

-£100,000.00

 £-

 £100,000.00

 £200,000.00

 £300,000.00

Mar
18

Apr
18

May
18

Jun
18

Jul 18 Aug
18

Sep
18

Oct
18

Nov
18

Dec
18

Jan
19

Feb
19

Mar
19

Apr
19

May
19

Jun
19

Jul 19 Aug
19

Sep
19

Oct
19

Nov
19

Dec
19

Jan
20

Feb
20

Mar
20

V
al

u
at

io
n

 (
D

e
cr

e
as

e
)/

In
cr

e
as

e
 

Multi Asset Fund  Movement in Capital Values Month on Month 

Aberdeen Diversified Income Fund

Jupiter Asset Management

JP Morgan Asset Management

 £-

 £1,000,000.00

 £2,000,000.00

 £3,000,000.00

 £4,000,000.00

 £5,000,000.00

 £6,000,000.00

Mar
18

Apr
18

May
18

Jun
18

Jul 18 Aug
18

Sep
18

Oct
18

Nov
18

Dec
18

Jan
19

Feb
19

Mar
19

Apr
19

May
19

Jun
19

Jul 19 Aug
19

Sep
19

Oct
19

Nov
19

Dec
19

Jan
20

Feb
20

Mar
20

B
al

an
ce

 

Multi Asset Fund Capital Values 

Aberdeen Diversified Income Fund

Jupiter Asset Management

JP Morgan Asset Management

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Annual Governance Statement: 2019-20 

 
Classification:   Part 1 – Public  
   
Key Decision: No 
  

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 21 July 2020 

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services) 
 

Subject: Annual Governance Statement: 2019-20 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To seek approval from Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of the council’s Annual 
Governance Statement for the 2019-20 financial year. 

 

Recommendations: 

1. Members note the findings of the review of the council’s governance arrangements for 
2019-20. 

2. Members approve and support the Annual Governance Statement for the 2019-20 
financial year. 

 

1. Background 

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council is responsible for undertaking its business in 
accordance with the law and proper standards. In doing so, it needs to ensure that 
public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively.  

1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility the council has established its Code of 
Corporate Governance, which sets out a commitment as to how the authority 
carries out its functions; the procedures, processes and control environment by 
which it undertakes to deliver its corporate objectives.  

1.3 Approved by Full Council and adopted into the council’s Constitution, the Code of 
Corporate Governance is designed to be consistent with the principles of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. 

1.4 Assessed against the council’s adopted Code of Corporate Governance, in 
compliance with section 6 (1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, this 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS) presents the key themes and findings of an 
annual review into the effectiveness of the council’s governance framework and 
system of internal control in 2019-20.  

Page 67 Agenda Item 8



 
 

Annual Governance Statement: 2019-20 

1.5 In its delivery, GBC has equally demonstrated its compliance with the 
requirements of section 6 (1)(b) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 in 
relation to the presentation of an AGS for the authority in 2019-20. 

1.6 Following its approval by the Finance and Audit Committee, the AGS is required to 
be signed by the most senior officer and most senior Member of the authority. 

  
2. Annual review of the council’s governance framework: 2019-20 

2.1 The review of the council’s governance framework and system of internal control 
for 2019-20 was conducted by the Corporate Performance Manager, in 
consultation with the council’s AGS Assurance Group. The review was undertaken 
in accordance with the principles adopted by the council’s Code of Corporate 
Governance.   

2.2 As part of this review, assurance of the effective operation of the council’s 
governance arrangements has been sought from a number of sources. All source 
materials, including the results of the review itself, are itemised at Appendix Two 
of this report and are available on request to Members of the Committee. 

2.3 In line with the council’s statutory responsibilities, the conclusion to the annual 
review process for the year ended 31 March 2020 is that the council’s governance 
arrangements are considered to be fit for purpose and in accordance with the 
authority’s governance framework, with no significant areas of concern. Full 
details of the annual review are presented at Appendix Three. 

2.4 Members are asked to note the findings of the review of the council’s governance 
arrangements for 2019-20. 

 

3. Annual Governance Statement: 2019-20 

3.1 The AGS for 2019-20 has therefore been prepared against the findings of the 
review of governance arrangements.  A copy of the statement, including a relevant 
suite of actions for consideration, is attached at Appendix Four to this report.  

3.2 Whilst no significant control issues were identified, the review did present some 
opportunities to further develop and strengthen the council’s governance 
framework and system of internal control in 2020-21. The plan for activity in the 
coming year is presented in section 14 of the AGS. 

3.3 Members are requested to approve and support the council’s AGS for the 2019-20 
financial year. 

 

4. Background Papers 

4.1    Background papers relating to this report are: 

 Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: CIPFA/SOLACE 2016; 

 Code of Corporate Governance: Gravesham Borough Council; and 

 Annual review material (Appendix Two): Gravesham Borough Council. 

4.2    All background papers and relevant source materials, itemised at Appendix two,   
         are available on request via Committee Services in the first instance.

Page 68



 
 

Annual Governance Statement: 2019-20 

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE  

Legal  
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 place a statutory requirement on local 
authorities to conduct a review - at least once a year - of the effectiveness of its 
governance framework and system of internal control and, additionally,  to 
prepare an AGS in accordance with proper practice.  Proper practice has been 
defined as that set out in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’, 
published by CIPFA/SOLACE.  The annual review referred to in this report and 
the AGS have both been prepared with due consideration of this proper practice, 
adopted via the council’s Code of Corporate Governance. 
 
Assurances are sought from the Monitoring Officer to confirm all legal functions 
have been undertaken during the financial year. 

The Monitoring Officer is also a member of the AGS Assurance Group and, as 
such, comments made by the Monitoring Officer have been taken into account in 
drafting the AGS. 

Finance and 
Value for Money  

There is a statutory requirement for the AGS to accompany the Statement of 
Accounts.  Therefore it is intended that the draft AGS is presented to the Finance 
& Audit Committee for approval so that it can ultimately be presented alongside 
the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Assurances are sought from the Chief Financial Officer/Section 151 Officer to 
confirm all financial functions have been undertaken during the financial year. 

The Chief Financial Officer/Section 151 Officer is also a member of the AGS 
Assurance Group and, as such, comments made by the Chief Financial 
Officer/Section 151 Officer have been taken into account in drafting the AGS.    

Risk 
Assessment 

Failure to approve the AGS could expose the authority to the risk of receiving a 
qualified opinion on the Statement of Accounts. 

The purpose of the governance review is to identify any potential areas of 
weakness or areas of further improvement, in order to minimise the risk facing 
the council.  Failure to take action in relation to the issues identified within the 
AGS could have a negative effect on the continuous development of the 
council’s governance framework. 

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence 
data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor 
or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Page 69

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 
 

Annual Governance Statement: 2019-20 

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE  

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

Screening for Equality Impacts 

Question Answer Explanation 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in 
the community? 

     N/A 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? 

    N/A 

 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above 

 
 

Corporate Plan Ensuring the council has the adequate governance and internal control 
arrangements in place underpins all aspects of council business and, therefore,  
the council’s Corporate Plan. Specifically the approval of the AGS directly 
contributes to the achievement of the following policy committment within 
Corporate Objective #3 – Progress; 

Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and 
benchmarked performance management framework, delivered by services 
underpinned with sound internal controls.  

Crime and 
Disorder 

The AGS reviews all governance and control arrangements in place throughout 
the authority.  Whilst there are no direct implications in relation to Crime and 
Disorder, good governance makes a positive contribution to Community Safety in 
its broadest sense. 

Digital and 
website 
implications 

In terms of the council's governance arrangements, the council's digital services 
provide a key role in publishing a number of core documents and datasets. On 
approval, the AGS specifically will be published to the council’s website to 
finalise the review process. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults 

The AGS reviews all governance and control arrangements in place throughout 
the authority.  Whilst there are no direct implications from this report in relation to 
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults, the governance review has 
established the benefits of considering the safeguarding agenda in all core 
corporate decisons. 

 

Page 70



Appendix Two 

Annual Governance Statement 2019-20: supporting evidence 

The itemised list below provides details of the source material used to inform the 
production of the council’s AGS 2019-20. All material is available to Members of the 
Finance & Audit committee on request. 

1. Annual review of the corporate governance framework and system of internal control

Document Details 

Code of Corporate Governance 
providing a definition of corporate governance and the core 
principles of good governance in local authorities 

Annual review of the corporate 
governance framework and system 
of internal control 

conducted by the council’s AGS Assurance Group against the 
adopted Code of Corporate Governance 

2. Sources of assurance

Document Details 

Assurance Statements 

prepared across a series of governance criteria to identify any 
control weaknesses, statements presented by: 

- Chief Executive
- Directors
- Assistant Directors and other council managers
- Chief Financial Officer (s151 officer)
- Head of Internal Audit
- Monitoring Officer

External audit / inspection reports 

Grant Thornton: 
- Audit Findings Report: 2018-19
- Annual Audit Letter: 2018-19
- External Audit Plan: 2019-20

Local Government Ombudsman: Annual Review 2019 

Investors in People Assessment: Final Report (published April 
2019) 

LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 2019: Final Report 

Chief Audit Executive Opinion 
annual opinion on the system of internal control prepared by 
Chief Audit Executive 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

1 | P a g e  
 

Core Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

A1:  
Behaving with 

integrity 

 Ensuring members and officers 
behave with integrity and lead a 
culture where acting in the public 
interest is visibly and consistently 
demonstrated thereby protecting 
the reputation of the 
organisation.  
 

 Ensuring members take the lead 
in establishing specific standard 
operating principles or values for 
the organisation and its staff and 
that they are communicated and 
understood. These should build 
on the Seven Principles of Public 
Life (the Nolan Principles).  
 

 Leading by example and using 
the above standard operating 
principles or values as a 
framework for decision making 
and other actions.  
 

 Demonstrating, communicating 
and embedding the standard 
operating principles or values 
through appropriate policies and 
processes which are reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure that 
they are operating effectively.  

 

To effectively communicate the council’s vision and principles, the Corporate Plan is distributed 
via the council’s website, supported by quarterly updates on performance published via Your 
Borough. The Summer edition of Your Borough was cancelled due to the Covid-19 pandemic.   

A Code of Conduct for Employees is in place and is communicated to all officers via the 
NETconsent system on commencement of their role, with regular updates issued for 
compliance purposes.  For those without system access, Managers are responsible for 
ensuring their staff are aware of, and have signed up to, the relevant policies of the council. 

The council has a Standards Committee in place to reflect the changes to the standards regime 
brought about by the Localism Act. The Committee met in August 2019 and considered the 
recommendations of the Review of Local Government Ethical Standards prepared by the 
parliamentary Committee on Standards in Public Life. A key action from this report is the review 
of relevant codes and the LGA has committed to consulting on a new draft Members’ Code of 
Conduct. The findings of this work in 2020-21 potentially represent a key milestone in the 
council’s governance environment and will inevitably require a review of the council’s existing 
code with the potential for amendments to the Constitution.  
 
The existing Code for Members sets out expected standards of behaviour. As such, the 
council’s website provides details of the Corporate Complaints Procedure and directs any 
persons with a complaint regarding a Councillor to the council’s Monitoring Officer.  

The council’s ‘Register of Interests’ applies to both officers and Members and requires that 
declarations must be made for any item in which they may have, or may be perceived to have, 
an interest that may influence their decision making ability.  The council also has in place a 
Gifts and Hospitality register which is updated and distributed. 

The Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Whistleblowing Policy are both available on the 
council’s website and in 2019-20 were distributed to officers via the NETconsent system, and 
through the manual sign-up process for officers without IT access.  

The council’s Corporate Customer Service Charter establishes standards expected of officers. 
It also sets out how the council will address reports of service failures and complaints from 
members of the public. The council’s website hosts specific details of the Corporate Complaints 
Procedure alongside details of the Local Government Ombudsman. Feedback is used to share 
improvement and good practice across departments. The Local Government Ombudsman’s 
annual report is considered by the Finance and Audit Committee. 

P
age 73

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/footer/contact-us/make-a-complaint/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3128&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

A2:  
Demonstrating 

strong 
commitment to 
ethical values 

 Seeking to establish, monitor and 
maintain the organisation’s 
ethical standards and 
performance.  
 

 Underpinning personal behaviour 
with ethical values and ensuring 
they permeate all aspects of the 
organisation’s culture and 
operation.  
 

 Developing and maintaining 
robust policies and procedures 
which place emphasis on agreed 
ethical values.  
 

 Ensuring that external providers 
of services on behalf of the 
organisation are required to act 
with integrity and in compliance 
with ethical standards expected 
by the organisation. 

 

Throughout 2019-20 all committee reports have been drafted and decisions made with explicit 
consideration of professional advice relating to; financial implications, delivery of the Corporate 
Plan objectives and, equally, a series of ethical considerations; legal and data protection 
implications, Section 17 of the Crime & Disorder Act, Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 and 
Section 43 of the Care Act 2014 (Safeguarding) and Equalities Act provisions.  

As part of the overarching Member training programme, a series of ethical awareness training 
sessions were delivered in 2019-20;  

 Bullying Awareness; 

 Code of Conduct;  

 Equalities and Cohesion; and 

 Fraud Awareness. 

At an officer level, the council has built the requirement for the promotion of ethical standards 
into its performance and retention processes. The council’s recruitment policy and job 
description material makes clear the importance of adhering to expected ethical standards. 
Equally, the appraisal process sets out a requirement for managers to evidence their 
compliance with the equality agenda, further embedding this within the culture of the authority.  

The council has an effective Corporate Procurement Strategy that acts as the foundation on 
which the authority’s approach to procurement is based. Related to this, the council’s contract 
process terms and conditions emphasise the requirement for providers to deliver contracted 
services on behalf of the council in line with ethical standards as determined by legislation.  

The council has in place a robust Working in Partnership Framework which is the central point 
of reference in developing new partnerships, linking the formation of new partnership working 
opportunities to the delivery of the council’s Corporate Plan objectives. Recently refreshed to 
account for the inclusion of the safeguarding and shared service agendas alongside other 
amendments, the framework outlines a procedure for managing partnerships and includes a 
pledge in ‘Maintaining Ethical Standards’. This sets out expectations of Members, officers and 
partners in terms of working in partnership and specifically a commitment to “maintaining high 
ethical standards in the conduct of the partnership’s business, including the promotion of 
equality and respect for all sections of the community”.   

 

P
age 74

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=2965&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

3 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

A3:  
Respecting the 

rule of law 

 

 Ensuring members and staff 
demonstrate a strong 
commitment to the rule of the law 
as well as adhering to relevant 
laws and regulations.  
 

 Creating the conditions to ensure 
that the statutory officers, other 
key post holders, and members, 
are able to fulfil their 
responsibilities in accordance 
with legislative and regulatory 
requirements.  
 

 Striving to optimise the use of the 
full powers available for the 
benefit of citizens, communities 
and other stakeholders.  
 

 Dealing with breaches of legal 
and regulatory provisions 
effectively.  
 

 Ensuring corruption and misuse 
of power are dealt with 
effectively.  

 

The council’s Constitution sets out the roles and responsibilities of the Executive. The 
Constitution is periodically reviewed, updated and re-issued to ensure that it remains up to date 
and reflective of the council's governance structure. Confirmation of the arrangements in 
respect of the Cabinet was published at Annual Council in May 2019. Annex 1 of the 
Constitution sets out the roles and responsibilities of the other Members. 

Complimenting Members arrangements, the council’s transparency webpages include specific 
information relating to the council’s Corporate Management Team. The information presents a 
clear outline of the roles and responsibilities of the council’s Chief Executive, Directors and 
Service Managers supported by information relating to salary provision. 

The council’s Constitution (Annex 1 - Section 1.12 – Proper Officers & Section 1.13 - Functions 
delegated to officers of the council) sets out the responsibilities of the following: 

 Chief Executive: a full-time appointment who is also the Head of Paid Service. The Chief 
Executive Officer has completed a specific assurance statement to demonstrate how their 
role has effectively been executed during 2019-20. 

 Section 151 Officer: the s151 officer is the Director (Corporate Services) and the Deputy 
Section 151 Officer is the Assistant Director (Corporate Services). The Section 151 Officer 
has completed a specific ‘Chief Financial Officer’ assurance statement which sets out how 
the council has complied with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial 
Officer in Local Government in 2019-20, as well as how the council has met its Section 151 
obligations as outlined within the Constitution.  

 Monitoring Officer: The Monitoring Officer has completed a specific assurance statement 
to demonstrate how their role has properly been discharged during 2019-20. The role is 
undertaken by the Chief Legal Officer for Medway Council under the terms of the shared 
Legal Service between the authorities.  

The Chief Executive and the s151 officer are permanent members of the council’s Management 
Team, with the Monitoring Officer represented by Head of Legal Services. Through these 
positions, they are able to provide financial and legal advice, in line with statutory requirements, 
in all decisions taken by the council’s Management.   

The Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Whistleblowing Policy are both available on the 
council’s website and in 2019-20 were distributed to officers via the NETconsent system, and 
through the manual sign-up process for officers without IT access.  

 

P
age 75

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=3070&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/senior-staff-salaries-and-organisation-chart
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

4 | P a g e  
 

Core Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

B1:  
Openness 

 Ensuring an open culture through 
demonstrating, documenting and 
communicating the 
organisation’s commitment to 
openness.  

 

 Making decisions that are open 
about actions, plans, resource 
use, forecasts, outputs and 
outcomes. The presumption is for 
openness. If that is not the case, 
a justification for the reasoning 
for keeping a decision 
confidential should be provided.  
 

 Providing clear reasoning and 
evidence for decisions in both 
public records and explanations 
to stakeholders and being explicit 
about the criteria, rationale and 
considerations used. In due 
course, ensuring that the impact 
and consequences of those 
decisions are clear.  
 

 Using formal and informal 
consultation and engagement to 
determine the most appropriate 
and effective interventions/ 
courses of action.  

 

The council’s website forms a key tool in delivering the authority’s commitment to openness 
and transparency in how it conducts its business. The website is set out in a clear and easily 
accessible way, using infographics and plain language. Information residents use most, such as 
Council Tax, and Waste and Recycling can be accessed quickly and easily from the main page.  

To effectively communicate the council’s vision and principles, the Corporate Plan is made 
available to all staff and residents via the council’s website. On a quarterly basis formal 
performance reports are presented to the appropriate Cabinet Committee enabling scrutiny in 
the performance of the council’s key frontline services. This is supported by quarterly 
publications of the council’s performance via Your Borough and the council’s website. 
Completing the reporting cycle, the council also reports details of the year-end outturns for the 
Performance Management Framework (PMF) in its Annual Performance Report. 

In addition, the council continues to be committed to the government’s transparency agenda.  A 
specific section of the council’s website has been created in order to enable the publication of a 
number of key data sets and formal reports including: 

 Senior Staff Salaries & Organisation chart; 

 Procurement and contracts data;  

 Civic Budget Book and Financial Statements; and  

 Member Allowances. 

The council’s Constitution sets out the rules and protocols associated with decision making at 
an executive level, including those classified as ‘key decisions’. In preparing reports for a 
decision, all have been drafted with explicit consideration of professional advice relating to; 
financial implications, delivery of the Corporate Plan objectives and, equally, a series of ethical 
considerations; legal impact, data protection, Section 17 of the Crime & Disorder Act, Section 
11 of the Children Act 2004 and Section 43 of the Care Act 2014 (Safeguarding) and Equalities 
Act provisions. All decisions are captured within the minutes of a committee meeting and are 
published, along with any key decisions, to the Committee section of the website.  

In determining policy direction, the council considers not only the needs of local residents but 
actively consults to identify local service demand. The council’s arrangements for community 
consultation and how that feeds into local policy development is set out in this review document 
at B3: Engaging with individual citizens and service users effectively to this review document.  

 

P
age 76

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

5 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

B2:  
Engaging 

comprehensively 
with institutional 

stakeholders 

 

 Effectively engaging with 
institutional stakeholders to 
ensure that the purpose, 
objectives and intended 
outcomes for each stakeholder 
relationship are clear so that 
outcomes are achieved 
successfully and sustainably.  

 
 Developing formal and informal 

partnerships to allow for 
resources to be used more 
efficiently and outcomes 
achieved more effectively. 

  
 Ensuring that partnerships are 

based on:  
o Trust;  
o a shared commitment to 

change;  
o a culture that promotes 

and accepts challenge 
among partners; and 

o that the added value of 
partnership working is 
explicit. 
 

 

The council has in place a clear statement of the organisation’s purpose and its vision for the 
borough which underpin the council’s approach to stakeholder engagement.   

The council’s adopted Local Plan sets out the strategic vision for the development of the 
borough to 2028 across housing needs, commercial, public and private development, including 
transport infrastructure, along with protection for the local environment. 

To work towards this vision and ultimately deliver relevant outcomes for local residents, the 
council’s Corporate Plan 2019-23 sets out three clear strategic objectives, each supported by a 
series of policy commitments:  

 People;  

 Place; and 

 Progress. 
 

In developing the new plan, the council undertook a 12 week public consultation that saw over 
800 Gravesham residents, businesses and community groups provide over 2,500 individual 
pieces of information and intelligence relating to community requests for council provision and 
priority intervention. The exercise also enabled participants the opportunity to rank each of the 
council’s key services in terms of their individual level of perceived importance.  

The information obtained from this process was collated and analysed and acted as a sound 
baseline throughout the development of the policy commitments in the Corporate Plan. 

The work delivered against these objectives is measured both by qualitative and quantitate 
analysis, with quarterly performance updates published via Your Borough and the council’s 
website. 

The council has in place a robust Working in Partnership Framework which is the central point 
of reference in developing new partnerships for the council, linking the formation of new 
partnership working opportunities to the objectives of the council’s Corporate Plan.   

The governance of the council’s partnership working arrangements, including those of the 
council’s established shared services, are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure they are 
robust and maintain the same commitment towards the corporate objectives. Collectively these 
arrangements form the Corporate Register of Partnerships.  

 

P
age 77

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/overview
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=2965&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/registers


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

6 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

B3:  
Engaging with 

individual citizens 
and service users 

effectively 

 

 

 Establishing a clear policy on the 
type of issues that the 
organisation will meaningfully 
consult with or involve 
communities, citizens, service 
users and other stakeholders to 
ensure that service provision is 
contributing to the achievement 
of intended outcomes.  

 

 Ensuring that communication 
methods are effective and that 
members and officers are clear 
about their roles in engagement.  
 

 Encouraging, collecting and 
evaluating the views and 
experiences of communities, 
citizens, service users and 
organisations of different 
backgrounds including reference 
to future needs.  

 
 Implementing effective feedback 

mechanisms in order to 
demonstrate how views have 
been taken into account.  

 
 Balancing feedback from more 

active stakeholder groups with 
other stakeholder groups to 
ensure inclusivity.  

 
 Taking account of the impact of 

decisions on future generations 
of tax payers and service users. 

To effectively communicate and engage with local residents, the council has a number of 
diverse community engagement initiatives. Each engagement forum has been established with 
a view to enabling local residents’ effective, informed and timely opportunities to help shape 
council policy and, equally, to enable the council to communicate key announcements and 
policy decisions. A selection of the council’s established community forums are: 

o Gravesham Youth Council; 
o Residents’ Associations; and  
o Gravesham Business Network 

Alongside the opportunities presented through the established forums, the council provide 
various consultation opportunities through its website enabling the community to help shape 
service provision. In 2019-20 formal consultations included: 

o Community Safety Opinion;  
o Milton Place Development;  
o Business Ratepayers Budget; and 
o Polling Districts, Polling Places and Polling Stations Review. 

 
To promote transparency and wider engagement with council decisions, residents can use 
Social Media, such as; Facebook, Twitter and Instagram, as well as YouTube to get updates 
from, and interact with, the council.  
 
NOTE: Through the findings of the LGA Peer Challenge in 2019, it is acknowledged that more 
activity can be undertaken to both promote Gravesham as a place and, equally, to collect the 
views of service users to inform policy development. To provide a framework to how we 
communicate and engage with our residents, through readily accessible channels, a refreshed 
Communications and Engagement Strategy in 2020-21 will form an AGS recommendation. 
 
NOTE: Engagement with local residents through the Covid-19 pandemic will be a key feature of 
a planned Covid-19 council review. Looking across the overall council response, the 
preservation of its frontline community offer, the considerations of community engagement and 
other key themes, a formal review planned for 2020-21 will form a core AGS recommendation. 
 
The role of Members in promoting consultation and responding to public feedback is vital. The 
council’s Constitution sets out the importance of Members acting as ‘Community 
Representatives’. The Constitution also presents guidelines for public petitions and how they 
are to be administered, both in terms of their requirements and how the council would respond, 
including Full Council debate.  

P
age 78

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/youth-council/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/housing/council-tenants/tenant-and-leaseholder-participation/residents-association
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/business/business-support/b2b,-networking-and-promotion/gravesham-business-network
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/have-your-say/consultations
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

7 | P a g e  
 

Core Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits. 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

C1:  
Defining 

outcomes 

 

 

 

 Having a clear vision which is an 
agreed formal statement of the 
organisation’s purpose and 
intended outcomes, containing 
appropriate performance 
indicators, which provide the 
basis for the organisation’s 
overall strategy, planning and 
other decisions.  

 

 Specifying the intended impact 
on, or changes for, stakeholders 
including citizens and service 
users. It could be immediately or 
over the course of a year or 
longer. 
 

 Delivering defined outcomes on 
a sustainable basis within the 
resources that will be available. 

 

 Identifying and managing risks to 
the achievement of outcomes.  

 

 Managing service users’ 
expectations effectively with 
regard to determining priorities 
and making the best use of the 
resources available.  
 

The council has in place a clear statement of the organisation’s purpose and its vision for the 
borough.   

The council’s adopted Local Plan sets out the strategic vision for the development of the 
borough to 2028 across housing needs, commercial, public and private development, including 
transport infrastructure, along with protection for the local environment. 

To work towards this vision and ultimately deliver relevant outcomes for local residents, in 
October 2019 Council adopted a new Corporate Plan 2019-23. The plan established three clear 
strategic objectives each supported by a series of policy commitments:  

 People;  

 Place; and 

 Progress.  

To effectively communicate the council’s Corporate Plan, the document is made available to all 
staff and residents via the council’s website. This is complimented internally with a ‘lite’ or 
summary version being made available to all staff for easy access.  

This is supported by quarterly publications of the council’s performance via Your Borough and 
the council’s website. Completing the reporting cycle, the council also reports details of the 
year-end outturns for the PMF in its Annual Performance Report. Qualitative and quantitate 
performance reporting gives Members and service users access to timely and accurate 
information about service delivery, supporting intervention to address any barriers to good 
performance. In delivering the new Corporate Plan, 2019-20 also saw the adoption of the 
council’s PMF with a focus on representing all service areas within the authority and 
commitment to reported indicators against each policy commitment. 2019-20 also saw a new 
suite of management indicators, designed to monitor the impact of Covid-19 on critical services. 

More broadly, the council’s annual business planning process specifically links in the activities 
of the individual departments, and ultimately those of individual officers, with the corporate 
objectives of the council providing a ‘golden thread’; an understanding of how each officer 
contributes to the delivery of the council’s vision.  

A key element to the business planning process is the ability to define clear performance 
indicators for individual service objectives, coupled with a specific risk assessment to identify 
the potential risks to services achieving their objectives and the actions to mitigate risk. 

P
age 79

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/overview
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

8 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

C2:  
Sustainable 

economic, social 
and 

environmental 
benefits 

 

 

 Considering and balancing the 
combined economic, social and 
environmental impact of policies 
and plans when taking decisions 
about service provision. 
 

 Taking a longer-term view with 
regard to decision making, taking 
account of risk and acting 
transparently where there are 
potential conflicts between the 
organisation’s intended 
outcomes and short-term factors 
such as the political cycle or 
financial constraints. 

 

 Determining the wider public 
interest associated with 
balancing conflicting interests 
between achieving the various 
economic, social and 
environmental benefits, through 
consultation where possible, in 
order to ensure appropriate 
trade-offs.  

 

 Ensuring fair access to services.  
 

In order to enable Members to have the knowledge base with which to carry out effective 
decision making and scrutiny, an annual training and development plan is delivered. This was 
especially important in 2019-20 given the large number of new Members to the council 
following the local elections in May 2019. A mixture of statutory, formal and awareness/ 
educational sessions, the comprehensive programme is tailored to meet all needs.  
 
In support of its adopted Corporate Plan objective #3: Progress, the council has continued in its 
comprehensive ‘Service Review’ programme. The aim of the programme is to review each of 
the council’s services in order to determine if they are being delivered in the most efficient way 
and to investigate potential income generating and commercial opportunities, whilst continuing 
to ensure services meet legislative requirements in terms of wider social, environmental and 
economic considerations. A key part of the council’s ‘Bridging the Gap’ strategy, the findings 
from the programme of reviews will have a significant bearing on the shape of services in future 
years, with the process of securing value for money for local residents at the forefront of any 
decisions.  
 
Alongside the work in ‘Bridging the Gap’, the council’s Capital Programme and Use of Capital 
Receipts Strategy are formulated to support the delivery of the council’s objectives, as set out in 
the Corporate Plan. Each is influenced by needs identified by service Business Plans as well as 
opportunities arising from government initiatives and partner agencies. Both elements form part 
of the financial controls evident in the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 
As part of its business planning process, the council sets out how it will work towards its agreed 
Equality Objectives. When required, Equality Impact Assessments are carried out to assess the 
impact of proposals which may have an effect on different individuals and communities across 
the borough. In a similar vein, the data protection agenda is embedded into all committee 
reports. As such, where decisions are to be taken by the authority consideration is to be given 
to data implications and the need to assess against legislative requirements. 
 
In order to ensure fair access to services, the council has in place a Customer Service and 
Access Strategy. The strategy, complimented by the Accessibility for All procedure, provides a 
commitment for the council to; “work with our community and service users to understand the 
longer-term vision and aims for how services will be accessed and will ensure improvements 
through mechanisms such as the website and contact centre.” 
 
 

P
age 80

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/financial-strategy
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/equality
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

9 | P a g e  
 

Core Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

D1:  
Determining 
interventions 

 

 

 

 

 Ensuring decision makers 
receive objective and rigorous 
analysis of a variety of options 
indicating how intended 
outcomes would be achieved 
and associated risks. Therefore 
ensuring best value is achieved 
however services are provided. 
 

 Considering feedback from 
citizens and service users when 
making decisions about service 
improvements or where services 
are no longer required in order to 
prioritise competing demands 
within limited resources available 
including people, skills, land and 
assets and bearing in mind future 
impacts.  

 
 

 
Decision makers receive accurate, relevant and timely performance and intelligence to support 
them with objective and rigorous analysis of options, covering intended outcomes, financial 
impact and associated risks informing efficient service delivery. This can take the form of 
regular performance reporting, or bespoke reports. As an example, performance reporting gives 
Members and service users access to timely and accurate information about service delivery, 
supporting intervention to address any barriers to good performance and equally ensures value 
for money is a key consideration of any decision taken by the council.  
 
The process of decision making and delegation to officers is detailed in the Constitution, with 
details of what decisions are taken in this way included in the Scheme of Delegation.   
 
Decisions by committees are recorded through committee minutes and are published on the 
council’s website. This is complimented by the publication of key decisions as determined. 

In determining policy direction, the council considers not only the needs of local residents and 
service users but actively consults to identify local service demand. In 2019-20 a series of 
formal consultations were undertaken that were fully considered as part of the end policy 
decisions. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 81

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

10 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D2:  
Planning 

interventions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Establishing and implementing 
robust planning and control 
cycles that cover strategic and 
operational plans, priorities and 
targets. 
  

 Engaging with internal and 
external stakeholders in 
determining how services and 
other courses of action should be 
planned and delivered. 
  

 Considering and monitoring risks 
facing each partner when 
working collaboratively, including 
shared risks. 
  

 Ensuring arrangements are 
flexible and agile so that the 
mechanisms for delivering goods 
and services can be adapted to 
changing circumstances. 
  

 Establishing appropriate key 
performance indicators (KPIs) as 
part of the planning process in 
order to identify how the 
performance of services and 
projects is to be measured. 
  

 Ensuring capacity exists to 
generate information required to 
review service quality regularly. 
  
 
 

 
An effective PMF is vital to the success of any organisation in delivering consistently high 
quality services to local residents. The Corporate Plan, designed in consideration of community 
need and consultation, presented a new PMF allowing the council to evaluate if it is effectively 
achieving against the stated corporate objectives. For residents it provides genuine 
accountability in how successfully the council is administering its resources.  
 
The Cabinet drives the successful implementation of the Corporate Plan, with responsibility for 
working with and holding council officers to account in the delivery of the three strategic 
objectives. The council recognises that it cannot achieve its vision for the borough on its own 
and is increasingly working with partners to achieve these objectives. 

Formal performance reporting takes place at different times and to different audiences in order 
to ensure fully informed decision making: 

- Quarterly: Performance reports of all tiers of indicators to Corporate Management 
Team (CMT). Subsequently reported to Cabinet and individual Cabinet Committees for 
consideration and scrutiny, prior to publishing on the council’s digital services and  
Your Borough. 

- Yearly: Annual performance report to Cabinet against all performance indicators, 
including an outline of all relevant achievements directly contributing to the council’s 
corporate objectives.  

Timely and accurate reporting of qualitative and quantitate analysis enables early intervention 
strategies to be implemented in areas of poor performance or increased risk to service delivery.  

In order to embed performance benchmarking activity, all indicators, wherever possible, are 
compared to other authorities enabling the council to better understand its own levels of 
performance and where any good practice can be identified to feed into the next year’s 
business planning process.  

More broadly, the council’s business planning process specifically links in the activities of the 
individual departments, and ultimately those of individual officers, with the corporate objectives 
of the council providing a ‘golden thread’; an understanding of how each officer contributes to 
the delivery of the council’s vision. Each business plan also puts in place service level (or 
management) indicators to monitor the delivery of priorities at an operational level that fall 
outside the corporate reporting process.  Business Plans are monitored in-year with 
management indicators reported quarterly to the CMT in order to identify relevant intervention. 
 

P
age 82



Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

11 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D2:  
Planning 

interventions 

[cont.] 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Preparing budgets in accordance 
with objectives, strategies and 
the medium term financial plan. 
 

 Informing medium and long term 
resource planning by drawing up 
realistic estimates of revenue 
and capital expenditure aimed at 
developing a sustainable funding 
strategy. 
 

Evaluation and planning arrangements also extend to external stakeholders. The council has in 
place a robust Working in Partnership Framework which is the central point of reference in 
developing new partnerships for the council, linking the formation of new partnership working 
opportunities to the corporate objectives of the council’s Corporate Plan.  
 
The framework outlines a procedure to evaluate a proposed partnership, which should attempt 
to draw up a list of the likely benefits, costs, risks and any potential equalities or safeguarding  
issues that the partnership may raise and, if possible, to quantify them, or at least describe 
them clearly.   
 
Underpinning all plans and partnerships is the council’s commitment to sound financial 
planning. The council operates within a strict financial and regulatory environment. The 
council’s financial planning arrangements ensure that finances remain sustainable and robust, 
and that both revenue and capital resources are aligned with the key policy objectives. This 
future planning, aimed at resourcing the achievement of core objectives, is evidenced through 
the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.  
 
The council introduced a new Medium Term Financial Strategy in 2019-20. Given the 
impending Government Spending Review and decisions being taken on a number of other local 
government funding reforms that are planned for introduction from April 2021, and the 
significant uncertainty regarding the potential impacts on the economy post-Brexit, it was 
considered prudent and most effective by Council to put in place a one year Medium Term 
Financial Strategy for 2020-21. The core principles underlying the new strategy are: 

 To maintain the financial sustainability of the council;  

 To ensure sound and robust financial management arrangements; and  

 To support the delivery of quality services and activity which has a positive impact 
of the lives of local residents.  

  
Gravesham Borough Council has a strong track record in managing its financial resources. 
The actions of the council are subject to internal review by the council’s Management Team 
and Elected Members, as well as external review from the residents of Gravesham and Grant 
Thornton, the council’s External Auditor, who in 2019-20 concluded in their annual audit of the 
Statement of Accounts for 2018-19 that: “the council had proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.” 
 
 

P
age 83

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=2965&Ver=4
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/financial-strategy
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=3153&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3127&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

12 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D3:  
Optimising 

achievement of 
intended 
outcomes  

 

  

 

 

 
 

 Ensuring the medium term 
financial strategy integrates and 
balances service priorities, 
affordability and other resource 
constraints.  
 

 Ensuring the budgeting process 
is all-inclusive, taking into 
account the full cost of 
operations over the medium and 
longer term.  

 

 Ensuring the medium term 
financial strategy sets the context 
for on-going decisions on 
significant delivery issues or 
responses to changes in the 
external environment that may 
arise during the budgetary period 
in order for outcomes to be 
achieved while optimising 
resource usage.  

 

 Ensuring the achievement of 
‘social value’ through service 
planning and commissioning. 
 

 
In the spirit of the principles and standards within CIPFA’s Financial Management Code, 
underpinning all plans and partnerships is the council’s commitment to sound financial 
planning. The council operates within a strict financial and regulatory environment. The 
council’s financial planning arrangements ensure that finances remain sustainable and robust, 
and that both revenue and capital resources are aligned with the key policy objectives. This 
future planning, aimed at resourcing the achievement of core objectives, is evidenced through 
the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. The core principles underlying the MTFS are 
outlined at D2: Planning interventions.  
 
In setting out the financial context facing the council, the MTFS identifies the pressure the 
General Fund is facing over the period. To bridge the resourcing gap which has been identified, 
the MTFS has put in place a number of strategies to ensure that it is able to optimise income 
generation, be innovative in the delivery of services and ensure that resources are 
appropriately focused on the needs and aspirations for the borough. As part of its plans to 
diversify its income stream and secure quality services for local residents, in 2019-20 the 
council established its first Local Authority Trading Company enabling it to provide commercial 
services to the public and local businesses with profits helping fund frontline services. 
 
Evidencing the successful approach to financial management, the External Auditors for the 
council conducted an annual audit of the council’s Statement of Accounts, with their findings 
published and reported to the Finance & Audit Committee. 
 

The council has an effective Corporate Procurement Strategy which acts as the foundation on 
which the authority’s approach to procurement is based. Related to this, the council’s contract 
process terms and conditions emphasise the requirement for providers to deliver contracted 
services on behalf of the council in line with ethical standards expected by government 
legislation. In regards to ‘social value’, as part of its procurement strategy, the council has 
committed to;  

“Ensure all tenders include consideration of the social value act to encourage opportunities for 
local employment, local supply chain, apprenticeships and reduced carbon emissions.”  

 

 
 
 

P
age 84

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/f/financial-management-code
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/financial-strategy
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3127&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

13 | P a g e  
 

 

Core Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E1:  
Developing the 
entity’s capacity  

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 

 Reviewing operations, 
performance and use of assets 
on a regular basis to ensure their 
continuing effectiveness.  
 

 Improving resource use through 
appropriate application of 
techniques such as 
benchmarking and other options 
in order to determine how 
resources are allocated so that 
defined outcomes are achieved 
effectively and efficiently. 
 

 Recognising the benefits of 
partnerships and collaborative 
working where added value can 
be achieved. 

 

 Developing and maintaining an 
effective workforce plan to 
enhance the strategic allocation 
of resources. 
 

 
The council has a number of mechanisms in place with which to ensure its continued 
development, ranging from an Asset Management Plan through to a Workforce Development 
Plan. These controls are in place to improve use of resources now and into the future.  
 
One such example, and in support of the council’s adopted Corporate Plan objective #3: 
Progress, is the council’s ‘Service Review’ programme. The aim of the programme is to review 
each of the council’s services in order to determine if the services are being delivered in the 
most efficient way and to investigate potential income generating and commercial opportunities. 
 
A key component of this programme has been to put in place a benchmarking process whereby 
the council compares itself on both core output performance and on a financial expenditure 
basis against a suite of similar authorities, identified via the ‘nearest neighbour’ CIPFA tool, with 
the results shared with the council’s Management Team. A key part of the council’s ‘Bridging 
the Gap’ strategy, the findings from the programme of reviews will have a significant bearing on 
the shape of services in future years in terms of the model of service delivery (e.g. shared 
services), with the principle of securing value for money for local residents at the forefront of 
any Members decisions. As at end of 2019-20, £1.27m of the programme’s identified saving 
target of £1.43m had been fully identified and reflected in the Medium Term Financial Plan.   

On an officer level, the council has a Workforce Development Plan in place.  The plan has a 
focus on management development and succession planning with the following key priorities: 

 Organisational development; 

 Leadership development; 

 Skills Development; 

 Recruitment & retention; and 

 Pay & rewards. 

As a key part of its IiP action plan and commitment to being an ‘employer of choice’, the council 
is scheduled to review its Workforce Development Plan in 2020-21 to ensure it is in line with the 
ambitions and objectives for the authority. See E2: Developing the capability of the entity’s 
leadership and other individuals. 

P
age 85



Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

14 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E2:  
Developing the 
capability of the 

entity’s leadership 
and other 
individuals  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 
 

 Publishing a statement that 
specifies the types of decisions 
that are delegated and those 
reserved for the collective 
decision making of the governing 
body. 
 
 

 Developing protocols to ensure 
that elected and appointed 
leaders negotiate with each other 
regarding their respective roles 
early on in the relationship and 
that a shared understanding of 
roles and objectives is 
maintained.  
 

 

 Ensuring the leader and the chief 
executive have clearly defined 
and distinctive leadership roles 
within a structure whereby the 
chief executive leads in 
implementing strategy and 
managing the delivery of 
services and other outputs set by 
members and each provides a 
check and a balance for each 
other’s authority. 
 

 

A scheme of delegation is in place and is held within Annex 1 of the Constitution. The scheme 
is considered annually and was re-issued and agreed at Annual Council in May 2019. The 
scheme sets out responsibilities of the council and the responsibilities delegated to relevant 
committees such as the Finance and Audit Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

The council has appointed a full-time Chief Executive who is also the Head of Paid Service.  
The council’s Constitution (Annex 1 - Section 1.12 – Proper Officers) clearly defines the 
responsibilities of the Chief Executive. 

The Chief Executive and the Leader of the council have weekly one-to-one meetings as part of 
a range of regular communication.   

With the council having adopted its strategic objectives via its Corporate Plan, the council’s 
Corporate Management Team is tasked with implementing this political direction and has a 
number of methods in place to achieve this.  The Corporate Management Team consists of the 
Chief Executive, Directors and includes the appointed Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring 
Officer (or nominated deputies as required).  

Additionally, Wider Management Team meetings have continued in 2019-20 consisting of the 
Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers, with meetings scheduled 
once a month.  Information from these meetings is then disseminated to officers within the 
departments through the PMF arrangement.  In addition, the agendas and minutes of all 
Management Team meetings are accessible to the entire Wider Management Team to ensure 
that all senior managers are able to build a wider knowledge and understanding of the work that 
is being undertaken across the authority. 

Regular meetings are also held between the Leader and a number of key officers throughout 
the organisation, including the Chief Executive, Directors, Section 151 Officer and Service 
Managers.  Through these meetings the Leader is able to ensure that he is kept up-to-date on 
key projects and issues and provide the political leadership direction as required. Other Lead 
Members also hold briefings with a number of officers that provide the services within their 
portfolio of responsibilities to ensure there is an understanding of both officer and Member 
needs throughout the organisation.  

 
 
 

P
age 86

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480&_ga=1.219256345.1611943182.1471595157
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=3070&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480&_ga=1.219256345.1611943182.1471595157


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

15 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E2:  
Developing the 
capability of the 

entity’s leadership 
and other 
individuals  

[cont.] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Developing the capabilities of 
members and senior 
management to achieve effective 
leadership and to enable the 
organisation to respond 
successfully to changing legal 
and policy demands as well as 
economic, political and 
environmental changes and risks 
by:  
o ensuring members and staff 

have access to appropriate 
induction tailored to their role 
and that on-going training 
and development matching 
individual and organisational 
requirements is available 
and encouraged; 

o ensuring members and 
officers have the appropriate 
skills, knowledge, resources 
and support to fulfil their 
roles and responsibilities and 
ensuring that they are able 
to continually update their 
knowledge;  

o ensuring personal, 
organisational and system-
wide development through 
shared learning, including 
lessons learnt from 
governance weaknesses 
both internal and external. 

 
 
 

In regards to sustainable senior officer and Member development, the council has a variety of 
initiatives in place to ensure the authority can continue to thrive in the challenging and changing 
legal and policy environment. 

At an officer level, the council has put in place an induction process which covers generic 
corporate issues and is completed for all new starters.  The process also includes the 
distribution of corporate policies identified for reading and formal sign-off. This ensures that new 
starters not only receive service specific training but also get an understanding of the corporate 
organisation and their responsibilities.  In addition, the council has also introduced a staff 
handbook which is provided to all new members of staff and outlines the code of conduct and 
other key information.  

In addition, specific inductions are arranged for those officers who are ‘front-line’.  Those 
officers working within the council’s operational services (refuse collectors, street cleansers 
etc.) go through a specific induction programme which is tailored to their roles within the council 
prior to commencing their duties. 

In addition, all officers that are undertaking shared or joint-working initiatives at GBC must go 
through a ‘Shared Services Induction’ checklist. 

In terms of assessment and development, in line with the council’s PMF, appraisals are to be 
carried out every year for all officers and half-yearly reviews are also carried out as required.  
Through this officers are able to assess the levels of performance being realised and, equally, 
highlight any additional training needs they require in order to meet set targets.  These can also 
be picked up through the regular one-to-ones that occur during the year.  
 
A small number of appraisals were not completed in 2019-20 as recognised by the ‘Manager 
Assurance Statements’ that form part of this governance review process. The importance of 
performance appraisal and personal development is to be confirmed in the council’s new 
Workforce Development Plan, a key part of the established IiP action plan scheduled for 2020-
21, delivery of which will form a core AGS recommendation (see E2: below).  
 
The council has a defined training budget available which covers qualification training, non-
qualification training and Continuous Professional Development (CPD).  This enables the 
council to respond to training needs which come about not only through staff turnover and 
continued development, but also changes in legislation, such as the requirement for persons 
involved in civil enforcement to be properly qualified. In addition, each year Service Managers 
provide a detailed plan for their own individual services within their Service Business Plan and 
includes a number of officers on professional training qualifications e.g. accountancy. 
 

P
age 87



Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

16 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E2:  
Developing the 
capability of the 

entity’s leadership 
and other 
individuals  

[cont.] 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Holding staff to account through 
regular performance reviews 
which take account of training or 
development needs. 

 

 Ensuring arrangements are in 
place to maintain the health and 
wellbeing of the workforce and 
support individuals in maintaining 
their own physical and mental 
wellbeing.  
 

 Taking steps to consider the 
leadership’s own effectiveness 
and ensuring leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer 
review/inspections.  
 

 Ensuring that there are 
structures in place to encourage 
public participation. 
 
  

To ensure officers and Members have appropriate knowledge of changing legislative demands 
on the authority, monthly policy briefings are provided to the council’s Wider Management 
Team that provide a summary of all recent policy announcements and consultations from 
central government.  This is supplemented by a half-yearly legislative briefing to Management 
Team that analyses significant legislative changes introduced by the government.  
 
On a less formal level, the council has introduced an internal newsletter (Our Borough) that is 
distributed monthly and helps provide a further layer of key messages for all staff ranging from 
legislative changes through to opportunities for personal health development. At a Member 
level a similar informal product (Member’s Bulletin) is provided to outline key developments in 
the council and opportunities for engaging with the community at various forums, as well as 
Member training and development sessions.  
 
In order to enable Members to have the knowledge base with which to carry out effective 
decision making and scrutiny, an annual training and development plan is delivered. This was 
especially important in 2019-20 given the large number of new Members to the council 
following the local elections in May 2019. A mixture of statutory, formal and awareness/ 
educational sessions, the comprehensive programme is tailored to meet all needs.  

 
Underpinning all efforts in terms of workforce capability is the council’s commitment to the 
Investors in People (IiP) accreditation. NOTE: In its latest assessment in 2019-20, the council 
secured a ‘Silver’ accreditation. A detailed action plan is in place to work towards implementing 
key milestones from the review process in 2020-21 and will form a key AGS recommendation.  
 
More broadly, the council is committed to promoting the physical and mental health and 
wellbeing of the workforce through specific interventions and opportunities, forming a central 
part of the role of all managers. There is a dedicated intranet page with a wide range of support 
and guidance for staff and their managers covering a wide range of health and wellbeing topics 
e.g. Employee Assistance Programme, The Gr@nd’s health programmes. 
NOTE: A number of managers reported the absence of health and safety work assessments in 
2019-20. In light of the rapidly evolving Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on the ‘new 
workplace’, a DSE programme for the working environment in 2020-21 will present as an AGS 
recommendation.  
 
The council’s arrangements for community consultation and how that feeds into local policy 
development is set out in this review document at B3: Engaging with individual citizens and 
service users effectively to this review document. 

P
age 88

https://www.investorsinpeople.com/
http://gbcstaff/intranet/health-and-well-being/


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

17 | P a g e  
 

 

Core Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

F1:  
Managing risk 

  

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Recognising that risk 
management is an integral part 
of all activities and must be 
considered in all aspects of 
decision making.  
 

 Implementing robust and 
integrated risk management 
arrangements and ensuring that 
they are working effectively. 

 

 Ensuring that responsibilities for 
managing individual risks are 
clearly allocated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The council expects volatility and risk in the environment in which it operates. The council has a 
long-established process in place to identify the principal risks that may influence or impact on 
the delivery of services. The risk management process requires judgements to be made on the 
likelihood and impact of a potential risk and enables the council to develop and implement 
appropriate controls to manage or mitigate these risks to reduce the impact on the council.  

Monitoring risk is an on-going process and compliments all council projects and day to day 
business. At a corporate level, an annual review is undertaken of both the council’s Risk 
Management Strategy and the Corporate Risk Register.  

In March 2011 it was agreed by Cabinet that the Risk Management Strategy would only be 
presented for approval if it was subject to updates and amendments resulting in material 
changes to the strategy. The review conducted in 2019-20 identified that no updates were 
required to the Strategy. The revised Strategy was approved by Cabinet.  

Informing the Corporate Risk Register, each service area must also consider risks as part of the 
business planning, project management and other corporate processes and, equally, also 
identify relevant actions and controls to put in place to mitigate identified operational risks. 

Additionally all committee reports include an appendix that identifies the ‘implications’ of any 
decisions being recommended through the report, including an assessment of risk. This 
appendix is also included in formal reports to the Corporate Management Team. 

P
age 89

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=3116&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

18 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

F2:  
Managing 

performance 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 Monitoring service delivery 
effectively including planning, 
specification, execution and 
independent review. 
 

 Providing members and senior 
management with regular reports 
on service delivery plans and on 
progress towards outcome 
achievement. 
 

 Making decisions based on 
relevant, clear objective analysis 
and advice pointing out the 
implications and risks inherent in 
the organisation’s financial, 
social and environmental position 
and outlook. 

 

 Ensuring an effective scrutiny or 
oversight function is in place 
which provides constructive 
challenge and debate on policies 
and objectives before, during and 
after decisions are made thereby 
enhancing the organisation’s 
performance and that of any 
organisation for which it is 
responsible.  
 

 Ensuring there is consistency 
between specification stages 
(such as budgets) and post 
implementation reporting (e.g. 
financial statements).  
 

An effective PMF is vital to the success of any organisation in delivering consistently high 
quality services to local residents. The Corporate Plan, designed in consideration of community 
need and consultation, presented a new PMF allowing the council to evaluate if it is effectively 
achieving against each of the stated corporate objectives. On a quarterly basis formal 
qualitative and quantitate performance reports are presented to the appropriate Cabinet 
Committee enabling scrutiny in the performance of the council’s key frontline services. This is 
supported by quarterly publications of the council’s performance via Your Borough and the 
council’s website. Completing the reporting cycle, the council also reports details of the year-
end outturns for the framework in its Annual Performance Report. 
  
The PMF is further enhanced with a suite of ‘comparative’ indicators. This product, presented to 
the Corporate Management Team, sees the council’s core performance and financial indicators 
benchmarked against identified ‘nearest neighbour’ authorities. The findings of this intelligence 
enable the Corporate Management Team to take action as part of its budget and business 
planning to ensure continued service improvement.   

All committee reports to Members in 2019-20 were drafted with explicit consideration of the 
financial implications of any decision along with other implications including; Corporate Plan 
objectives, s11 of the Children Act 2004 and an assessment of risk.  Therefore any decisions 
that would impact on for example Objective 1 – People, which features policy commitments 
relating to the environment, would be presented with a risk impact assessment of the decision 
to the broader health of the local environment.  
 
Annex 1 of the Constitution sets out the responsibilities of the council and the responsibilities 
delegated to committees including the responsibilities of the Overview Scrutiny committee.  The 
Overview Scrutiny Committee meets on a monthly basis, with agendas, minutes and details of 
Membership published to the council’s website. The committee is chaired by the Leader of the 
Opposition and the committee is able to ‘call-in’ decisions from the Cabinet in order for them to 
be further scrutinised.  The Overview Scrutiny Committee has an established work plan process 
to provide a framework for the activities of the Committee. In 2019-20, the following reviews 
were initiated; Street Cleansing and Maritime Strategy with the findings and recommendations 
to be reported back to Committee Members. 

Annex 2 of the Constitution sets out the Financial Procedure Rules for the council. This 
provides a framework to the development of the Budget, arrangements and controls for 
budgetary control, and the end stage of auditing of the council’s accounts. The council’s 
transparency webpage includes details of the Civic Budget Book and the published financial 
statements, along with a series of core financial policies. 

P
age 90

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480&_ga=1.219256345.1611943182.1471595157
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=105&Year=0
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480&_ga=1.219256345.1611943182.1471595157
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

19 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

F3:  
Robust internal 

control 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Aligning the risk management 
strategy and policies on internal 
control with achieving objectives.  
 

 Evaluating and monitoring risk 
management and internal control 
on a regular basis. 

 

 Ensuring effective counter fraud 
and anti-corruption arrangements 
are in place.  

 

 Ensuring additional assurance on 
the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the framework of 
governance, risk management 
and control is provided by the 
internal auditor.  

 

 Ensuring an audit committee or 
equivalent group/ function, which 
is independent of the executive 
and accountable to the governing 
body:  

 
o provides a further source 

of effective assurance 
regarding arrangements 
for managing risk and 
maintaining an effective 
control environment; 

o that its recommendations 
are listened to and acted 
upon. 

 

 
The purpose of the council’s Risk Management Strategy is; “to embed risk management into 
the daily operations of the council. Good risk management will lead to good 
management, good performance, good stewardship of public money, good public 
engagement and, ultimately, good outcomes for citizens and service users.”  

The strategy is reviewed and updated annually and presented to Cabinet when substantial 
changes are required.  

In practice, in conjunction with the corporate risk register, operational risks to the achievement 
of the council’s core objectives are captured as part of the business planning process which 
also ensures detailed actions are put in place to mitigate such risk. 

Annex 1 of the Constitution sets out the responsibilities of the council and the responsibilities 
delegated to committees including the Finance and Audit Committee which has a responsibility 
to; “monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the authority”. This 
responsibility helps strengthen the council’s risk management arrangements through close 
scrutiny of the management actions specified in the Corporate Risk Register and enhanced 
contribution to the development of the annual Corporate Risk Register. As such, in monitoring 
the council’s risks the Finance and Audit Committee oversee a mid-year review of the 
Corporate Risk Register, offering Members the opportunity to both review existing risks and the 
work being delivered to mitigate, and to suggest the addition of new risks for consideration.  

The council’s Internal Audit and Counter Fraud team is delivered through a shared service with 
Medway Council. The service has put in place a formal strategy to outline the core objectives of 
its work for the 2019-20 period. In delivering against this strategy, and in order to comply with 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the service presented an Audit and Counter Fraud 
Plan for 2019-20, approved by the Finance and Audit Committee. The Plan includes details of 
resources dedicated to deliver a programme of planned audit work to assist both councils in 
strengthening their internal control environments, and proactive counter fraud work conducting 
investigations into referrals received and frauds identified. In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
the team has undertaken a role to identify all amendments to internal control mechanisms 
introduced by the Corporate Management Team. In doing so these are able to be effectively 
monitored and that future revisions to policies and processes are carried out.  

The Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Whistleblowing Policy are both available on the 
council’s website and in 2019-20 were distributed to officers via the NETconsent system, and 
the manual sign-up process for officers without IT access.  

P
age 91

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3129&Ver=4
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=2916&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

20 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

F4:  
Managing data 

  

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Ensuring effective arrangements 
are in place for the safe 
collection, storage, use and 
sharing of data, including 
processes to safeguard personal 
data. 
 

 Ensuring effective arrangements 
are in place and operating 
effectively when sharing data 
with other bodies. 

 

 Reviewing and auditing regularly 
the quality and accuracy of data 
used in decision making and 
performance monitoring.  
 

Gravesham Borough Council collects, holds and uses data about people and organisations with 
whom it deals with in order to conduct its business. As part of the council’s governance control 
arrangements therefore, the council’s Data Protection Policy outlines the scope of the agenda 
and the measures the council has in place to mitigate the risk of data breaches. Refreshed to 
account for the implications of the Data Protection Act 2018, the policy also sets out the 
appointed Data Protection officers charged with promoting the policy and monitoring 
compliance. As part of the council’s work to enhance the level of governance control in this 
area, all formal decisions and committee reports require consideration of the need for a relevant 
data impact assessment. 

The council makes information available to the public via the information access regime 
provided for by the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations (EIR) 2004. Individuals may also access their own personal data by exercising the 
right of subject access under the Data Protection Act 1998.  
 
The council complies with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 by publishing 
accurate data within appropriate time frames in the areas mandated by the Code to the 
council’s website.  

 
The council has also committed as a signatory to the current Kent and Medway Information 
Sharing Agreement. The main purpose of the agreement is to provide services in Kent and 
Medway with a best practice framework for the governance and exchange of personal and 
sensitive data. Procedures on how to comply with the framework, including relevant 
administrative arrangements are made available to council officers as required.  
 
This agenda is overseen by the council’s Information Governance Group, chaired by the 
Director (Corporate Services), the council’s appointed Senior Information Risk Officer. 

 
More broadly, the council is dedicated to continually seeking to improve the scope and quality 
of its data to support good decision-making and improved service outcomes. Central to this is 
the council’s PMF that makes clear the council’s commitment and arrangements to ensuring 
good data quality. Arrangements put in place by the policy include the annual verification of 
performance data.  
 
Collectively these processes ensure the most accurate and up to date performance information, 
vital for decision making purposes at Corporate Management Team and Member level.   

 

P
age 92

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data
http://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/access-to-information/information-sharing
http://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/access-to-information/information-sharing


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

21 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

F5:  
Strong public 

financial 
management 

  

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Ensuring financial management 
supports both long term 
achievement of outcomes and 
short-term financial and 
operational performance. 
 

 Ensuring well-developed 
financial management is 
integrated at all levels of 
planning and control, including 
management of financial risks 
and controls. 

The council’s financial planning arrangements ensure that finances remain sustainable and 
robust and that both revenue and capital resources are aligned with the key policy objectives.  
This future planning, aimed at resourcing the achievement of core objectives is evidenced 
through the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.   
 
In setting out the financial context facing the council, the MTFS identifies the pressure the 
General Fund is facing over the period. To bridge the resourcing gap which has been identified, 
the MTFS has put in place a number of strategies (Bridging the Gap, Change Strategy, 
enhanced use of benchmarking analysis) to ensure that it is able to optimise income 
generation, be innovative in the delivery of services and ensure that resources are 
appropriately focused on the needs and aspirations for the borough. 
 
Within the council’s financial planning are a number of more short-term controls to manage the 
council’s finances in line with achieving adopted corporate objectives: 

 The Civic Budget Book for the council sets out the budgetary requirements for the year 
and is agreed annually. It is published on the council’s website for public review. 
Monitoring controls are in place, with quarterly budget monitoring reports presented to 
the Cabinet and Finance and Audit Committee.  

 A set of Financial Statements are produced for each financial year. The Statement of 
Accounts summarises the council’s financial performance during the year and includes 
key financial statements supported by notes. Evidencing the successful approach to 
financial management, the External Auditors for the council conducted an annual audit 
of the Statement of Accounts, with their findings published and reported to the Finance 
& Audit Committee. 

 The council has adopted CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code 
of Practice  2017, producing an annual Treasury Management Report (including the 
Annual Investment Strategy Report) and an annual Treasury Management Review 
report outlining treasury management activities and performance for the previous year. 
The council also submits regular in-year treasury management monitoring reports to 
the Finance & Audit Committee. 

 
The s151 Officer ensures that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, proper 
financial records and accounts are kept, and oversees an effective system of financial control.  
 
Annex 2 of the Constitution sets out the Financial Procedure Rules for the council. This 
provides a framework to the development of the Budget, arrangements and controls for 
budgetary control, and the end stage of auditing of the council’s accounts. 

P
age 93

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/financial-strategy
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/budgets-and-budget-monitoring
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/statement-of-accounts
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3127&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3127&Ver=4
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2017-edition-online
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2017-edition-online
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3130&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3126&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480&_ga=1.219256345.1611943182.1471595157


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

22 | P a g e  
 

Core Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

G1:  
Implementing 

good practice in 
transparency  

 

  

 

 

 Writing and communicating 
reports for the public and other 
stakeholders in an 
understandable style appropriate 
to the intended audience and 
ensuring that they are easy to 
access and interrogate.  
 

 Striking a balance between 
providing the right amount of 
information to satisfy 
transparency demands and 
enhance public scrutiny while not 
being too onerous to provide and 
for users to understand.  

The council continues to be committed to the government’s transparency agenda and is 
compliant with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015.   

A specific section of the council’s website has been created in order to enable the publication of 
a number of key data sets and formal reports including: 

 Senior Staff Salaries & Organisation chart; 

 Procurement and contracts data;  

 Civic Budget Book and Financial Statements; 

 Pay Policy Statement; and 

 Member Allowances. 

 

 

 

 

 

G2:  
Implementing 

good practices in 
reporting  

 

 
 

 Reporting at least annually on 
performance, value for money 
and the stewardship of its 
resources. 
 

 Ensuring the performance 
information that accompanies the 
financial statements is prepared 
on a consistent and timely basis 
and the statements allow for 
comparison with other similar 
organisations.  
 

 Ensuring members and senior 
management own the results. 
 

The council’s website forms an essential part in delivering the council’s commitment to 
openness and transparency in how it conducts its business.  Reports available via the Council’s 
Transparency webpage include; 

 Annual Report: Alongside the quarterly performance monitoring reports, published via 
Cabinet Committee agendas and summarised in Your Borough publications, the 
council also produces an Annual Report to complete the performance reporting 
process. In 2019-20 the council therefore published its Annual Report for 2018-19. 

 Financial Statements: The Statement of Accounts, produced each year, summarises 
the council’s financial performance during the year and includes key financial 
statements supported by notes. The Statement of Accounts also includes a dedicated 
section to performance management. The presented performance indicators have been 
selected not only to evidence the link between the resourcing of the council against the 
delivery of its core objectives but, as nationally recognised indicators reported to 
government, to enable accurate performance benchmarking against comparative 
authorities.  

 Evidencing the successful approach to financial management, the External Auditors for 
the council conducted an annual audit of the council’s Statement of Accounts, with their 
findings published and reported to the Finance & Audit Committee.  

P
age 94

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/statement-of-accounts
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3127&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

23 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 
 

 

G2:  
Implementing 

good practices in 
reporting  

[cont.] 

 

 
 

 Ensuring robust arrangements 
for assessing the extent to which 
the principles contained in the 
Framework have been applied 
and publishing the results on this 
assessment including an action 
plan for improvement and 
evidence to demonstrate good 
governance. 

 
 

 Ensuring that the Framework is 
applied to jointly managed or 
shared service organisations as 
appropriate.  
 

The council has adopted a Code of Corporate Governance (the Code). The Code acts as the 
cornerstone to the council’s governance framework by which it is accountable to its users and 
wider community stakeholders. Within that framework, the Code sets out a commitment as to 
how the council carries out its functions, and the procedures and processes by which it 
undertakes to deliver the adopted Corporate Objectives. 
 
The Code is subject to annual review and ensures governance arrangements are consistent 
with the core governance principles as set out in the 'Delivering Good Governance' framework, 
published by CIPFA/SOLACE. The framework published in 2016 resulted in a new code for the 
authority, approved by Full Council. 
 
The council reviews its governance arrangements on an annual basis, culminating in the 
production of an Annual Governance Statement (AGS), approved by the Finance and Audit 
Committee. The review extends to the council’s shared services as relevant assurance 
statements from service managers are secured as part of the review process. 
 
The AGS includes a detailed action plan setting out milestones for the year to deliver actions 
aimed at further strengthening governance controls. The council’s AGS and further details of 
the authority’s governance arrangements can be found here. 
 

 

 

 

 

G3:  
Assurance and 

effective 
accountability  

 

 

 

 Ensuring that recommendations 
for corrective action made by 
external audit are acted upon. 
  

 Ensuring an effective internal 
audit service with direct access 
to members is in place which 
provides assurance with regard 
to governance arrangements and 
recommendations are acted 
upon.  

 

 Welcoming peer challenge, 
reviews and inspections from 
regulatory bodies and 
implementing recommendations. 

In line with the published CIPFA guidance, as part of the annual review of governance controls, 
a specific assurance statement was completed by the Head of Internal Audit to demonstrate 
how the council has complied with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal 
Audit in Public Service Organisations. This was complimented by the s151 Officer completing a 
specific ‘Chief Financial Officer’ assurance statement which sets out how the council has 
complied with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government, as well as how the council has met its Section 151 obligations as set out within 
the Constitution. 
 
There were no issues of concern raised by either the Chief Financial Officer or the Head of 
Internal Audit. These statements form a key part of the annual review of governance control 
arrangements, the basis of the council’s AGS. The AGS was presented to and approved by the 
Finance and Audit Committee in June 2019.  
 
The annual report from the Local Government Ombudsman is also considered by the Finance 
and Audit Committee. 

P
age 95

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3126&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3126&Ver=4
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-governance
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit?crdm=0
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit?crdm=0
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3126&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3128&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3128&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2019-20 

24 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 

 

 

 

G3:  
Assurance and 

effective 
accountability  

[cont.] 

 

 
 

 
 

 Gaining assurance on risks 
associated with delivering 
services through third parties and 
that this is evidenced in the 
annual governance statement.  

 
 Ensuring that when working in 

partnership, arrangements for 
accountability are clear and that 
the need for wider public 
accountability has been 
recognised and met. 
 

 
In 2019-20, the council undertook a LGA peer challenge exercise. The team’s report was 
published in January 2020 and presented to Cabinet in February 2020.  
 
Amongst its core recommendations that have been formulated into a detailed action plan, the 
peer team found Gravesham to be a well-run council with a proactive approach to dealing with 
the financial challenges of the last decade. The council has sound finances and is well placed 
to deal with the challenges ahead. 
 
A report will be brought back to Cabinet in February 2021 to provide an update to Members on 
progress against the action plan. 

  
The council has in place a robust Working in Partnership Framework which is the central point 
of reference in developing new partnerships for the council, linking the formation of new 
partnership working opportunities to the delivery of the Corporate Plan’s objectives.  
The framework outlines a procedure for managing partnerships that includes a pledge in 
‘Maintaining Ethical Standards’. This sets out what is expected of Members, officers and 
external parties in terms of working in partnership and specifically a commitment to 
“Accountability: They should be accountable to the public for their actions and the manner in 
which they carry out their responsibilities, and should co-operate fully and honestly with any 
scrutiny appropriate to their particular office.” 
 

 
 

 
References 
 
CIPFA/Solace:  
- Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
- The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 
- The role of the head of internal audit in public sector organisations 
 
Gravesham Borough Council: Code of Corporate Governance 
 

 

P
age 96

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=3114&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=2965&Ver=4


DELIVERING A GRAVESHAM TO BE PROUD OFDelivering a Gravesham to be proud of

A N N U A L  G O V E R N A N C E
S T A T E M E N T

2  0  1  9  -  2 0

P
age 97



Contents 

1: Introduction 

2-3: Definition & Environment

4-5: Vision & Performance

6: Finance 

7-8: Audit & Risk

9-10: Partnerships & Transparency

11: Trading 

12-13: Review & Covid-19

14: Plan 

1: Introduction

Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) is responsible for undertaking its 

business in accordance with the law and proper standards. In doing so, it 

needs to ensure that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for 

and used economically, efficiently and effectively.   

In discharging this overall responsibility GBC has established its Code of 

Corporate Governance, which sets out a commitment as to how the 

council carries out its functions; the procedures, processes and control 

environment by which it undertakes to deliver its corporate objectives. 

Approved by Full Council and adopted into the council’s Constitution, the 

Code of Corporate Governance is designed to be consistent with the 

principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; Delivering Good 

Governance in Local Government.   

Assessed against the council’s adopted Code of Corporate Governance, in 

compliance with section 6 (1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 

2015 this Annual Governance Statement (AGS) presents the key themes 

and findings of an annual review into the effectiveness of the council’s  

governance framework and system of internal control in 2019-20.  

In its delivery, GBC has equally demonstrated its compliance with the 

requirements of section 6 (1)(b) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 

2015 in relation to the presentation of an AGS for the authority in 2019-20. 

P
age 98



2: Definition 

The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, 

cultures and values that direct and control the council, and its 

activities, through which it accounts to, engages with, and leads the 

community.  It enables the council to monitor the achievement of its 

corporate objectives and to consider whether those objectives led to 

the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. 

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework 

and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot 

eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives, and

can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness.  The system of internal control is based on an ongoing 

process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement 

of the council’s policies, aims and objectives, and evaluate the

likelihood of those risks being realised and the associated tangible 
impact, in order to manage them efficiently, effectively and

economically. 

The governance framework outlined in this AGS has been in place at 

GBC for the year ended 31 March 2020. 

3: Environment 

The council’s policy setting and decision making process is presented in 

its Constitution, with Full Council identified as the ultimate decision-making 

body. Cabinet is responsible for most day-to-day decisions within the 

policy framework, ultimately subject to review by the Overview Scrutiny

Committee.   

The Constitution also details the council’s internal financial control 

framework, including comprehensive contract procedure rules, financial 

procedure rules and the scheme of delegation.  Essential to the 

discharging of the internal control environment are these appointed roles:

 Chief Executive: a full-time appointment and the Head of Paid
Service, with overall responsibility for the management of council
employees. The Chief Executive is required to report to Council as
appropriate with regard to the way in which the overall discharge
by the authority of its different functions is coordinated.

 Section 151 Officer: the s151 officer is the Director (Corporate
Services) and the Deputy Section 151 Officer is the Assistant
Director (Corporate Services). The Section 151 Officer has
completed a specific ‘Chief Financial Officer’ assurance statement,
which sets out how the council has complied with CIPFA’s Role of
the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government in 2019-20, as well
as how it has met its Section 151 obligations.

 Monitoring Officer: ensures the lawfulness and integrity of the
council’s decision-making processes, supports the work of the
Standards Committee and the investigation and reporting on
issues that embrace all aspects of the authority’s governance.

P
age 99

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government


4: Vision 

The council has in place a corporate vision for the borough. As a clear 

statement of the organisation’s purpose, to work towards this vision the 

council has an established Corporate Plan 2019-23.  

Designed on an extensive evidence base, including a community 

consultation, a community needs study, and the primary aims of the 

elected administration’s manifesto, the Corporate Plan identified three

clearly defined objectives, each supported by a series of policy 

commitments, to provide a framework for the council’s activities:  

 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe,

clean borough their home;

 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive

local economy taking advantage of growth in the area,

supported by its strong and active community; and

 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook

and committed to continuous service improvement,

underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance

environment.

As defined by its Constitution, in October 2019 the Corporate Plan was 
adopted by Full Council into the authority’s Policy Framework.

Departmental business plans are established to translate the corporate 

objectives into appropriately planned and resourced strategies, projects 

and interventions; the operational delivery of the Corporate Plan.  

It is the elected Members of the council who are ultimately responsible 

for the delivery of the council’s corporate objectives and this is 

facilitated through the strong communication channels between 

Members and officers, as evident in 2019-20.

5: Performance 

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan presented a new Performance 

Management Framework (PMF), allowing the authority to critically evaluate 

progress against its stated objectives, provide industry intelligence to drive 

service transformation and, for residents, it delivers genuine scrutiny in 

how successfully the council is administering its resources.  

Central to the delivery of the PMF is a commitment to a transparent 

performance monitoring and reporting process at all levels, both in regards 

to the authority and the personal development of officers, a pledge
successfully realised in 2019-20. 

Formal qualitative and quantitate performance reporting takes place at 

different times and to different audiences in order to ensure fully informed 

policy decision making:  

 Quarterly: performance reports of all tiers of indicators to
Corporate Management Team (CMT). Subsequently reported to
Cabinet and individual Cabinet Committees for consideration and
scrutiny, prior to publishing on the council’s digital platforms and
Your Borough magazine.

 Yearly: publication of an Annual Performance Report, including all
performance indicators and an outline of relevant achievements
directly contributing to the council’s corporate objectives.

More broadly, the council’s business planning process specifically links in 

the activities of the individual departments, and those of individual officers, 

with the corporate objectives of the council providing a ‘golden thread’; an 

understanding of how each officer contributes to the council’s objectives 

and, ultimately, the delivery of its vision for the borough.  

P
age 100

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan


6: Finance 

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a council to 

ensure that one of its officers has responsibility for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs.  During 2019-20, this 

responsibility was held by the Director (Corporate Services) with a 

Deputy Section 151 officer also appointed - Assistant Director 

(Corporate Services).  The council’s financial management 

arrangements conform to the governance requirements of CIPFA’s 

Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government. 

In terms of its financial controls, in compliance with the principles and 

standards within CIPFA’s Financial Management Code the council 

has in place a 10-year Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which 

sets out the forecasted budget for the authority over the period. This

is supported by the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), which 

outlines how the council wants to structure and manage its finances in 

full consideration of the successful delivery of the established 
corporate objectives. Due to significant external factors (e.g.
impending Spending Review) Full Council took the decision in 

2019-20 to adopt a new one-year MTFS for 2020-21. 

Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers are responsible 

for the financial management of service areas within the council, 

which includes the effective monitoring of financial performance 

against budget. 

Throughout 2019-20, the council utilised a number of short-term 
controls to directly manage its finances in line with the delivery of the 
adopted corporate objectives:

 The Civic Budget Book sets out the budgetary requirements for the

year and is agreed annually before its online publication. Monitoring

controls are in place, with quarterly budget monitoring reports

presented to Cabinet and Finance & Audit Committee.

 Regular budget monitoring took place in 2019-20 in order to manage
the council’s Net Revenue Budget position for both the General Fund
and Housing Revenue Account.  Regular meetings were held
between officers and the Cabinet Portfolio Holders to discuss any
specific budget issues and budget monitoring reports were presented
to Cabinet and the Finance & Audit Committee on a quarterly basis
throughout 2019-20.

 A set of Financial Statements are produced for each financial year.

The Statement of Accounts summarises the council’s financial

performance during the year and includes key financial statements.

Evidencing the successful approach to financial management, the

council’s external auditors conducted an annual audit of the

Statement of Accounts, with the findings published and reported to

the Finance & Audit Committee.

 The council has adopted CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the

Public Services: Code of Practice, producing an annual

Treasury Management Report (including the Annual Investment

Strategy Report) and an annual Treasury Management Review

outlining relevant activities and performance for the previous year.

The council also submits regular in-year treasury management

monitoring reports to the Finance & Audit Committee.

P
age 101

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/f/financial-management-code
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/budgets-and-budget-monitoring
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/statement-of-accounts
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3127&Ver=4
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2017-edition-online
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3126&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=3130&Ver=4


7: Audit 

The council has a shared Internal Audit and Counter Fraud service 
with Medway Council. The purpose of the team is to provide 

independent, objective assurance, investigation and consulting 

services to add value and improve the council’s operations. In doing so 

the team brings a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating and 

improving the effectiveness of risk management, internal control and 

governance processes.  

In undertaking its responsibilities, the service operates to the Public 

Sector Internal Audit Standards and, by appointment, CIPFA’s Role of

the Head of Internal Audit in Public Service Organisations.

The responsibilities of the Finance & Audit Committee include the 

consideration of reports from internal and external audit, and 

inspection agencies, as well as monitoring the performance of Internal 
Audit.  During 2019-20, the Finance & Audit Committee received and 
considered a number of reports from council officers and external 

bodies, enabling the committee to obtain assurances of the internal 

control and governance arrangements of the council, and to monitor 
action in addressing any issues identified by these reports. 

The council also has an effective and professional relationship with its 

external auditors and statutory inspectors, with key recommendations 

helping inform the continued development of the authority’s 

governance framework.  

8: Risk 

The council has a long-established process in place to identify the 

principal risks that may influence or impact on the delivery of its services.

The process requires judgements to be made on the likelihood and impact 

of a potential risk, and enables the council to develop and implement

appropriate controls to mitigate these and reduce any tangible impact.

Monitoring risk is an on-going process and compliments all council 

projects and day to day business. Central to the council’s approach is an 

annually reviewed Risk Management Strategy, which outlines the adopted 

approach for identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks to 

which the council is exposed.  

Against that framework, the council prepares an annual Corporate Risk 

Register following a thorough review of the risks already identified by the 

council and consideration to the identification of potential new risks, 

alongside those identified within the business planning process.  

At a Member level the Finance & Audit Committee is responsible for 

monitoring the effective development and operation of these risk 

management arrangements, including a mid-year review of the Corporate 

Risk Register.  

Alongside the listed controls delivered in 2019-20, all committee reports  

included an appendix that identified the ‘implications’ of any decisions 

being recommended through the report, including an assessment of risk. 

P
age 102

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/registers
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/registers
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-sector-internal-audit-standards


9: Partnerships 

The council is consistently seeking to identify innovative solutions in 

the delivery of its services. This can include the ongoing requirement 

for the scale of service, the method of service delivery, and any 

associated income opportunities. This comprehensive approach to 

service design encompasses the consideration of partnership working 

with public bodies and local agencies, including identification of 

shared service opportunities. These have been fully considered during 

2019-20 as they have arisen. 

The council has in place a robust Working in Partnership Framework 

acting as the central point of reference in developing new 

partnerships, linking the formation of new partnership working 

opportunities to the delivery of the council’s Corporate Plan objectives. 

During 2019-20, the framework was refreshed to account for the 

inclusion of the safeguarding and shared service agendas, alongside 

other procedural amendments. The revised framework was adopted 

by Full Council in April 2019. 

In support of the framework, as in previous years a comprehensive 

review of the council’s Corporate Register of Partnerships was 

undertaken in 2019-20 to demonstrate continued effectiveness, value 

for money and alignment to the council’s corporate objectives.    

10: Transparency 

The government maintains a commitment to increasing transparency 

across central and local government in order to make data more readily

available and enable residents to hold service providers truly to account.

As a publicly funded organisation, GBC is committed to openness and 

accountability.  In 2019-20, the council published a series of datasets in 

line with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 and other 

transparency commitments including; senior staff salaries, gender pay 

gap, organisation chart, council spending on items over £500, details of

new contracts and has also adopted a Pay Policy Statement. 

P
age 103

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/registers
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data


11: Trading 
 
 

 

 

 

 

In 2019-20 the council established its first Local Authority Trading 

Company (Rosherville Limited), enabling it to provide commercial     

services to local residents and businesses, with profits helping fund 

frontline services. In forming a holding company, with the council as     

sole shareholder, the intention over time is to subsequently establish 

subsidiary companies for specific commercial services.   

Whilst established to operate with a high degree of commercial     

freedom, underpinning the company is a commitment to the principles    

and best practice advocated by the Lawyers in Local Government      

(LLG) guidance note; The Governance of Council Interests in    

Companies.  

As such, following its initial establishment Cabinet adopted the    

company’s Articles of Association which; form the basis of its    

constitution; define the responsibilities of directors; outline core    

business; and identify how shareholders exert control over the board        

of directors. The Articles have been based upon the model Articles 

Companies (Model Articles) Regulation 2008 with the necessary 

modifications to reflect accountability to the council, the council's 

requirements and matters reserved for Shareholder Approval. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In line with these governance controls, Rosherville Limited will produce an 

annual business plan. On Cabinet’s approval, the plan will detail planned 

activities for the forthcoming year ensuring business is both in line with the 

council’s corporate objectives and, equally, provides appropriate social 

and financial returns for the authority. To provide appropriate flexibility and 

freedoms to trade, it will be for the parent company itself to approve the 

detailed annual Business Plans for any established subsidiary. 

There are also clear arrangements in relation to the council, as sole 

shareholder, which are defined in a formal Shareholders Agreement and 

set out in in detail the governance and approved decision making 

process.   

The Rosherville Board reports to the Leader of the Council as the 

Shareholder’s representative. To support the Leader in discharging that 

function of providing strategic leadership to the Board, the Council has 

established a Shareholder Group consisting of the Chief Executive, 

Director of Corporate Services (as the authority’s Section 151 Officer) and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer, as well as other officers as the need 

arises.  Whilst there are specific decisions which are delegated to Cabinet 

for decision, other matters can be undertaken by the Leader, in 

consultation with the Shareholder Group, and specific terms of reference 

have been established for this group. 

 

P
age 104



12: Review 

In compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the 

council has responsibility for conducting an annual review of the 

effectiveness of its governance framework, including the system of 

internal control.  The review is undertaken using the established 

criteria of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; Delivering Good 

Governance in Local Government, as adopted in the council’s Code of 

Corporate Governance. In support of the framework, the following 

have been considered in the 2019-20 review: 

 The continued value and effectiveness of the council’s
governance framework as defined in the Code of Corporate
Governance;

 Reviews carried out by Internal Audit, external auditors and
other agencies that scrutinise the systems of internal control;

 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the
overall control environment from the Head of Internal Audit;

 The completion of control questionnaires by the Monitoring
Officer, Chief Financial (s151) Officer and the Head of Internal
Audit; and

 The completion of self-assessment control questionnaires by
the Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service
Managers and other key managers within the council.

Conclusion In line with the council’s statutory responsibilities, the 

conclusion to the annual review process for the year ended 31 March 

2020 is that the arrangements in place are considered to be fit for 

purpose and in accordance with the council’s governance framework, 

with no significant areas of concern. The key findings of the annual 

review form the basis of the recommendations made in this 2019-20 

AGS to further enhance the council’s existing governance and control 

environment in 2020-21.  This AGS was considered by the council’s 

Management Team on 9 June 2020 and subsequently the Finance & 

Audit Committee on 21 July 2020. 

13: Covid-19 

The practical impact of the global Covid-19 health pandemic for the council 

emerged in late 2019-20, principally via the Prime Minister’s speech to the 

nation on 23 March 2020 and the enactment of the Coronavirus Act 2020. 

As such, the review of the council’s response from a governance 

perspective will feature more prominently in the 2020-21 review exercise.  

Despite this, the council was actively making plans, preparations and 

amendments to policy and processes in advance of societal restrictions. 

The following activities represent only a selection of the governance 

measures and internal controls implemented by the council in its response: 

 Resilience Group: a cross-Directorate group of officers was
identified to operate as a research source and ‘critical friend’ to the
Corporate Management Team (CMT); amongst its activities the
group coordinated a series of reviews into the council’s critical
services. In doing so, the group was able to identify the various IT,
HR and business needs to ensure continued front-line delivery,
enabling the CMT to respond effectively.

 Performance indicators: in order to accurately monitor the impact
of Covid-19 on critical services, a new suite of 40 performance
indicators was established. The suite was reported weekly to the
CMT in order to provide early insight for potential intervention.
Alongside a number of financial indicators, the council also took
steps to model the anticipated impacts of COVID-19 to identify the
likely financial position in the short, medium and longer term, and
will continue to do this throughout 2020-21.

 Internal Audit: the team undertook to log, identify and test all
amendments to internal control mechanisms introduced by CMT.
Through this concentrated approach, these new controls are able
to be effectively monitored and considered for review in a
scheduled Covid-19 recovery plan.

Conclusion It is therefore concluded that, specifically in regards to its 

Covid-19 activities, on review of the council’s governance environment and 

internal controls no significant issues were reported in 2019-20. 

P
age 105



14. Plan

Although not presenting any significant governance and internal control issues, the annual review did present opportunities for enhancement of the council’s 
governance environment. In endorsing the 2019-20 AGS, the Finance & Audit Committee agree to the following activities being delivered by March 2021:

Control Action Corporate Plan 

Investors in 
People (IiP) 
Action Plan 

Following the recommendations of the council’s IiP assessment, the purpose of 
such a plan is to ensure that in delivering a progressive working environment, in line 
with industry good practice, staff are fully skilled and empowered to help the council 
respond to the challenges of the future. Work in 2020-21 will include a Workforce 
Development Plan and a new formal appraisal process. 

#3 Progress 

An employer of choice: advance the 
council’s Investors in People standard 
through excellent working practices and 
conditions, delivering a high performing, 
engaged, and celebrated workforce. 

Communications 
and Engagement 

Strategy 

In delivering the 2019 LGA Peer Challenge recommendation, develop a 
Communications and Engagement Strategy that establishes the activities and 
principles with which to enable: 

 active promotion of Gravesham as a place and the authority’s corporate
vision for the borough;

 communication of the information customers need to access services;

 the community to engage in helping shape future service policy and
provision; and

 an open and transparent culture at all levels of the organisation.

#3 Progress 

Build a strong and trusted brand: 
establish a vibrant visual identity and 
develop excellent key stakeholder 
engagement. 

Coronavirus 
Review 

A recommendation by CIPFA for local government as a sector, undertake a review 
of the council’s administration of the Covid-19 crisis. The review will consider both 
the decisions undertaken in direct response and the future planning for 
preparedness relating to the ongoing effect of the pandemic. The review will also
consider the underpinning approach to business continuity across the organisation. 

#3 Progress 

Successfully manage key business 
risks: embed a culture of compliance 
with all policy, constitutional and 
legislative demands. 

Health and 
Safety 

Programme 

Identified through the direct feedback of officers as part of the overall annual review 
of governance, a commitment to a comprehensive programme of health and safety 
reviews. This action has taken on an increased level of importance through the 
changes to the workplace location and environment as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic.    

#1 People 

Enforce high regulatory standards: 
put customer and employee safety first 
by ensuring commercial businesses and 
licence holders are fully compliant with 
expected legislative standards. 

P
age 106



Certification by Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee 

I confirm that the 2019-20 Annual Governance Statement has been considered and approved by Gravesham Borough Council at the meeting of the 

Finance & Audit Committee on 21 July 2020. 

………………………... 

Councillor Gurbax Singh 

Date………………….. 

Endorsement by the Leader of the Executive and the Chief Executive 

………………………....... ………………………... 

Councillor John Burden Stuart Bobby 

Leader of the Executive Chief Executive 

Date………………………  Date……………………… 

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 21 July 2020

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report 2019-20

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the Audit & Counter Fraud work completed during 2018-19 and to 
present the opinion of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, as Chief Audit 
Executive, on the council’s internal control environment.

Recommendations:
1. Endorse the work undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for 

Gravesham during 2019-20 in providing an effective service to the council.
2. Consider and endorse the opinion on the council’s internal control environment 

provided by the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Chief Audit Executive to 
provide an annual internal audit opinion based on an objective assessment of the 
framework of governance, risk management and control. The Annual Audit & 
Counter Fraud Report 2019-20 has been prepared for the authority to meet this 
requirement.

1.2 Since 1 March 2016 the council’s internal audit activity has been delivered by the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service with Medway Council.

2. Preparation of the Revised Audit & Counter Fraud Plan

2.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service has provided update reports to 
Members at three meetings of the Finance & Audit Committee in 2019-20.  This 
Annual Report reproduces the findings reported in those Update reports along 
with the results of work carried out since the last Update, to provide Members with 
a summary of all work delivered by the team in the year. 

2.2 The Annual Report is intended to provide Members with sufficient details of the 
results of the work of the team to support the opinion of the Chief Audit Executive 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s overall control environment. 

Page 109 Agenda Item 9



2

2.3 The report has been prepared in line with the requirements of the PSIAS.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 110



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service; Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that: The chief audit executive 
must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. This report, summarising the work 
of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a key source of assurance for the 
council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal control arrangements.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective 
#3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Page 111

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators and is therefore reported to the public via the council’s 
Annual Report published on the council’s website. 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 112



Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Annual Report 

2019-20 
Gravesham Borough Council

Page 113



Page 2 of 48

1. Introduction
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide internal audit 
assurance and consultancy, proactive counter fraud and reactive investigation services to Medway 
Council & Gravesham Borough Council.   

The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) defines internal auditing as: an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It 
helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to 
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.  The 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service combines this role with working alongside the councils to manage 
their fraud risk, including work to prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent activity committed against 
the councils.  The team also acts as the Single Point of Contact between both authorities and the 
Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of Benefits Fraud.  

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards), the Head of Audit & 
Counter Fraud provides Members with update reports detailing the work and findings of the team. The 
Standards also require that the Chief Audit Executive must deliver an annual internal audit opinion and 
report that can be used by the organisation to inform its governance statement. The annual internal 
audit opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework 
of governance, risk management and control.

2. Opinion of the Chief Audit Executive 
The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to ensure that they have: a sound 
system of internal control which— (a) facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the 
achievement of its aims and objectives; (b) ensures that the financial and operational management of 
the authority is effective; and (c) includes effective arrangements for the management of risk.  The 
system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all 
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team has carried out all internal audit work in line with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards and in accordance with our Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme.  

In my capacity as Chief Audit Executive, with responsibility for the provision of internal audit services 
to the council, I am required to provide the organisation, and the Chief Executive, with a statement as 
to my opinion of the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and 
governance processes. This opinion is intended to support the council’s annual governance 
statement.

In assessing the level of assurance to be given, the following have been taken into account;
 The results of all work carried out by the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Gravesham 

from the preparation of the Annual Internal Audit Report 2018-19 in June 2019 to the 30 June 
2020,

 follow-up of recommendations linked to audits from previous periods,
 Significant recommendations not accepted by management or acted upon and the consequent 

risks,
 The effects of any significant changes in the organisation’s objectives or systems, including,

o The effects of changes to the control environment resulting from emergency decisions 
taken in response to the Covid 19 Pandemic,

 Matters arising from previous reports to the organisation, and

Page 114



Page 3 of 48

 The results of work performed by other assurance providers.

While suspension of internal audit activity during emergency response has had some impact on the 
volume of planned assurance work being completed, I am satisfied that the; 
 approach to extend the period of completion for assurance reviews overrunning from 2019-20,
 monitoring of changes to the control environment as emergency decisions were made, with 

responsive assurance applied as necessary, and 
 assurance related activities undertaken by redeployed staff in new areas of risk, such as business 

support grants, 
means that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow us to draw a reasonable 
conclusion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, system of 
internal control and governance processes.

While it has been identified that the authority has mainly established adequate internal controls 
within the areas subject to review between 01 April 2019 and 30 June 2020, there are areas where 
compliance with existing controls should be enhanced or strengthened or where additional controls 
should be introduced to reduce the risk of loss to the authority.  Where such findings have been 
made, recommendations have been made to management to improve the controls within the 
systems and processes they operate. Management have accepted responsibility for the 
implementation of these recommendations and follow up arrangements are in place to ensure that 
appropriate action is taken. The results of all work completed will be reported to the Finance & Audit 
Committee in accordance with the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter.

It is therefore my opinion that Gravesham Borough Council’s framework of governance, risk 
management and system of internal control is adequate and effective, and contributes to the 
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources in achieving the council’s objectives.

3. Independence 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in 
February 2020 and sets out the purpose, authority and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out 
the arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement.  The 
work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members. 

Given its responsibilities for counter fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities and investigative functions of either 
council. Instead independent assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought 
from an external supplier of audit services on a periodic basis. 

4. Resources
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council 
and Gravesham Borough Council.  At the start of the year, the team had an establishment of 14 officers 
(13FTE), made up of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud, three Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders, 
eight Audit & Counter Fraud Officers (7FTE), one Audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst and one 
Audit & Counter Fraud Assistant.  

Page 115



Page 4 of 48

The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 36% for Gravesham with the remaining 64% for Medway. At the time the Audit 
& Counter Fraud Plans for 2018-19 were prepared, this establishment was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,834 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.). This forecast took into account the resource available with the 
vacant Audit & Counter Fraud Officer post being filled with effect from 01 June 2019. The Audit & 
Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a resource budget of 703 days. 

The vacant Audit & Counter Fraud Officer post was filled from 01 June 2019 following a recruitment 
process but left a further vacancy for an Audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst as the successful 
candidate was from within the service. Following a successful recruitment process, this vacancy was 
filled with effect from 01 September 2019. An Audit & Counter Fraud Officer (0.36FTE) also retired in 
September 2019, which was unknown at the time of the initial forecast. 

In March 2020, the council moved to the ‘response’ phase of its emergency planning due to the Covid 19 
pandemic. The Audit & Counter Fraud service was identified as non-critical and ceased all business as 
usual activity with available resource being directed to other more critical areas of the council. This 
situation resulted in a number of changes, such as a number of staff not using annual leave entitlement, 
and the cancellation of planned team meetings. This list is not exhaustive but the overall result was an 
increase in the resource available in comparison to projections reported earlier in the year. 

As of 31 March 2020, the net staff days available for Gravesham for 2019-20 amounted to 762 days and 
667 days (87%) were spent on productive audit and counter fraud work.  Of this productive time, 72% 
was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 28% was spent on pro-active counter fraud 
and investigations work. The current status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 5 of 
this report.  

Learning and development needs and objectives were agreed through the Performance Development 
Review (appraisal) process, and delivered through a mixture of formal qualification training, formal skills 
training, job-shadowing/mentoring and ‘on the job’ training.  Away day team meetings have taken place 
every other month, and all team members have had regular one to one meetings with their line 
manager to monitor progress with work-plans and to continue to identify and support staff to become 
proficient in all aspects of the team’s work. 

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2019-20 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 
Committee in March 2019. The Plan was intended to provide a clear picture of how the council would 
use the Audit & Counter Fraud resources, reflecting all work planned for the team for Gravesham during 
the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational 
assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy services. 

Arrangements to monitor the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual 
officer time recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks 
the performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the 
supervisory staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans.

During the course of the year the plan was amended to take into account changes in resource levels, 
operational risk levels and objectives of the organisation. Members agreed revisions to the original plan 
for 2019-20 to remove planned reviews of: 

 Fraud Proofing review of Council Tax Reduction – A delay in the implementation of the new 
scheme meant that the timing of the review was no longer appropriate as the controls reviewed 
would likely change along with the scheme.

Page 116



Page 5 of 48

 Constitution Maintenance - The constitution had recently been through a thorough review and 
therefore represented a very low risk compared to other areas where reviews were scheduled 
to take place

The tables below provide details of the work from 2018-19 that was finalised in 2019-20, the progress of 
work undertaken as part of the 2019-20 annual plan and the results of investigative work completed. 

Due to the cessation of ‘business as usual in early March 2020, a number of reviews were incomplete as 
of 31 March. As part of the recovery phase, the decision was taken on 23 April to recommence work on 
outstanding reviews from 2019-20 to ensure good coverage across the control environment of the 
council and limit the impact caused by the cessation of activity during the emergency response. Clients 
for all reviews where fieldwork was 75% or more complete were contacted and works recommenced. All 
reviews that fell into this category had fieldwork completed and were therefore considered delivered, 
although finalisation of reports may remain outstanding in some cases. The progress outlined in the 
table below for all reviews that are yet to be finalised is the position as at 30 June 2020.    

Page 117



Page 6 of 48

2018-19 Internal Audit Assurance work Finalised in 2019-20 (items in italics detailed in previous update reports)

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

5 Ethics 15 17.8 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
September 
2019

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - All council employees behave with integrity, demonstrate strong 
commitment to ethical values and respect the rule of the law.    
The review found that the council has a suite of policies that outline the way 
employees are expected to behave, most notably, the Code of Conduct for employees. 
Although the Code of Conduct contains information in relation to the behaviour 
expected of employees, including working with integrity and working within the law, 
there is not a clear definition as to what ‘ethical values’ the council holds and expects 
its employees to work by. The Code of Conduct is communicated to all new and 
existing staff via the NETconsent policy distribution system, which includes a 
mandatory sign-off process, and sign off is monitored by the Corporate Performance 
team. Although there are some references to equal opportunities, the council’s ethical 
values are not yet fully embedded into its recruitment, induction and appraisal 
processes. 
Reports of unacceptable or unethical behaviour can be made under a number of 
council policies, depending on the nature of the information to be reported, including 
the Whistleblowing Policy, Disciplinary Policy, Grievance Procedure, Dignity at Work 
Policy and Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy; there is limited corporate monitoring of 
reports of unethical behaviour received under these various policies. Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 – A robust policy is in place to ensure all staff are aware of the council’s 
position, regarding declarations of personal interest and gifts and hospitality.
The review found that the council’s position and expectations of staff in relation to 
gifts & hospitality and declarations of interest are clearly set out within the Code of 
Conduct. However, it was noted that the information provided in relation to making 
entries to the Gifts & Hospitality and Employee Interest Registers requires updating to 
reflect current procedures. Testing found that at the time of audit 28 entries had been 
made to the Gifts & Hospitality Register in 2018-19; all of the gifts kept were of small 
value as per the guidance provided in the Code of Conduct. Four gifts were listed as 
being donated to the Mayors Charity; all four of these were identifiable on the 
inventory of items donated to the Mayor’s Charity held by Committee & Election 
Services. The last entry to the Employee Interest Register was in 2016-17. Opinion: 
Amber.
RMO3 –The council ensures that external providers of services on behalf of the 
organisation are required to act with integrity and in compliance with high ethical 
standards expected by the organisation.

P
age 118



Page 7 of 48

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

The review found that the council has an agreed Working in Partnership Framework, 
which includes a specific section on maintaining ethical standards. In addition, the 
Partnership Evaluation template contains a section where officers are asked to 
confirm that the partnership has a code for maintaining ethical standards. Within the 
Partnership Agreement template, there is a clause specifically relating to maintaining 
ethical standards which states “All members of the Partnership, the Board and any 
Sub-Groups shall abide by current nationally-recognised procedures, guidelines and 
standards for ensuring probity and good governance in public life. In particular, they 
will observe the “Seven Principles of Public Life” (the ‘’Nolan’ principles) set out Annex 
A”. A clause is also included setting out procedures for dealing with breaches of the 
agreement. 
Review of the council’s standard contract terms and conditions found that there are no 
references to ethical values; there are however clauses which could come under the 
banner of ‘ethical behaviour’ including: Conflicts of Interest, Bribery and Fraud, 
Prevention of Corruption, Human Rights, Discrimination, Equal Opportunities, Health 
and Safety, Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults, Confidentiality, and, 
Whistleblowing Procedure. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two medium and four low priority.
Recommendations relate to establishing a clear and consistent definition of what 
ethical values the council holds and expects its employees to work by, incorporating 
these ethical values into the recruitment, induction and appraisal processes, 
reviewing reporting arrangements outlined within the Anti-Fraud & Corruption 
Strategy and introducing arrangements to identify and collate reports of unethical 
behaviour received via the various council policies. A recommendation relating to 
the councils contract template containing an expectation for contractors to maintain 
the ethical values of the council was rejected.

14 Use of Enforcement 
Services 
(Previously titled Use 
of Bailiffs)

10 13.8 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
September 
2019

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Arrangements around the use of enforcement services are consistent.
The review found that the council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy establishes procedures 
for the recovery of all debts outstanding to the authority, in line with legislation. The 
Policy was last updated in October 2018 and is currently under review but has not 
recently been circulated to relevant officers. The Policy ensures that each debtor is 
treated fairly and as an individual with compassion in cases where genuine financial 
difficulty is experienced; enforcement services are used as a last resort. There are 
currently three types of ‘enforcement services’ used by the council; 
 Enforcement Agents are authorised to collect debt on behalf of a creditor; they 
are able to levy distress and act on a warrant issued by the courts. A number of 

P
age 119



Page 8 of 48

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Enforcement Agents are used by the council in respect of Council Tax, National Non 
Domestic Rates (NNDR), Commercial Rent and Parking Enforcement. 
 Debt Collection Agents can chase a debtor to pay what is owed to a creditor, 
but do not have the same legal powers as an Enforcement Agent and cannot levy 
distress. One Debt Collection Agent is used by the council is respect of Housing Benefit 
Overpayments and Sundry Debt. 
 High Court Enforcement Agents (Sheriffs) are directly employed by the courts 
to enforce County Court Judgements; (CCJs) they can levy distress in order to recover 
money owed. CCJs are obtained by the council, where appropriate, in respect of 
Housing Benefit Overpayments, Sundry Debt and Commercial Rent. 
Audit testing confirmed that recovery action in relation to the use of enforcement 
services is carried out by all services in line with the Corporate Fair Debt Policy, with 
the exception of Housing Rents, who, as identified in the 2017 audit of Housing Rents, 
are not currently using enforcement services as per the Policy. A report has recently 
been presented to Management Team setting out a route for procuring corporate 
enforcement services, which will assist with implementing an outstanding 
recommendation in relation to this matter. 
The council has a Vulnerable Persons Policy which provides guidance on how to deal 
with vulnerable persons who owe a debt to the council. No evidence could be 
identified that the council’s own Vulnerable Persons Policy has been shared, however 
it is understood that all Enforcement Agents, Debt Collection Agents and Sheriffs used 
have their own vulnerable persons policies, which are followed. While all services are 
following the general principles of the council’s Policy, it was noted that none are 
precisely following the explicit procedures set out in the Policy. Opinion: Amber.  
RMO2 - Contractual arrangements are in place to ensure value for money.
As discussed above a report has recently been presented to Management Team 
setting out a preferred route for procuring enforcement services. This is in recognition 
of the fact existing arrangements have been in place for a number of years and the 
council needs to undertake a procurement process to secure these services on an 
ongoing basis; though it should be noted that over the last few years the council has 
made attempts to secure enforcement services on a more corporate basis. The review 
found that a number of companies currently provide enforcement services to the 
council, however signed Service Level Agreements (SLAs) could only be provided during 
the course of the audit in respect of two of these; both of these being outside of the 
initial agreement period. In addition only one of the SLAs contains information in 
relation to the agreed level of performance. Each department has its own 
arrangements for monitoring the enforcement services used, with all Enforcement 

P
age 120



Page 9 of 48

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Agents supplying monthly reports detailing what debt has been collected and what is 
outstanding; other monitoring mechanisms used across the services include review 
meetings, email / telephone correspondence and monitoring via online portals. 
None of the Enforcement Agents used charge the council for their services; their 
income is instead garnered from the fees levied to debtors, which are laid down by 
legislation and are added to the overall debt. The council is however invoiced for VAT 
on the fees levied, which can then be claimed back. Each service receives regular 
remittances and invoices from the Enforcement Agents for the VAT element, with 
details of all debts collected and fees charged. Charges are also not applied for use of 
Sheriffs, however there is a set fee for any cases which are returned as unsuccessful. 
Opinion: Red.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high, one medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to the council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy being circulated 
to all relevant staff, the council’s procedures and policy in respect of vulnerable 
debtors being reviewed and shared with the  Enforcement Agents, Debt Collection 
Agents and Sheriffs used, and appropriate agreements being put in place for all 
enforcement services, including expected performance arrangements then being put 
in place for performance to be monitored in line with the agreement, including 
documenting any meetings held.

16 Refunds 10 42.6 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
November 
2019

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Adequate policies and procedures are in place for the administration of 
refunds.
The review found that a Corporate Refunds Procedure, setting out the council’s 
procedures for the refund of credits payable to customers, is in place and has been 
circulated to employees.
The Corporate Refunds Procedure requires that procedure notes are written and 
reviewed annually by each section processing refunds. Of the 11 sections which are 
noted in the Corporate Refunds Procedure as administering refunds, procedure notes 
only exist for Income and Sundry Debt, Housing, Customer Services and The Woodville 
Box Office, however not all are fully in line with the requirements within the Corporate 
Refunds Procedure.
Advice on how to request a refund and the circumstances in which a refund may or 
may not be given is limited; the Corporate Refunds Procedure is available on the 
council’s website within the About the Council – Budgets, audits & accounts – Other 
financial policies section, however cannot be easily located using the search function. 
Opinion: Amber.

P
age 121



Page 10 of 48

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

RMO2 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the processing of refunds.
The review found appropriate action is taken within each individual section in relation 
to the identification of refunds, either by identification of credit balances or through 
requests from customers.
Refunds in regards to Housing, Council Tax and NNDR, and Income and Sundry Debt 
are only processed when an account has been overpaid. Similarly, refunds in regards 
to Parking are only processed when a ticket or permit has been overpaid or cancelled 
and refunds in regards to Planning are only processed when an application has been 
overpaid or withdrawn prior to validation. Refunds in regards to Bulky Waste are only 
processed on cancellation of the service and refunds in regard to The Woodville are 
only processed when an event is cancelled or at the General Manager’s discretion.
The review found that refunds are only administered when a written, or verbal request 
has been made (where bank details are not already held) and verification checks are 
carried out by all departments, however checks for debts due to other council services 
could not be evidenced by all departments.
Audit testing gave assurance that refunds are paid back via the original payment 
method used and system access to amend payment details is restricted. Testing also 
confirmed that all refunds processed via BACs are authorised by an officer with an 
appropriate authorisation limit. It was noted however that refunds reversed back to 
the originating card, are not all approved by an authorised officer.  
The Corporate Refunds Procedure has a dedicated section on procedures to recover 
monies when a refund has been administered in error. The review found that no 
departments had experienced any refunds issued in error, however audit testing did 
identify a human error whereby the amount refunded was more than that stated on 
the request form; this had already been rectified by the time the audit was 
undertaken. 
The council has a Charge-back policy in place which was rolled out on NETconsent in 
August 2012 to relevant officers. Audit discussions found that Housing, Parking, 
Income and Sundry Debt, Council Tax and NNDR were the only departments aware of 
chargebacks. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high, five medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to a review of the Corporate Refunds Procedure, 
implementation of procedure notes for individual departments, a review of 
information provided in respect of refunds on the council’s website, checks being 
made by Council Tax / NNDR with all relevant departments to identify other 
outstanding debts, investigations into enabling easy identification of card refunds, 

P
age 122



Page 11 of 48

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

access rights within the Revenues & Benefits system being reviewed, provision made 
for customer services team leaders to be added to the authorised signatory list, all 
refunds being approved by an appropriately authorised officer, investigations being 
undertaken in relation to implementation of digital refund procedures for all 
services and the Charge-back policy being reviewed and re-circulated to relevant 
staff.

17 Write Offs 15 19.1 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
September 
2019

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements & procedures in place regarding debt write off.
The review found there are policies and procedures in place in respect of debt write 
off. An update of a pro-forma now has codes slightly misaligned and is in need of 
review.  All services had supporting evidence to demonstrate steps taken before 
writing off the debt. The procedure notes require services to attach documentation to 
the pro-forma. The review of the procedure notes should reflect services who retain 
information electronically rather than in paper based files, prompting them to indicate 
where electronic information is held. Where services write off debt because they are 
unable to locate the debtor the review tested a sample across services to ensure every 
attempt is made to trace debtors. Most services were not consistently making use of 
NAFN services to assist debtor tracing but the Director for Corporate Services has 
reminded Wider Management Team this is a function available and expected to be 
used by officers where appropriate. The write off authorising officers know the most 
appropriate tracing enquiries for their service. With testing demonstrating inconsistent 
approaches in some services, officers should be reminded of the enquiries they are 
expected to make before writing off a debt. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One medium and two low priority.
Recommendations relate to a review of the Write Off procedure notes to ensure 
Codes align with the updated pro-forma, and to reduce the generation of paperwork 
by reflecting that more services hold information electronically

P
age 123



Page 12 of 48

2019-20 Internal Audit Assurance work (items in italics detailed in previous update reports)

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 Governance 

framework
10 9.9 Final Report 

Issued
The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – There are mechanisms in place for the effective management of processes 
contributing to the council’s governance arrangements.
Local Authorities are required to deliver on a number of statutory obligations and may 
also make discretionary/non-statutory commitments, including commitments to 
additional levels of assurance and accountability. The review found that there is 
evidence that where discretionary commitments are made, project specific action 
plans are put in place and monitored.
All service areas within the council are required to produce an annual business plan; 
included in the business plan template is a section related to statutory duties where 
the service should give details of any statutory functions they undertake. There is also 
a section where services should record details of any standalone projects. It was 
noted that there is not currently a formal requirement for services to reflect on the 
achievement of actions included in business plans and there is not a process for 
actions to be corporately monitored; there is therefore a risk that statutory 
obligations and non-statutory commitments could be missed and this would not be 
brought to the attention of senior management.
The council’s policy setting and decision making processes are included in the 
council’s Constitution and audit testing found that ten randomly selected policies and 
strategies had been appropriately approved in all instances. Arrangements for 
updating policies and strategies are however currently individual to each service and 
audit testing identified that of the 152 policies and strategies published on the 
council’s website and intranet, review/modification dates listed indicate that 78 
require review. It should be noted that in some of these instances, updated 
policies/strategies could be identified in other locations, for example in Committee 
minutes, but the policy libraries have not been updated. 
Committee Services clerk all Committee and Management Team meetings; this 
includes managing a reporting schedule, preparing agendas and taking minutes. We 
were advised that the Chairs of meetings usually determine how the meeting is 
organised and meetings are clerked in line with the requested format. 
For Committee meetings, actions are recorded in the minutes of the meeting, though 
these are not recorded as formal action points; the minutes of the previous meeting 
are always discussed at the beginning of the next, which provides an opportunity for 
actions to be discussed. 

P
age 124



Page 13 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

For Management Team meetings, actions are incorporated into the minutes, with the 
responsible officer’s name recorded against the relevant minute. The minutes from 
the previous meeting are always discussed at the beginning of the next, allowing for 
updates to be provided on the meeting point and action. Audit testing found that in 
the majority of instances this format is successful for addressing each action, though 
isolated instances were identified where action points were either not discussed 
further or were not discussed within the time period set; this was largely where 
officers were asked to return an item to a meeting in the extended future. Opinion: 
Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to investigating the formation of a council-wide action 
tracker and reviewing all policies and strategies held on the GBC website and 
intranet to ensure the most up to date versions have been published.

2 Constitution 
maintenance

10 N/A Removed from 
plan February 
2020

In order to compensate for the loss of resource, a review had to be selected for 
removal form the plan. This was considered the lowest risk area as the constitution 
had just been through a thorough review and was therefore the most suitable.

3 Partnership 
framework and 
shared working 
arrangements 

10 10.6 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
September 
2019

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Arrangements have been put in place to ensure delivery of the council’s 
partnership and shared working projects. 
The review found that the council has a Working in Partnership Framework which is 
used to deliver partnership and shared working arrangements. It is reviewed every 
three years and was last approved in April 2019. The framework document is 
comprehensive and outlines all aspects that need to be considered when developing 
and managing partnership or shared working arrangements. 
The Framework requires that for all proposed shared working arrangements, a 
business case is prepared and for all partnerships, a partnership evaluation is carried 
out. Business case and partnership evaluation templates are provided as appendices 
to the Framework and their use is strongly recommended, however they are not 
compulsory; for example, the issues could instead be covered in a Management Team 
report. Before entering into a partnership or shared working arrangement, the Section 
151 Officer and Monitoring Officer must be consulted; approval is via a combination of 
Management Team, the Leader of the  Executive and relevant Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder(s) depending on the type of arrangement.
The Framework and templates are provided on the staff intranet; an email was also 
sent to Wider Management Team on adoption of the revised Framework, providing a 
copy of the Framework and advising managers to read/review the document and 
ensure it is used where it is appropriate to do so. As part of the manager assurance 

P
age 125



Page 14 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

statement completed annually by members of the Wider Management Team to 
support the Annual Governance Statement, managers are asked to confirm that all 
partnership and shared working arrangements entered into during the year followed 
the Framework. The most recent service to go through the shared services process was 
Licensing. A comprehensive business case was prepared, with approval to progress 
with the shared service given by Cabinet. 
There is a Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements in 
place and provided on the council’s website. The Register is maintained by the 
Corporate Change Team and is reviewed annually. There are a number of partnerships 
and shared working arrangements listed on the Register, including the latest Licensing 
Shared Service. According to the Register the most recent partnerships to have been 
created, all in 2017, were ‘Altogether Safer – Reducing Violence Against Women & 
Girls (VAWG)’, ‘GO TRADE’ and ‘Kent Equality Cohesion Council’. There is evidence that 
entry to all three of these partnerships was scrutinised. Post-implementation reviews 
are undertaken following completion of all shared service projects. Opinion: Green.
RMO2 – Arrangements have been put in place to ensure projects are working in 
accordance with the requirements of the Partnership Framework. 
The Working in Partnership Framework contains appendices which provide guidance 
on areas that should be considered in partnership and shared working agreements. 
Review of the Licensing shared service agreement and several partnership agreements 
identified during the audit indicated that they were all in line with the Framework 
guidance. 
The Framework states that there should be proper arrangements in place for stating 
outcomes, setting targets and monitoring and reporting on performance and finances; 
responsibility for day-to-day monitoring lies with those appointed to represent the 
council on partnerships, or officers who work in shared service arrangements. 
The Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements contains 
information in relation to the financial reporting and performance monitoring 
procedures that are in place for each arrangement. Following the annual review of the 
Register, the relevant parts are shared with the appropriate Cabinet Committees to 
inform Members of the council’s involvement in partnerships which are within the 
remit of each committee.
A review of the governance arrangements of all partnerships is undertaken each year 
via the manager assurance statements completed by members of the Wider 
Management Team, to support the Annual Governance Statement; with managers 
asked to confirm that all partnerships within their department have appropriate 
governance arrangements, that partnership budgets are managed and monitored 

P
age 126



Page 15 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

appropriately and that achievements against partnership objectives are monitored. In 
addition, annual reviews are carried out for all shared working arrangements, which 
are received by Cabinet or the relevant Cabinet Committee and consider how the 
shared service is operating and how the service will operate moving forward. 
The guidance on preparing shared service and partnership agreements states that 
agreements should detail how the arrangement can be terminated. Agreements 
viewed as part of the audit included details of the termination process and 
arrangements for dispute resolution.
Performance Indicator (PI) 45, within the council’s Performance Management 
Framework, monitors the percentage of posts involved in shared services 
arrangements; this currently stands at six percent.
Regular update reports are provided to Management Team and Members on the 
‘Bridging the Gap’ activities which only include savings once they have been realised. 
Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

4 Treasury 
management

10 21.6 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
February 2020

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - In line with the CIPFA Code of Practice, the authority has an appropriate 
Treasury Management Strategy in place.
The review found that, in line with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice, 
the council has an appropriate Treasury Management Strategy (including Annual 
Investment Strategy) in place. The strategy is regularly reviewed and as a minimum, is 
presented annually to the Finance and Audit Committee and to Full Council for 
approval. In addition, Mid-year and Annual Reviews detailing the council’s delivery of 
the Treasury Management Strategy are presented to the Finance and Audit 
Committee.
In line with the revised CIPFA Prudential Code, the council has a Capital Strategy in 
place that has been reviewed by the Finance and Audit Committee and approved by 
Full Council. The CIPFA Prudential Code includes a checklist for local authorities to use 
as a guide when producing a Capital Strategy and testing found that all areas of the 
checklist have been addressed in the council’s Capital Strategy (and documents linked 
to the strategy).
Members and officers involved in the council’s treasury management function receive 
regular relevant training. There are various methods of training provided, including in-
house training and courses delivered by external providers. In addition, the council has 
access to and utilises the services of external treasury management consultants; Link 
Asset Services. 

P
age 127



Page 16 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Roles within the treasury management function have been appropriately segregated 
and access to the computer systems used is appropriately restricted, with the level of 
access dependent on the role of the officer. Opinion: Green.
RMO2 - There are key controls in place to manage the appropriate investment of 
funds.
The review found that there is effective cash flow forecasting and monitoring in place. 
The Principal Accountant (HRA and Exchequer) produces long-term cash flow forecasts 
which are updated regularly and presented to the Finance and Audit Committee and 
Full Council alongside the Treasury Management Strategy and the Treasury 
Management Reviews.
The Treasury Management Strategy sets out criteria for investments; this includes 
minimum acceptable credit criteria, lending limits, transaction limits, length of 
investments and the use of other information sources (financial press, assessment of 
the financial sector). The council uses the creditworthiness service provided by the 
external treasury consultants; Link Asset Services.
Review of a sample of investments made between 1 January 2019 and 9 August 2019 
found that investments had been made in line with the criteria set out in the strategy 
and where necessary investments had been appropriately authorised.
All investment returns are monitored and checked for accuracy of interest return. 
Further review of the sample of investments discussed above found that investments 
that had matured were monitored and the monies received were correct. To support 
the treasury management function and the regular monitoring of investments, full 
records of investments are maintained. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

5 Creditors 10 11.4 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – There are arrangements in place for the effective management of the 
creditors function.
The review found that since the introduction of the Kofax Intelligent Scanning System 
in late 2017 and the gradual roll out during 2018, all payments must be supported by 
a purchase order. Audit testing on a sample of 20 transactions found that purchase 
orders had been raised in all cases, charged to the appropriate service budget and 
appropriately approved by an officer with a suitable authorisation limit. There are also 
arrangements in place for invoices to be matched to the correct purchase order, for 
the processing of “no cheque” transactions and to ensure that transactions and 
payment runs are appropriately approved. 

P
age 128



Page 17 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

There are appropriate controls in place to ensure that creditors are set up with 
appropriate instruction and any changes are monitored. The review found that all 
creditors are identified by a unique reference number.
In line with the council’s statutory duty under the Commercial Debt Regulations 2013 
for all commercial invoices to be settled within 30 days, audit testing found that in 21 
of 22 cases reviewed, this had been completed. 
Arrangements exist for daily and monthly reconciliations to be undertaken between 
the Creditors system and the General Ledger system. Opinion Green.
Overall Opinion Green. Recommendations: None.

6 Income collection 10 N/A Not completed Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and redeployment of A&CF staff, it was 
not possible to complete this review.

7 Insurances 10 13.2 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place to maintain appropriate insurance cover and 
process insurance claims. 
The review found that the council’s insurance policies are reviewed annually and 
records of these are held on a master spreadsheet within the Insurance section. A 
central motor insurance information database is also held recording the council 
vehicles in use. Arrangements are in place for the proposed yearly premium terms to 
be reviewed to ensure these have been calculated correctly and relevant discounts 
applied before payment. Audit testing of the insurance premiums provides assurance 
that all were calculated correctly. The review found that a General Insurance & Claims 
Administration Policy is in place dated 2018 which had not been approved by 
management and did not reference GDPR. Appropriate processes were found to be in 
place to determine claim liability before claims are passed to the insurance company. 
Arrangements are in place through the NFI data sharing to review potential insurance 
fraud risks but an option for the public to report fraud to the council was not 
available. Opinion Green.
Overall Opinion Green. Recommendations: One medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to authorisation of the insurance policy and amendment 
to the council website to enable receipt of reports of insurance fraud. 

8 Budget monitoring 10 12.6 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – The council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget is appropriately 
monitored.
Financial Services prepare the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget annually. Full 
Council approved the Budget Book 2020-21 on 25 February 2020 and this was 
presented along with the HRA business plan. 

P
age 129



Page 18 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

The review found that roles and responsibilities for budget monitoring are clear for 
budget holders and Financial Services. Training for budget holders was held in 
February 2018 and there are plans in place to hold further training later this year. 
There are arrangements in place for detailed budget monitoring, this includes 
monthly budget reports being produced by Financial Services and sent to all HRA 
budget holders, followed by a monthly budget monitoring meeting to discuss the 
budget and any variances identified. Financial Services have identified areas where 
more detailed monitoring is required and have added additional follow up meetings 
with some budget holders to ensure that any actions agreed are monitored. 
There are arrangements in place to make virements to the HRA budget lines and the 
review found Financial Services ensure that they are carried out in a timely manner. 
The review found that there are arrangements in place to produce quarterly budget 
monitoring reports to the relevant committees, with the most recent budget 
monitoring report at the time of audit (Q3 - 2019-20) presented to Cabinet on 3 
February 2020 and the Finance and Audit Committee on 17 February 2020. The 
review found that provisional budget outturn reports for 2018-19 were presented to 
Cabinet on 3 June 2019 and to the Finance and Audit Committee on 23 July 2019, 
alongside the Statement of Accounts. Opinion Green.
Overall Opinion Green. Recommendations: None.

9 Housing benefit 
overpayments

10 9.2 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Policies and procedures are in place to recover Housing Benefit 
overpayments in a timely and equitable manner.      
The review found that Gravesham Borough Council has produced a number of policy 
documents in relation to overpayments and debt recovery, including the Corporate 
Fair Debt policy. An additional suite of different procedure and guidance notes have 
been designed to assist staff in the recovery of Housing Benefit overpayments. Quality 
assurance (QA) checks are performed and at the time of testing the authority was well 
on its way to achieving its target of 99%. Audit testing found that 75% of benefit 
recipients were notified about a Housing Benefit overpayment within the specified 
two days, and mitigating factors exist in the remaining 25% which exceeded the two 
days. The authority maintains its Housing Benefit overpayments and monitors 
repayments to give the authority a transparent overview to understand its debt 
position at a given point. Arrangements exist when recovery of debt is not possible. 
These arrangements were covered by a Write-Off audit in the past 12 months. 
Opinion Green.
Overall Opinion Green. Recommendations: None.

P
age 130



Page 19 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

10 Council tax 
recovery 

10 14.5 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
February 2020

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to recover unpaid council tax liabilities in a 
timely and equitable manner.
The review found that information is easily available on the council’s website, with 
advice available for customers with problems paying their council tax bill and details of 
the processes followed when a customer does not pay their council tax.
A Corporate Fair Debt Policy is in place, which sets out the council’s recovery 
procedures for council tax arrears; including the timescale in which a reminder, 
summons and final notice will be issued. The system parameters in place were 
updated in August 2018, following an audit review on NNDR Recovery but these were 
not reflected in the Corporate Fair Debt Policy. The policy is currently under review.
The review found that accounts in arrears are identified via system parameters and 
audit testing of 20 accounts confirmed that appropriate automated recovery action 
had been taken in 16 instances. In the remaining four instances, recovery action could 
have been taken at an earlier date as set out within the recovery timetable. Audit 
testing also showed a variance in the number of days in which a reminder is sent; 
between 12 and 74 days.
Further audit testing carried out confirmed that appropriate further recovery action is 
taken and vulnerability of a debtor is considered where necessary in line with the 
vulnerability policy.
The review found that deferred recovery action is monitored on a monthly basis and 
via weekly diary event reports, where an end date must be applied to any suppression. 
Audit testing carried out on a random sample of 20 council tax accounts with a 
suppression applied during the 2018-19 financial year, confirmed that in all instances 
an end date had been applied, and a note with an appropriate valid reason had been 
given.  
Procedures are in place for corporate debts to be identified, agreed, and monitored by 
the Corporate Debt Team. Omissions were identified where accounts had not been set 
to a corporate debt recovery profile, and accounts that had been set to a recovery 
profile were not held by the Corporate Debt team.
The review found that procedures are in place for quarterly reviews to be carried out 
on the largest debts to ensure that recovery action is actively being taken on unpaid 
liabilities. Appropriate monitoring is also undertaken of debt which has been returned 
from the bailiffs.
The review found that a set performance measure of 97% collection rate for council 
tax is in place which is monitored throughout the year by comparing the collection rate 
to the previous year’s figures. Arrangements are also in place for reports on all 

P
age 131



Page 20 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

recovery enforcement stages to be run and monitored by a monthly stats report to 
prioritise the debts moving forward. A review of the latest spreadsheet at the time of 
audit shows an increase in the carried forward debt compared to last financial year. 
Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to a review of the system recovery parameters, a review of 
the corporate debt accounts to ensure these have been reflected on all systems and 
a review of how debt is monitored at an operational level.

11 Housing rent 
administration 
and collection

10 13.4 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
November 
2019

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Rent liability is accurately calculated.
The review found that the rent calculation is undertaken by Finance with due regard to 
Central Government directives that rents must be reduced by 1% per annum. The 
increase of the rents is undertaken as bulk upload and therefore largely automated. 
Testing found no errors with the rents being charged. Opinion: Green.
RMO2 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the administration of the Council’s 
rent accounts.
The review found that the properties owned by the council as social housing each have 
a unique identifying number, as do the tenants of these properties. Testing of income 
showed an issue with the service charges which has now been brought to Housing 
Income and Finance’s attention and left with them to resolve. The issue appears to 
have been caused, at least in part, by an unrealised error on the services charges 
spreadsheet used to update Capita and meant the wrong figures were provided/used. 
This is currently being further investigated by the Housing Income Team to ensure the 
correct figures will be used for the 2020-21 billing and steps are taken to ensure any 
tenants who overpaid their service charges are recompensed. 
Housing Income are proactive in chasing debts, especially where Universal Credit is in 
payment and are open to adopting new methods such as the ‘nudge theory’ to try and 
maximise collection rates.
It was found that the users for Capita are not regularly reconciled with the services to 
ensure only those officers whose roles make access appropriate have this access.  This 
could potentially allow for GDPR compliance to be breached and/or unauthorised 
access to be made. Opinion: Amber.
RMO3 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the accurate collection of rent.
The review found that tenants are advised of the rent due each week at the time they 
are offered the property, at the sign up, by being issued with a rent letter, and each 
quarter when a rent statement is issued. Where tenants fall into arrears, they are 
issued with reminder letters which also detail their current rent as well as the amount 

P
age 132



Page 21 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

they are in deficit.  All of these contact methods, as well as the Tenants Handbook, 
issued to them at the time they sign up for the tenancy; give clear details of the 
methods that can be used to pay rent. 
Collection of the Direct Debits, Universal Credit, Standing Orders and bank to bank 
payments are dealt with by the Finance Team and they are responsible for uploading 
these. This is dependent on the banks supplying the data in good time to ensure 
posting can be undertaken at the correct time and any refunds allowed. Late posting 
due to the file being received late, may make an account look as if it is in deficit, 
whereas the payment is merely not posted. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high and one medium priority.
Recommendations relate to making further checks to ensure service charges are 
correct on entry and for a procedure for checking staff who have access to Capita 
are reconciled at least annually with the relevant Service Manager.

12 Asset 
management

15 15.2 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place to manage and account for the council’s assets. 
The review found a financial asset register and procedures in place which meet the 
necessary financial requirements and was subject to recent review by external 
auditors. The service had good procedures for identifying assets purchased through 
capital receipts alongside a regular asset review process. 
The Director of Communities chairs a cross directorate Asset Management Group with 
an agreed Terms of Reference for key activities and desired outcomes. The Director 
was able to give examples of work underway and provide supporting evidence of 
work completed. In light of the new Corporate Plan it is recommended the Group’s 
Terms of reference are reviewed to ensure it remains aligned to Corporate objectives. 
Opinion: Green.
RMO2 – Arrangements are in place to allocate adequate funding for maintenance 
and replacement of assets.
The review found a capital funding strategy is in place that identifies future spending 
requirements for all services.
Not all services review their upcoming capital spending requirements in advance to 
maintain the accuracy of the Capital Funding plan, but all would need to complete CP1 
to access capital funds and these forms must be signed off by management.
The life span of assets is monitored to ensure adequate funding is available for 
replacements, this is monitored via the asset register and by the individual services.
The assets covered by this review are mainly operational and the values decrease with 
age. Maintenance programmes are in place where necessary to ensure life expectancy 
meets expectations. Opinion: Green.

P
age 133



Page 22 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: one high priority.
Recommendation relates to reviewing the terms of reference of the asset 
management working group and improving accuracy of non-financial details of the 
asset register.

13 Performance data 
verification

3 2.8 Complete The team undertook verification checks on the 2018-19 performance measures 
selected for checking by the Corporate Performance Team. 

Corporate risks assurance work
14 Out of hours 

services
15 14.3 Final report 

issued

Findings 
reported 
September 
2019

A consultancy review was undertaken to establish:
If there is an appropriate and consistent approach across services to compensate 
staff who provide an out of hours service.
The review identified that there are no consistent rules applied to standby and callout 
duties and payments across the council or even within each directorate. Individual 
services have set their procedure rules for out of hour’s services but were unable to 
provide documentary evidence to support the schedule of payments and any review of 
these payments. 
No Opinion delivered as this was a consultancy review. 
Actions suggested relating to establishing an Out of Hours Policy, putting in place 
payment schedules and ensuring officers verify the correct rate of payment.

15 Staff sickness 
management and 
monitoring 

15 18.2 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Appropriate arrangements exist for the reporting requirements to report 
sickness absence.
The review found that a Managing Sickness Absence Policy is in place setting out the 
sickness reporting, monitoring and managing requirements and is available on the 
intranet. The policy is currently in the process of being updated by HR and 
management. 
The review found that employees are reporting sickness absence through their line 
manager but not necessarily the sickness line. The notification emails sent to 
managers as a result of the sickness line are reliant on the accuracy of group 
distribution lists on outlook, which need reviewing. 
Procedures are in place for HR to maintain a sickness spreadsheet for upload to 
payroll. This process is generally well controlled but also highlights some staff are not 
using the sickness line to record their absence. The review found no concerns 
regarding the accuracy of sickness records held by HR and the processing of this data 
by payroll. 
Discussions with the Finance & HR Systems Team at Medway found that a new 
sickness module is currently in the process of being implemented which will automate 

P
age 134



Page 23 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

elements of sickness recording, which will require a review of the current policy and 
procedures. Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 – Appropriate arrangements exist for the monitoring of sickness absence.
The review found that monthly sickness leave management reports are run directly 
from Resourcelink and a report is provided to each directorate. The review found that 
quarterly reports are also sent to management team containing a summary, the total 
number & percentage of long and short term sickness absences, for each directorate. 
Feedback from line managers found nearly all comply with their responsibility to 
monitor staff absences. HR have guidance notes on how to conduct an absence 
review meeting along with letter and meeting templates, however these are not 
currently easily accessible to line managers. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to staff being reminded of the requirements for reporting 
sickness, a review of the distribution lists and operational setup for the sickness 
line, supporting information being made easily available to line managers, and 
support being provided to departments with the highest level of sickness absences.

16 Apprenticeship 
scheme

15 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Effective arrangements are in place to deliver the council’s Apprenticeship 
Scheme.
RMO2 – Financial arrangements exist to support the Apprenticeship Scheme.

17 Public Place 
Protection Order 
Enforcement

10 12.8 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
November 
2019

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Appropriate arrangements are in place for the council to deliver / enforce 
the Public Space Protection Order in the town centre.   
The review found that the council currently has two Public Space Protection Orders 
(PSPOs) in place; one covering alcohol control within the Town Centre and the other 
covering the fouling of land by dogs across the whole of Gravesham. PSPOs must be 
reviewed every three years and there is evidence of this taking place, with a third PSPO 
expiring in July 2019 after a review found that there was insufficient evidence, at that 
time, to support an extension. 
Under section 67 of the Anti-social Behaviour Crime & Policing Act 2014 it is an offence 
to breach a PSPO without reasonable excuse. Adequate information is provided to the 
public to make them aware of the PSPOs in place within the Borough, both through 
the council’s website and appropriate signage.
Appropriate resources have been allocated for PSPO enforcement, with three Safer 
Place Officers employed since 2018 to enforce the PSPOs in the Town Centre. The 
officers have the power to issue Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) for PSPO breaches where 
appropriate to do so and, although covered by different legislation, are also 

P
age 135



Page 24 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

authorised to issue FPNs for any littering offences they witness. Their role is varied and 
also includes a number of other responsibilities relating to responding to enforcement 
issues and providing help and advice to members of the public in the Town Centre. 
Approval has recently been given for the section to recruit a further two Safer Place 
Officers to cover locations across the Gravesham, beyond the town centre. 
A sufficient budget is in place for the day to day running of the service, with a further 
£2,000 made available in 2019-20 to carry out specific pro-active projects. Details of 
the total number of FPNs issued are provided to the Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership on an annual basis, to help identify issues that need to 
be prioritised. Opinion: Green.
RMO2 - Arrangements exist for enforcement services to be operated in line with 
legislation.
The review found that all Safer Place Officers are authorised to act on behalf of the 
council to uphold the PSPOs and issue FPNs for alcohol control, dog fouling and 
littering offences, where appropriate. A training programme exists for the Safer Places 
Officers, with officers trained across a number of subjects and skills that they may 
require as part of their role. Fixed Penalty Notices are only issued when there is no 
alternative and the Safer Place Officer has reason to believe a person has committed a 
relevant offence and that sufficient evidence exists to warrant and support a 
successful prosecution. 
Each Safer Place Officer carries a book of FPN notices for each offence; the FPNs are in 
sequential order within the book and are carbonated. Officers also carry a pocket book 
in which they write details in line with Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 1996 
and wear body cameras which are activated when they are issuing an FPN. 
Arrangements exist for details to be taken from the carbonated copy of all issued FPNs 
and recorded on an FPN spreadsheet; this spreadsheet is also used to record any 
payments and further action taken in respect of each FPN. 
The FPN offers the offender the opportunity to discharge any liability to conviction for 
the offence by payment of £75 for PSPO offences or £150 for littering offences; 
payment must be made within 14 days of the offence. Details of how the fine can be 
paid are listed on the reverse of the notice. There is no appeal process, however 
offenders can make a representation giving reasons and any mitigation for the 
offence, which is considered and the fine is either upheld or dismissed. An appropriate 
procedure is in place to enforce FPNs and take further action where necessary, with 
first and second reminders issued in instances of non-payment. Where payment has 
not been made following the reminder procedure, cases are considered for prosecution 
and where appropriate, evidence is gathered and passed to Legal Services to take this 

P
age 136



Page 25 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

forward. In 2018-19, 145 FPNs were issued and between April and July 2019, 23 FPNs 
were issued. Audit testing carried out on a random sample of 20 FPNs confirmed that 
all had been issued by an authorised officer and appropriate follow-up action had 
been taken if the FPN had not been paid. In addition, all payments received had been 
recorded on the General ledger. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

18 Unauthorised 
encampments

10 17.3 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Effective procedures are in place to deal with unauthorised encampments.
The review found that the processes in place for dealing with unauthorised 
encampments are effective, with most encampments being moved on as soon as 
practicable. Testing has shown that where appropriate, sites are visited within 24 
hours and all relevant action is taken in line with central government guidance. The 
council makes best use of the powers available to move encampments. While there is 
no training specifically in place with regard to dealing with the encampments, all 
services involved have clear procedures in place but are recommended to make use of 
the range of diversity training available. Opinion: Green.
RMO2 – Effective records are kept regarding unauthorised encampments.
The review found that the records held regarding encampments are regularly 
updated. The records are appropriately detailed and record all actions taken by the 
officers involved. With the range of personal data held the teams are required to put 
data retention procedures into practice. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to the provision of diversity based training to officers and 
implementing procedures to archive/delete data they no longer require.

19 Woodville 
ticketing 

10 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place for ticketing at the Woodville.

20 Garden waste 
collection service 

10 N/A Not completed Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and redeployment of A&CF staff, it was 
not possible to complete this review.

21 Responsive repairs 
service (including 
supplies 
management) 

20 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place to deliver the council’s responsive repairs 
service.
RMO2 – Arrangements exist for the management of supplies for repairs.

22 Temporary 
accommodation 

10 24.7 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – The provision of temporary accommodation is appropriately managed. 
The review found that the council utilises a variety of accommodation options to meet 
its obligations in relation to temporary accommodation, including council properties, 

P
age 137



Page 26 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

private sector accommodation and bed & breakfasts; council properties are the most 
cost effective and therefore the preferred option. As of September 2019, there were 
80 households staying in temporary accommodation; 58 of these placements were in 
the councils housing stock, which at the time was the maximum number of properties 
available, though there were plans for the number of council properties available for 
temporary accommodation to be increased. Audit testing on a random sample of 10 
temporary accommodation placements, confirmed that “suitable” accommodation 
options are selected for placements. In line with the Housing Act 1996 Part 7 (as 
amended) and the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
Homelessness Code of Guidance, the council has a statutory duty to provide 
homelessness assistance. If the council has reason to believe the applicant is 
homeless, eligible and may be in priority need, it has a duty to place them in 
temporary accommodation while enquiries are made. The review found that there 
are arrangements in place to assess qualification for temporary accommodation 
placements, however testing identified an instance in which this was not conducted in 
a timely manner, therefore leading to a longer placement. There is a procedure in 
place for the approval of temporary accommodation placements, which involves two 
authorisation signatures being obtained prior to placements being made (with the 
exception of out of hours placements, where approval should be given on the next 
working day). Audit testing identified a number of instances in which this approval 
process had not been completed in full. When a temporary accommodation 
placement is made, the applicant is required to sign a licence prior to moving into the 
temporary accommodation property. The temporary accommodation licence details 
the obligations between the council and the occupier. Audit testing found that 
licences are in place for all temporary accommodation placements. Appropriate 
records are also held of all temporary accommodation placements. When the council 
accepts that is has a main housing duty (section 193(2)) to an applicant it must 
continue to make sure that the applicant has suitable temporary accommodation until 
it is able to bring this duty to an end. There are procedures in place to monitor 
households in temporary accommodation, however audit testing identified several 
instances where monitoring had not been completed and documented regularly, 
including an instance where, on eviction, it was found that the applicant had not been 
staying at the property. Households in temporary accommodation are currently 
visited if, for example, the there are problems, there are reports of anti-social 
behaviour, the property is in disrepair or there are reports of non-residency. It is 
understood that there are plans for more stringent procedures on visiting households, 
with Housing Options Officers making initial visits at the start of the placement. There 

P
age 138



Page 27 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

will then be another visit within a month where a decision will be made on how future 
contact will be made dependent on the needs of each placement. The Housing Needs 
and Improvements Manager confirmed that moving forward contact will be made at 
least once a month and these revised procedures have been set out in a draft 
Temporary Accommodation Procedure Manual. Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 – The budget for temporary accommodation is appropriately managed. 
The review found that all applicants placed in temporary accommodation are required 
to pay a weekly charge. If the applicant is on a low income, they are advised to apply 
for Housing Benefit, however they are informed that Housing Benefit may not cover 
all charges and they are liable for any shortfall. Arrangements exist for the Housing 
Options Team to regularly monitor arrears and take appropriate action where 
necessary. Monthly reports are produced for senior management detailing the 
number of temporary accommodation placements, broken down by type of 
accommodation. These reports show that there has been a reduction in temporary 
accommodation placements since April 2019, with 111 reported in April and 80 
reported in September. The temporary accommodation budget is monitored regularly 
via the council-wide budget monitoring process. In addition, bi-monthly analysis of 
the homelessness budget is undertaken by Finance. The review found that based on 
the current spend to date, if spend is at the same level for the remainder of the year, 
the council would see a minimal overspend for 2019-20 (taking into account the 
funding that was introduced to support the increased number of temporary 
accommodation placements following the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act). This funding was allocated for a three year period, with the last 
known amount at the time of audit being for 2019-20. Since the audit fieldwork was 
undertaken, funding for 2020-21 has been announced, with further funding being 
made available. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high and three medium priority.
Recommendations relate to setting deadlines for receiving documentation needed 
to assess eligibility for homelessness assistance, ensuring an appropriate temporary 
accommodation approval process is in place, regular monitoring of temporary 
accommodation placements and the implementation of a revised procedure 
manual. 

23 Sheltered housing 15 12.5 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – The effectiveness of the management of the Sheltered Housing Schemes.
Since the implementation of the Intensive Housing Management Service there is a 
concentration on resources to ensure eligible tenants have access to accommodation 
which suits their needs. Evidence was available to show the risk assessment process 

P
age 139



Page 28 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

for new tenants’ works but there is scope to improve the ongoing review of tenants 
needs. Officers support the objective to help tenants live independently and signpost 
tenants to appropriate agencies where they require specialist support. Prior to and 
during the Covid-19 lockdown the service have had arrangements in place to monitor 
and inspect properties for repairs. Prior to and during lockdown, evidence 
demonstrates officers have regular contact with all residents to ensure they are safe 
and well. Prior to lockdown the service also held regular meetings with scheme 
representatives to ensure residents have a forum to raise their concerns. There was 
no evidence of tenant dissatisfaction following the change from the Supporting 
People scheme to the current Intensive Housing Management Service. The service 
deal with vulnerable adults and there is a requirement in the Safeguarding policy to 
ensure officers have DBS checks and receive appropriate and regular training. The 
evidence available identified scope to strengthen the DBS process. There was also 
insufficient evidence that the service identify or provide appropriate and regular 
training to officers. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Four medium priority.
Recommendations relate to identification and provision of training, reviewing 
information on the Council website, conducting periodic risk assessment for 
tenants, and improving consistent recording of H&S inspection records.

24 Private sector 
housing – Disabled 
facilities grants

15 12.6 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
November 
2019

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to facilitate and monitor the payment of Private 
Sector Housing - Disabled Facilities Grant.
The review found an up to date Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy is in place 
which sets out the various mandatory and discretionary grants available. The council is 
obliged to provide mandatory DFGs for works that are considered necessary to meet 
the needs of eligible disabled residents. A suitable budget is in place in order to do this 
and the budget is regularly monitored to ensure there are sufficient funds to cover the 
requested grants. Discretionary grants are only awarded if the budget allows, with 
mandatory grants taking priority.
Information is made available on the council’s website to enable residents to access 
Disabled Facilities Grants. All enquiries regarding DFGs have to be made via KCC in 
order that an Occupational Therapist (OT) Assessment can be carried out to assess the 
client’s needs; this is stated on the website, with contact details provided.
On receipt of a referral from the OT, arrangements exist for a Preliminary Test of 
Resources (PTR) to be carried out within seven days to assess entitlement for grant, 
including whether the client is required to make a financial contribution towards the 
cost of the work. PTRs are not carried out for referrals in respect of children and a fast 

P
age 140



Page 29 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

track process is in place, which bypasses the need for a PTR, for grants below £6,000. 
Once the PTR has been carried out, the client is given an indication of the amount that 
could be granted and is invited to make an application. The forms used to apply for a 
grant have to comply with government standards and are supplied by a government 
affiliated company. Agents can be used by the client to assist with completing the 
application and gathering all supporting documentation. The council has six months to 
approve or refuse an application once all relevant paperwork has been received, 
however a local target of 20 days has been set. Arrangements exist for all decisions to 
be authorised and for the client to be notified of the decision. 
Audit testing carried out on a random sample of DFGs confirmed that PTRs had been 
carried out where appropriate, within seven days; appropriate supporting documents 
had been supplied with all applications; all grants had been authorised at the 
appropriate level; the client had been advised of whether the grant had been 
approved or refused within the appropriate timescale; the payment of grant had been 
made as per the grant award notification and any variations had been documented 
and explained; and, the invoices received matched the quotes that had been 
submitted.   
Under the provisions of the Disabled Facilities Grant, the Council is entitled to place a 
local land charge on the property if a grant application has been approved and paid. 
Land charges are applied when the value of the work is in excess of £5,000; the charge 
cannot exceed £10,000 in total and will only be recovered if the property is sold within 
10 years of the certified completion date. Audit testing found that land charges are 
appropriately administered and monitored and any amounts repayable to the council 
are recovered. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

25 Tenancy 
enforcement 

10 16.7 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – There are arrangements in place for tenancy enforcement. 
The review found that all tenants are expected to sign a tenancy agreement at the 
start of their tenancy and are therefore bound by the council’s tenancy conditions. A 
process is in place for the tenant to attend a “sign up” meeting before signing the 
agreement, where the tenancy conditions are explained. Information is also available 
on the council’s website. A tenancy record must be created on the council’s housing 
management system, Capita, for all new tenancies. Audit testing on a random sample 
of 20 tenancies found that in all cases, a tenancy agreement had been signed prior to 
the tenancy starting and a tenancy record had been created. 
Reports of tenancy breaches are received via a number of sources and should be 
recorded on Capita. The system will, however, only allow cases logged as Anti-Social 

P
age 141



Page 30 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Behaviour (ASB) to be reported on and it is suggested that this is reviewed when 
procuring the new housing management system to allow for greater monitoring of 
breaches. Any breach of the tenancy conditions could lead to enforcement action, 
however the conditions are so vast that each case is handled individually and 
therefore it is difficult to be prescriptive on what and how enforcement action should 
be taken, though there is a limited selection of actions available. The actions taken 
should be appropriate and proportionate to the breach and should take an 
incremental approach. There are several policies used in relation to tenancy 
enforcement, however there are no procedure notes to direct the work of staff and 
several officers interviewed during the review indicated that further training would be 
beneficial. Tenancy breaches are investigated by the Housing Officers, however there 
are also two ASB Housing officers within the team who support the Housing Officers 
with ASB cases, in addition to investigating alleged ASB themselves. Agreement and 
guidance on what cases should be referred to the ASB Housing Officers, and at what 
stage, would be beneficial. Audit testing on a sample of 21 ASB cases and other 
tenancy breaches confirmed that all cases were investigated but identified a few 
examples of inconsistent approaches being taken when dealing with similar breaches. 
Testing also confirmed that there is a high level of partnership working when 
undertaking enforcement action, though some instances were identified of cases of a 
similar nature being referred to other departments, whereas others were investigated 
by the Housing Team. Additionally, the level of detail recorded regarding the action 
taken in respect of the cases reviewed varied in detail, which could limit the ability to 
take an incremental approach. All of the above further supports the need for 
additional training and guidance. 
Similarly to when tenancies are created on Capita, tenancies should be ended in a 
timely manner and should be ended in line with the agreed tenancy termination date 
or eviction date. Audit testing on a random sample of 20 ended tenancies found that 
16 of the tenant(s) returned the keys within a reasonable timescale and one had 
exceptional circumstances that meant it was agreed they could stay for a longer 
transitional period. Fourteen of these 17 tenancies were also promptly ended on 
Capita; the remaining three were eviction cases and there was a period of at least two 
weeks from the date of the eviction to the date that the tenancy was ended on 
Capita, this was due to the time allowed for tenants to collect their possessions. 
The final three tenancies were transfers between council properties and the review 
found that there were overlaps between one and two months where the tenant held 
two tenancies on Capita. In one instance a tenant was given a sole tenancy but had 
not been removed from a previous joint tenancy, which was not picked up until a data 

P
age 142



Page 31 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

cleansing exercise was undertaken. In the remaining two instances, one case saw the 
two tenancies being linked to the same person record; whereas the other saw two 
person records created, one for each tenancy, using different formats of the tenant’s 
name in the belief that the Capita system would not allow one person to have more 
than one tenancy, however the review found that this is not the case. We were 
advised that when the above issue arose, immediate action was taken to investigate 
and rectify the issue. It was explained that tenants should not be allowed more than 
one tenancy however there will be circumstances where this is unavoidable when 
transferring between tenancies and it is agreed that this should be recorded 
accurately and monitored. Opinion: Amber. 
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high priority.
Recommendations relate to the introduction of procedure guidance for staff, 
directly relating to tenancy enforcement, to ensure consistency of action and that 
accurate records are maintained; reviewing training available for Housing Officers; 
and, ensuring tenancies are ended promptly on the housing management system 
and a consistent approach is followed when transferring tenancies, with approval 
for any significant overlaps. 

26 Business 
continuity - back-
up arrangements 

10 6.4 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
November 
2019

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - There are adequate backup facilities in place.
The review found that the current process for backups is largely automated with 
backups taking place incrementally overnight and full backups running at weekends. 
This combination of weekly and incremental backups enables full data to be restored 
from the previous evening. The service are looking to improve the connectivity speed 
to recover data and to hold daily backup of data offsite, which would enable full data 
restoration to the previous evening in the event of a local disaster. Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 - Appropriate measures are in place to ensure the maintenance of the IT 
business continuity plan.
The review found that the IT Disaster Recovery Plan is unable to be completed without 
the Heads of Service and Managers identifying their critical functions and the 
maximum time they can be without IT. While steps are being undertaken to gather 
this information corporately, it remains to be seen how successful these are and if the 
policy is able to be completed and reviewed appropriately. 
Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high priority.
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a test schedule to comply with 
requirement of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the IT Disaster Recovery Plan 
being updated and reviewed in line with the overarching Business Continuity Plan. 

P
age 143



Page 32 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

27 Property 
Acquisition 
Strategy

10 17 Final report 
issued

Findings 
reported 
February 2020

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Property investments are appropriately managed.
The review found that there is a Property Acquisition Strategy in place, which provides 
a framework for purchasing investment properties. The Strategy was initially approved 
by Full Council on 23 February 2016, with an updated Strategy subsequently approved 
on 11 October 2016. When the Property Acquisition Strategy was introduced, an initial 
fund of £10 million was made available for the purchasing of investment properties. 
Since that time, funding of £26.2 million has been made available, with £3.29 million 
currently remaining. All extensions to the funding have been supported by appropriate 
cash flow forecasting and were approved by Full Council. 
Arrangements exist for potential investment properties to be identified, with 
parameters set out in the Property Acquisition Strategy. There have been seven 
acquisitions made under the Strategy to date and audit testing confirmed that all were 
in accordance with the Strategy parameters.  
The Property Acquisition Strategy also sets out the process and approval requirements 
for purchasing investment properties. A review of the three most recent properties 
purchased under the Strategy found that the acquisitions had been made in line with 
the required process and had been appropriately approved.  
In line with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting, the council is required to undertake annual 
valuations for all investment properties. The review found that annual valuations are 
carried out on all investment properties and are reported in the Annual Statement of 
Accounts. 
Several performance indicators, which are directly linked to the Property Acquisition 
Strategy, are in place and reported on via the council’s Performance Management 
Framework. In addition, ‘property dashboards’ are being drafted for all property 
investments. Once finalised, the dashboards will be periodically presented to the 
relevant Committees.
The Property Acquisition Strategy outlines the circumstances where disposals may be 
considered, along with a recommended process, however there have not yet been any 
disposals of properties purchased under the Strategy. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

28 Finalisation of 
2018-19 planned 
work 

25 28.5 Complete 

29 Responsive 
assurance work 

10 4.4 Complete The team carried out detailed checks to ensure the accuracy of spreadsheets used to 
verify the ballots issued and calculate the results of the Local and European elections 

P
age 144



Page 33 of 48

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

held in May 2019, the Westcourt By-Election in October 2019 and the General 
Election in December 2019.

Counter Fraud Assurance Work
33 Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme 
15 N/A Removed from 

plan 
November 
2019

Due to the change in management within revenues and benefits and concerns around 
the proposed arrangements for the new banded scheme, the consultation has been 
delayed until at least 2020-21. As such it was determined that it would be more 
appropriate to delay this audit until the arrangements for the new scheme are 
confirmed.

34 Flexi, TOIL and 
overtime 

15 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Adequate arrangements are in place for the operation of the Council’s flexi 
and TOIL scheme.
RMO2 – Adequate arrangements are in place for the operation of the Council’s 
overtime scheme.  

Other consultancy services including advice & information (items in italics detailed in previous update reports)

Client service area Services provided
GDPR The team reviewed the draft project plan for the GDPR implementation.

Town Twinning Association The team carried out an audit of the Gravesham Town Twinning Association’s accounts.

LATCo Corporate Working Group  One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders was part of a project group overseeing formation of a Local 
Authority Trading Company.   

Romani Slovak Czech Community Group The team undertook analysis of the Romani Slovak Czech Community Group’s annual accounts to ensure 
that funding provided by the council was being used appropriately.

Data Quality The team undertook testing of the methodologies for a sample of performance indicators linked to the new 
corporate plan.

Interreg  France (Channel) England Go Trade 
Project 

One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders undertook the role of First Level Controller for Gravesham 
Borough Council’s part in this project. 

Counter Fraud Activity 

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

P
age 145



Page 34 of 48

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

36 Pro-active 
investigations work

30 0 N/A Due to the volume of NFI matches received, additional pro-active exercises were not 
undertaken.

37 Data matching 
exercises, including 
National Fraud 
Initiative and Kent 
Intelligence Network

30 56.7 Ongoing The service has been involved in the review of data matches received as part of the 
NFI exercise across a range of data sets, including Housing and Council Tax, and has 
been supported in this task by other services such as Revenues and Benefits. Approx 
2266 matches have been reviewed to determine whether further action was required 
and details relating to any matches that progress to formal investigation by the 
service are included in table under the category Reactive Investigations work: external 
investigations. As the NFI exercises often cross over financial years, a separate report 
on progress is provided to the committee with full details.
The Kent Intelligence Network now has two data matching solutions, one focusing on 
Business Rates (NNDR) and the other with capability to provide custom data matching 
as per work streams identified by the KIN Board and its working groups.
Investigations linked to these early matches are still ongoing but a number of 
businesses not included in the rating list have been identified and are currently with 
the Valuation Office Agency for their rateable value to be determined and the 
revenues service have removed small business rate relief from one business that was 
not entitled, resulting in additional rates of £7,588. 

38 Fraud awareness 10 0.5 Members received fraud awareness training as part of their induction following the 
local elections in May 2019. Housing and Revenues also had a fraud awareness 
sessions at team meetings or small group sessions.

Reactive Investigations work: external investigations

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable 

Savings
Non-cashable 

Savings
Prevented 

Losses

Council Tax 1 290 231 cases were concluded with the removal 
of the council tax discount/exemption, two 
of which also resulted in the issue of a civil 
penalty. In addition one case also identified 
overpayments in respect of Housing Benefit 
and Council Tax Reduction.
A further four cases were concluded as LA 
error and although discounts were removed 
in all cases, only three were identified as 
recoverable debts.

£168,025.37 
(Historic 
Liability) 
£87,729.95 
(Additional 
liability for 
future years)
£140 (Civil 
Penalty) 

N/A N/A

P
age 146



Page 35 of 48

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable 

Savings
Non-cashable 

Savings
Prevented 

Losses

One case was concluded with the removal of 
the Council Tax Reduction Award.
54 cases were concluded with no evidence 
of fraud.

£1,260.60 (HB 
Overpayment)

Tenancy 0 9 Five cases resulted in the recovery of a GBC 
property. In two other cases, while no 
evidence of tenancy fraud was found, they 
did result in the cancellation of a RTB 
application and the removal of a SPD after 
discovery of an additional occupant.
Two cases were concluded with no evidence 
of fraud.

£681.25 
(Historic 
Liability) 
£394.10 
(Additional 
liability for 
future years)

£90,000 £82,800

Housing Allocations 
& Homelessness

0 5 Two people were removed from the waiting 
list as a result of investigations but neither 
were actively bidding and therefore no 
financial saving has been associated with 
these cases.
Three cases concluded with no evidence of 
fraud.

N/A N/A N/A

Reactive Investigations work: internal investigations (items in italics detailed in previous update reports)

Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations
Allegation that an employee was seen working 
while off sick from his substantive post.

It was identified at the start of the investigation that the employees was already subject to disciplinary 
action but the hearing had been delayed repeatedly due to sickness. Enquiries confirmed that the 
employee in question had been working for an alternative employer via an agency during his period of 
sickness and this information was passed to HR to be included as part of the aforementioned disciplinary 
hearing. 
The employee failed to attend the hearing and was dismissed with immediate effect. The council will also 
be seeking recovery of sick pay due to the fact they were in alternative employment at the time.

P
age 147



Page 36 of 48

4. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 
improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service QAIP for 2019-20 was agreed by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 2019. 

The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management processes.  It 
should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent data quality 
verification. 

In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 24 performance indicators based on the 
balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth and customer. 
Performance targets have been set for 15 of the 24 indicators and outturns presented are those as of 31 March 
2020 unless otherwise stated. The statistics for the proportion of agreed assignments delivered and underway 
are shown both as at 31 March 2020 and 30 June 2020 to reflect the work undertaken over an extended period 
as part of the recovery phase of emergency planning.  

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements 

Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Service 
Total Cost £570,652

A&CF1

LA Share

N/A

£193,212

A&CF2 Cost per A&CF day £400 £305
A&CF3 Proportion of staff with relevant 

professional qualification:
Relevant audit qualification
Relevant counter fraud qualification

75%

21%
50%

A&CF4 Proportion of non-qualified staff 
undertaking professional qualification 
training  

25% 7%

A&CF5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development

70 days 93 days

A&CF6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% The External Quality Assessment (EQA) 
conducted in February 2018 was positive 
with performance in line with or above 
that of other local authorities as per 
benchmarking; however, it did not provide 
a percentage of compliance.
Our January 2019 self- assessment showed 
full compliance with 94% of the standards, 
partial compliance with a further 4% and 
work required to address the remaining 
2%. 
We are working to address the areas that 
require improvement.

A&CF7 Staff turnover N/A 0.36 FTE 

Page 148



Page 37 of 48

LA Specific Performance Measurements 

A&CF8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  £4,747

A&CF9 Proportion of available resources spent 
on productive work 

90% 87%

Proportion of productive time spent on:
Assurance work 67%

A&CF10

Consultancy work

65%

6%
Proportion of productive time spent on: 
Proactive counter fraud work 9%

A&CF11

Reactive counter fraud work

35%

19%
A&CF11a Time spent on SPOC associated duties N/A 52 days

Proportion of agreed assurance 
assignments:

As at 31 March 2020 As at 30 June 2020

Delivered 72% 92%

A&CF12

Underway

95%

20% 0%

A&CF13 Proportion of assignments completed 
within allocated day budget

90% 18%

A&CF14 Proportion of completed reviews subject 
to a second stage (senior management) 
quality control check in addition to the 
primary quality control review

10% 0%

A&CF15 Proportion of recommended actions 
agreed by client management

90% 98%

Number of recommendations agreed 
that are:
Not yet due 7
Implemented 48

A&CF16

Outstanding

N/A

15

A&CF17 Proportion of recommended actions 
implemented by agreed date

N/A 76%

A&CF18 Number of referrals received N/A 323

A&CF19 Number of investigations closed N/A 305

Value of fraud losses identified, by fraud 
type:
Cashable (losses that can be recovered) £258,231
Non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates)

£90,000

A&CF20

Prevented losses (savings associated 
with blocked applications)

N/A

£82,800

A&CF21 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment

95% 100% (based on five responses received 
during the year)

A&CF22 Customer satisfaction with overall 
service

95% A wider satisfaction survey was conducted 
in March 2019 and received 11 responses. 
Eight of the 11 respondents (73%) were 
either satisfied or very satisfied with the 
overall service provided by Audit & 
Counter Fraud. The remaining three (27%) 

Page 149



Page 38 of 48

gave a neutral response.   
A&CF23 Member satisfaction with assurance 

provided (based on Chair of Audit 
Committee contribution to Appraisal of 
the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud role)

Positive Cllr Gurbax Singh provided the following 
comments in relation to the performance 
of the HIACF; 
James roles is central to the reliance of the 
Finance and Audit Committee work with 
much of the detailed work, reports, 
updates and Audits conducted by the Audit 
and Counter Fraud Team. When required 
in the past for clarification and reporting 
on certain matters he was able to provide 
the answer and explain the procedure and 
outcome clearly.
I am sure that in his role as Head of the 
Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service, 
James and the Team will continue to 
provide an excellent service to The council.

A&CF24 Statement of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception. 
At the time of writing this report, no 
concerns had been raised with the Head of 
Internal Audit and Counter Fraud by Grant 
Thornton.

Page 150



Page 39 of 48

5. Follow up of agreed recommendations
Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, governance 
and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for improvement with service 
managers.  The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to monitor and ensure that 
management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior management has accepted the risk of not 
taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be prioritised based on risk. 

Service managers are asked to provide an update on action taken towards implementing all recommendations 
due on a monthly basis and are also asked to supply evidence to confirm that action has been taken in respect 
of all High priority recommendations, which is verified by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team.  

The first of the two tables below sets out the position of all recommendations which have formed part of the 
recommendation follow-up process during the 2019-20 financial year. The second details recommendations that 
were more than six months over their planned implementation date as at 31 March 2020; along with an update 
from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant Director/Director.

Page 151



Page 40 of 48

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Private Housing 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: one high and two medium priority.
Recommendations related to appropriate records being maintained for PI15, the 
updating of the private housing enforcement policy and gaining understanding of 
whether Category two and non-urgent service requests are being handled in a 
timely manner.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.

Housing Rents Opinion: Amber 
Four recommendations agreed: two high and two medium priority. 
Recommendations related to discussions on the use of Enforcement Officers to 
recover former tenant arears; further measures to ensure that Direct Debits are 
collected in a timely manner; updating the procedure documents supporting the 
recovery of current and former tenant arrears; and, making details of the rent 
balance tracker available on the back of all rent arrears letters.

Four recommendations due, four implemented. 

IT Security – User 
Access Controls 

Opinion: Amber
Four recommendations agreed: one high and three medium priority. 
Recommendations relate to completion of work required for the PSN connection, 
the updating and circulation of IT related policies, and ensuring that password re-set 
options are activated. 

Four recommendations due, four implemented. 

NNDR Opinion: Green. 
One medium priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to consideration of data matching between council 
systems, data sharing between departments and ensuring compliance with the 
GDPR.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

Building Security Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed: three high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to finalisation of the Security Policy, enhancement of 
arrangements for managing the Access Control System and enhancement of 
arrangements for managing temporary passes.

Five recommendations due, five implemented.

Contact Centre 
Operations 

Opinion: Green. 
Four recommendations agreed: three medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to aligning the period of the Customer Service and Access 
Strategy to that of the corporate plan, resuming the monitoring of webchat 

Four recommendations due, four implemented.

P
age 152



Page 41 of 48

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
performance, Customer Services champions attending the team meetings of other 
services and a review of the main reception area as part of the strategy review.

Business Continuity No Opinion Delivered – Consultancy Review
Four recommendations agreed: one high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to the re-designing of BCP templates, a programme of 
learning for managers, the incorporation of an audit trail in the BCP for reviews and 
testing and the identification of key essential services.

Four recommendations due, four implemented. 

Performance 
Management 
Framework 

Opinion: Green.
Three low priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to an elected Member training document being devised, 
the Data Quality Policy being updated regarding point 5.8 and Appendix 4 and 
documented agreement from the relevant Portfolio holder being obtained for all 
targets. 

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.

Bad Debt Provision Opinion: Amber.
Three recommendations agreed: one medium and two low priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring all elements of debt within the council are 
considered, producing written notes on the methodologies being used and checking 
data used in calculation is accurate.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.

Establishment 
Management

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed: one high, three medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring consistent information is provided for all 
requests to make changes to the establishment, ensuring that HR implications are 
formally considered for each change, preparing a policy or procedure note setting 
out the process for making changes to the establishment, reviewing forms used to 
make changes to the establishment on Resource Link and carrying out periodic 
reconciliations between the establishment list and salaries budget.

Five recommendations due, five implemented.

Housing Allocations 
(Counter Fraud 
review)

Opinion: Amber.
Seven recommendations agreed: three high and four medium priority.
Recommendations relate to reviewing and, where appropriate, updating the current 
Allocations policy, refresher training in respect of document verification, applicants 
supplying original identification and supporting evidence in respect of all 
applications, application forms and supporting documents being retained in all 
cases, the introduction of a formal process for all direct let authorisations, an annual 

Six recommendations due, five implemented. 
One high priority outstanding relating to 
updating the current Allocations policy.

P
age 153



Page 42 of 48

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
review of the housing waiting list and annual  declarations of interest being 
completed by all allocations staff.

VAT Opinion: Green.
Three low priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to improving VAT awareness to staff outside of Finance 
and implementing procedures in relation to VAT and bad debt write offs.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.

Transparency Opinion: Amber.
One medium priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to formally allocating responsibility for updating each 
dataset required by the Local Government Transparency Code and reminding 
relevant officers to update data in line with the publication frequencies set out in 
the Code.

One recommendation due, one implemented. 

Brookvale Health & 
Safety 

Opinion: Amber. 
Four recommendations agreed: one high, two medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to ensuring that training records are maintained and 
complete for all Brookvale operatives, a requirement for the officers undertaking 
risk assessments to be qualified to do so, ensuring that checks are made that the 
employment agencies who provide workers supply appropriate PPE and identifying 
an area suitable for first aid treatment, ensuring easy access and a washable floor.

Four recommendations due, four implemented.

GDPR Opinion: Red. 
One high priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to the implementation of an effective monitoring system 
once the Council has progressed its GDPR compliance sufficiently.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

Homelessness Opinion: Red. 
Four recommendations agreed: three high and one medium priority.  
Recommendations relate to the website being updated in line with the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, and the rebadging, implementation and publication of 
the Homelessness Prevention Strategy, as in line with the Rough Sleeping Strategy 
delivery plan, the creation of procedure notes to support the new requirements of 
the act, and looking at prevention measures and longer term accommodation 
options, in order to make better use of the temporary accommodation budget, and 
help prevent homelessness.

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating looking at 
prevention measures and longer term 
accommodation options.

P
age 154



Page 43 of 48

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
IT Strategy & 
Implementation

Opinion: Amber. 
Two medium priority recommendations agreed. 
Recommendations relate to ensuring discrepancies identified by the licence 
management software are investigated with a record of corrective action taken and 
reconciliations of IT asset records.

Two recommendations due, two implemented. 

Write-Offs Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one medium and two low priority. 
Recommendations relate to a review of the Write Off procedure notes to ensure 
Codes align with the updated pro-forma, and to reduce the generation of paperwork 
by reflecting that more services hold information electronically

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.

Use of 
Enforcement 
Services

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to the council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy being circulated 
to all relevant staff, the council’s procedures and policy in respect of vulnerable 
debtors being reviewed and shared with the  Enforcement Agents, Debt Collection 
Agents and Sheriffs used, and appropriate agreements being put in place for all 
enforcement services, including expected performance arrangements then being 
put in place for performance to be monitored in line with the agreement, including 
documenting any meetings held.

Three recommendations due, one 
implemented. 
One high and one medium priority outstanding 
relating to the council’s procedures and policy 
in respect of vulnerable debtors being reviewed 
and shared with the Enforcement Agents, Debt 
Collection Agents and Sheriffs used and 
appropriate agreements being put in place for 
all enforcement services, including expected 
performance arrangements then being put in 
place for performance to be monitored in line 
with the agreement, including documenting any 
meetings held.

Ethics Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed: two medium and three low priority. 
Recommendations relate to establishing a clear and consistent definition of what 
ethical values the council holds and expects its employees to work by, incorporating 
these ethical values into the recruitment, induction and appraisal processes, 
reviewing reporting arrangements outlined within the Anti-Fraud & Corruption 
Strategy and introducing arrangements to identify and collate reports of unethical 
behaviour received via the various council policies.

Five recommendations due, one implemented. 
Two medium and two low priority outstanding 
relating to establishing a clear and consistent 
definition of what ethical values the council 
holds and expects its employees to work by, 
incorporating these ethical values into the 
recruitment, induction and appraisal processes 
and reviewing reporting arrangements outlined 
within the Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy.

Refunds Opinion: Amber. 
Nine recommendations agreed: three high, five medium and one low priority. 

Nine recommendations due, six implemented. 

P
age 155



Page 44 of 48

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Recommendations relate to a review of the Corporate Refunds Procedure, 
implementation of procedure notes for individual departments, a review of 
information provided in respect of refunds on the council’s website, checks being 
made by Council Tax / NNDR with all relevant departments to identify other 
outstanding debts, investigations into enabling easy identification of card refunds, 
access rights within the Revenues & Benefits system being reviewed, provision made 
for customer services team leaders to be added to the authorised signatory list, all 
refunds being approved by an appropriately authorised officer, investigations being 
undertaken in relation to implementation of digital refund procedures for all 
services and the Charge-back policy being reviewed and re-circulated to relevant 
staff.

One high and two medium priority outstanding 
relating to a review of the Corporate Refunds 
Procedure, implementation of procedure notes 
for individual departments, investigations into 
enabling easy identification of card refunds and 
the Charge-back policy being reviewed and re-
circulated to relevant staff.

Housing Rent 
Collection & 
Administration 

Opinion: Amber.
Two recommendations agreed: one high and one medium priority.
Recommendations relate to making further checks to ensure service charges are 
correct on entry and for a procedure for checking staff who have access to Capita 
are reconciled at least annually with the relevant Service Manager.

Two recommendation due, one implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating to making 
further checks to ensure service charges are 
correct on entry.

Business Continuity 
– IT Backup 
Arrangements

Opinion: Amber.
Two high priority recommendations agreed.  
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a test schedule to comply with 
requirement of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the IT Disaster Recovery Plan 
being updated and reviewed in line with the overarching Business Continuity Plan.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

Council Tax 
Recovery 

Opinion: Amber.
Three recommendations agreed: two high and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to a review of the system recovery parameters, a review of 
the corporate debt accounts to ensure these have been reflected on all systems and 
a review of how debt is monitored at an operational level.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

Staff Sickness 
Management & 
Monitoring 

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed: three high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to staff being reminded of the requirements for reporting 
sickness, a review of the distribution lists and operational setup for the sickness line, 
supporting information being made easily available to line managers, and support 
being provided to departments with the highest level of sickness absences.

Three recommendations due, none 
implemented.
Three high priority outstanding relating to a 
review of the operational setup for the sickness 
line, supporting information being made easily 
available to line managers, and support being 
provided to departments with the highest level 
of sickness absences.

P
age 156



Page 45 of 48

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Temporary 
Accommodation

Opinion: Amber.
Four recommendations agreed: one high and three medium priority.
Recommendations relate to setting deadlines for receiving documentation needed 
to assess eligibility for homelessness assistance, ensuring an appropriate temporary 
accommodation approval process is in place, regular monitoring of temporary 
accommodation placements and the implementation of a revised procedure 
manual. 

Four recommendations due, four implemented.

Tenancy 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber.
Three high priority recommendations agreed.  
Recommendations relate to the introduction of procedure guidance for staff, 
directly relating to tenancy enforcement, to ensure consistency of action and that 
accurate records are maintained; reviewing training available for Housing Officers; 
and, ensuring tenancies are ended promptly on the housing management system 
and a consistent approach is followed when transferring tenancies, with approval 
for any significant overlaps. 

No recommendations due before 31 March 
2020.

P
age 157



Page 46 of 48

Recommendations outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date 
Directorate Audit & Counter 

Fraud Review 
title

Recommendation Priority Planned 
Implementation 

Date

Management Update

Communities Ethics A clear and consistent definition 
of what ethical values the council 
holds and expects its employees 
to work by should be made 
available within the Code of 
Conduct.

Low 30 September 
2019

Although outstanding as at 31 March 2020, 
recommendation has since been implemented.

Communities Ethics Commitment to the council’s 
ethical values should be 
incorporated into the 
recruitment, induction and 
appraisal processes.

Medium 30 September 
2019

Although outstanding as at 31 March 2020, 
recommendation has since been implemented.

Communities Ethics Information in relation to making 
entries to the Gifts & Hospitality 
and Employee Interest Registers 
should be updated in the Code of 
Conduct and employees 
reminded of these procedures.

Medium 30 September 
2019

Although outstanding as at 31 March 2020, 
recommendation has since been implemented.

P
age 158



Page 47 of 48

6. Update on 2020-21 Planned Audit & Counter Fraud 
Work
The Finance & Audit Committee agreed the proposed workplan for 2020-21 on 10 March 2020. Subsequent to 
this meeting, the council moved into emergency response due to the Covid 19 Pandemic. The Audit & Counter 
Fraud service was identified as non-critical by both councils and all ‘business as usual’ activity ceased with 
immediate effect, with staff made available for redeployment to other critical services. This has meant that 
work on the Audit & Counter Fraud plan for 2020-21 did not commence from 01 April as originally intended. 

Although activity around planned reviews ceased, the support provided to other services has been focused on 
alternative duties that still centre around assurance and fraud prevention, such as;

 a representative from the service being part of the resilience group
 monitoring the decisions being made as part of the emergency response to be aware of potential 

changes to the councils control environment,
 assurance checks of new controls put in place as a result of decisions,
 assisting with the development of the Covid 19 performance measures,
 development of spreadsheets to monitor staff locations,
 a check of the proposed process for managing Business Support Grant applications to provide 

assurance there are adequate controls in place to reduce the risk of fraudulent applications being paid,
 assisting with the validation of Business Support Grant applications ,
 contacting eligible businesses yet to apply for Business Support Grants to advise them of their eligibility 

and maximize support to local businesses,
 a check of the proposed process for assessing Discretionary Business Grant applications to assess 

compliance with council policy and advise on fraud prevention measures, and
 assisting with the assessment of Discretionary Business Grant Applications.

Full details of this work will be included in the first update report for 2020-21, which will be presented to the 
Finance & Audit Committee in September 2020.

As mentioned in section five, a decision was taken on 23 April to recommence work around outstanding audit 
reviews from 2019-20, of which there were seven where fieldwork remained incomplete. In order to prioritise 
and ensure the maximum number of reviews were completed, only reviews where fieldwork was 75%, or more, 
complete were continued, which accounted for five of the seven remaining. The progress of those reviews are 
included in the table in section five and the full details of anything yet to be finalised will be included in the 
October update.

The aim of this extended period of focus on 2019-20 assurance reviews during quarter one of 2020-21 was to 
ensure that an adequate level of work was completed in time for the Chief Audit Executives annual opinion on 
the framework of internal control and ensure the impact of the cessation of the services usual work was 
confined to 2020-21. In addition, the decisions taken in response to the pandemic and new ways of working 
altered the risk profile for the organisation, meaning that the work plan agreed on 10 March 2020 was no longer 
focused on the highest risk areas. During quarter one, a new work plan has been developed and is presented 
separately for approval by the Committee.

The impacts of this reduced period of planned work will be reflected in the annual opinion for 2021 but we have 
ensured that where resources have been redeployed, they have remained focused on alternative forms of 
assurance wherever possible.

Page 159



Page 48 of 48

Definitions of audit opinions

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and objectives 
are being met

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to enable 
the key objectives to be 
met

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations.

Recommendation Priorities
High Action addresses a significant weakness to enable the achievement 

of key objectives.

Medium Action addresses a weakness identified that is not critical to the 
achievement of objectives.

Low Action is a system enhancement or improvement to the efficiency 
of the service. 

Page 160



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 21 July 2020

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Revised Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present for approval the Revised Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21 for Gravesham.

Recommendations:
1. Members approve the revised Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21 for Gravesham 

presented at Appendix 2.
2. Members approve the proposal for only two progress updates to be provided in year.
3. Members approve the request for urgent changes to the plan to be agreed by the 

Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee in consultation with the Head of Internal Audit 
& Counter Fraud; only in the event that the Committee will not meet in time to agree 
the changes.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (Standards) require that: The Chief 
Audit Executive must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the 
internal audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. 

1.2 A risk based plan was prepared for the authority to meet this requirement and was 
presented to the Finance & Audit Committee on 10 March 2020 for approval. 
However, since that plan was approved there have been significant changes 
caused by the impact of the Covid19 pandemic; this has resulted in the need for a 
revised plan to be created for the period 01 July 2020 to 31 March 2021.

2. Preparation of the Revised Audit & Counter Fraud Plan

2.1 The revised plan has been prepared taking into account any changes to the 
control environment brought about by emergency decisions during the emergency 
response, which a representative from Audit & Counter Fraud has been 
monitoring throughout the response phase as well as taking into account the 
original risk assessment, which included.

2.1.1 Review of the council’s priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan 2019-23,

Page 161 Agenda Item 10



2

2.1.2 Review of the council’s key risks as set out in the Corporate Risk Register, 

2.1.3 Review of the council’s financial plans and budgets,

2.1.4 Review of service plans and service risk registers,

2.1.5 The results of previous internal audit work (including follow up work) and 
other sources of assurance to the council,

2.1.6 Horizon scanning to identify local and national issues and risks, 

2.1.7 Identification and risk assessment of those activities key to the delivery of 
the council’s priorities and the management of its identified risks, and,

2.1.8 Consultation with senior management to validate this assessment of the 
council’s risks.  

2.2 This assessment is matched to the resources available in the team to produce the 
revised plan presented at Appendix 2.

2.3 A list of reviews originally included in the plan for 2020-21 that could not be 
included in the revised plan due to loss of resource are detailed at Appendix 3, 
with a brief explanation as to why they were not selected as part of the new 
assessment.

3. Reporting against the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan

3.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Team report to the Finance & Audit Committee four 
times per year, usually providing three updates of progress against the annual 
work plan and an annual report. All reports provide details of the team’s outputs, 
findings and performance against agreed indicators.

3.2 Changes to the Committee schedule mean that if the service were to provide 
three updates on progress during 2020-21; at least one of those reports would 
cover one month only. If no reviews are finalised during that period, there would 
be no new information to provide to the Committee. 

3.3 It is therefore proposed that due to the reduced period now covered by the plan, 
only two updates are provided to the Committee during 2020-21, these being at 
the October 2020 and February 2021 meetings; to ensure that the updates are 
meaningful. Reporting would of course revert back to normal for 2021-22. 

3.4 In addition, the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan will be subject to continual review to 
ensure that it continues to reflect the best use of the available resources and any 
changes to control risks brought about by any further response to the pandemic. 

3.5 Under normal circumstances all revisions to the plan would be brought to the 
Finance & Audit Committee for approval; however the potential for frequent 
changes is far higher given the current situation.

3.6 The Committee are asked to approve an alternative approach for 2020-21, 
whereby the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud may make changes to the 
agreed workplan where agreement is received from the Chair on behalf of the 
Committee. This approach would only be applied in the event that the next 
meeting of the Committee would be too late for the changes to be approved and 

Page 162



3

any such changes would be formally reported to the Committee in the following 
update/annual report.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 163



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that: The chief audit executive 
must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan is 
intended to ensure that the work of the team is effectively directed and is in line with 
the organisation’s goals. Member approval of the plan ensures the status of the 
plan is maintained.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective 
#3 Progress.

Page 164

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no direct digital or website implications to this report.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Revised Audit & Counter 
Fraud Plan 2020-21

Gravesham Borough Council

Page 167



Page 1 of 10

I. Introduction
The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21 for Gravesham was originally approved by the Finance & Audit 
Committee on 10 March 2020. Unfortunately both Gravesham and Medway councils initiated their 
emergency response plans shortly after this date to manage the impacts of the Covid19 pandemic; with 
the Audit & Counter Fraud Service ceasing ‘business as usual’ activity after being identified as non-critical 
and officers from within the service redeployed to other areas of both organisations. 

Where possible the redeployed officers have been utilised in areas where work could contribute to 
alternative forms of assurance or fraud prevention while planned assurance reviews and responsive 
investigation work was not taking place. 

The impact of this situation meant that no planned assurance work took place during Q1 of 2020-21 and 
consequently a revised plan has been created.

II. Preparation of the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
The revised plan has been prepared taking into account any changes to the control environment brought 
about by emergency decisions during the emergency response, which a representative from Audit & 
Counter Fraud has been monitoring throughout the response phase as well as taking into account the 
original risk assessment, which included;

 Review of the council’s priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan 2019-23,

 Review of the council’s key risks as set out in the Corporate Risk Register, 

 Review of the council’s financial plans and budgets,

 Review of service plans and service risk registers,

 Horizon scanning to identify local and national issues and risks, 

 The results of previous internal audit work (including follow up work) and other sources of 
assurance to the council,

 Identification and risk assessment of those activities key to the delivery of the council’s priorities 
and the management of its identified risks, and, 

 Consultation with senior management to validate this assessment of the council’s risks.  

III. Resourcing 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan will be delivered using the in-house resources within the Shared Service, 
a total of 14FTE comprising of 1FTE Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, 3FTE Audit & Counter Fraud 
Team Leaders, 7.64FTE Audit & Counter Fraud Officers (0.36FTE currently vacant), 1FTE Audit & Counter 
Fraud Intelligence Analyst and 1FTE Audit & Counter Fraud Assistant. All available chargeable days for 
these staff are allocated on the plan; resources spent on strategic leadership and management provided 
by the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud and the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders are not allocated on 
the plan. 

The total chargeable resource originally available for 2020-21 for Gravesham was 682 days. The impact 
of the shutdown has resulted in this available resource being reduced to 489 days for the period 01 July 
2020 to 31 March 2021; of which approximately 300 days will be spent on assurance work. In order to 
ensure good coverage across the organisation and make the best use of the reduced resource available, 
a number of shorter reviews are proposed in areas that are reviewed frequently and have received 
positive outcomes in the past. The idea behind this is to provide assurance that the controls are still 
working effectively and allow resource to be used elsewhere. 

Page 168



Page 2 of 10

This has enabled a large proportion of the reviews originally proposed to 2020-21 to remain on the 
revised plan and the 300 days for assurance work are considered sufficient to provide assurance over 
enough of the council’s activities for the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud to deliver an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the overall control environment of the council. 

IV. 2020-21 Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham during the remainder of 
the financial year. The plan includes assurance work focusing on the council’s core governance and 
finance arrangements and corporate / fraud risks, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigation 
work and consultancy services as defined in the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter, as well as time to 
provide the Single Point of Contact (SPOC) role for the DWP Fraud and Error Service for their 
investigation of Housing Benefits administered by the council. The work planned is presented below, 
with each individual item categorised as priority 1, 2 or 3 to assist in the prioritisation of work.  

Page 169



Page 3 of 10

Core governance and financial systems assurance work 
Ref Activity Scope of work Resources 

(days) Timescale Priority 

1 NNDR collection Review of arrangements to administer, bill and collect NNDR.
(Light touch review to conduct testing and ensure controls 
remain effective in light of increased pressures)

5 Q2 1

2 Debtors Review of arrangements to administer and recovery sundry 
debts.
(Light touch review to conduct testing and ensure controls 
remain effective in light of increased pressures)

5 Q2 1

3 Project management - GDPR Review of arrangements to implement the GDPR action plan in 
accordance with set timescales.

10 Q3 1

4 Payroll establishment, payments 
& deductions

Review of arrangements to calculate and pay staff salaries 
(including allowances & overtime).

15 Q3 1

5 Capital accounting Review of arrangements to account for the council's HRA 
capital programme.

15 Q3 1

6 Cyber security Review of arrangements to ensure the National Cyber Security 
Centre (NCSC) 10 steps to cyber security are in place and 
effective.

15 Q4 1

7 Member standards Review of the framework to maintain high ethical standards 
across the council. 

15 Q4 1

  Total 80   

Corporate risks assurance work
Ref Activity Scope of work Resources 

(days) Timescale Priority 

8 Purchase cards Review of arrangements to allocate, monitor and make 
payments in respect of purchase cards.
(Light touch review to conduct testing and ensure controls 
remain effective in light of increased number of card users)

5 Q2 2

9 Housing Benefit & CTR 
administration

Review of arrangements to ensure the accuracy of claims 
processed.  (Light touch review to conduct testing and ensure 
controls remain effective in light of increased pressures)

5 Q2 1

P
age 170



Page 4 of 10

10 Open space management Review of arrangements to manage and enforce rules around 
the use of open space in compliance with Government 
guidance.

15 Q2 2

11 IT asset management Review of arrangements to monitor distribution/relocation of 
IT equipment to allow home working in emergency situation.

15 Q2 1

12 Virtual committee meetings Review of arrangements to ensure virtual committee meetings 
remain in line with constitutional requirements 

15 Q2 1

13 Shared services Review of arrangements to ensure appropriate KPI's and 
monitoring are in place as per the agreements for the council's 
shared services (including the provision of data to partners in 
respect of hosted shared services)

15 Q2 2

14 Corporate debt recovery Review of arrangements to manage the recovery of corporate 
debt, including use of the iDis system.

15 Q3 2

15 Fly-tipping Review of arrangements to respond to incidents of fly-tipping, 
including enforcement action.

15 Q3 1

16 Private housing enforcement Review of arrangements to enforce private housing 
regulations.

15 Q4 2

17 Planning applications Review of arrangements to manage planning applications. 15 Q4 2

18 Community safety Review of arrangements for the council to meet its duties in 
relation to community safety. 

15 Q4 1

19 Traded services - Rosherville Ltd Review of the governance and accounting arrangements for 
the council’s interactions with Rosherville Ltd and its 
subsidiaries. 

15 Q4 1

20 Responsive assurance work Allowance to conduct responsive assurance work unknown at 
the time of planning.

30 Q2-Q4 2

  Total 190   

Follow up work
Ref Activity Scope of work Resources 

(days) Timescale Priority 

21 Follow up of agreed 
recommendations 

Allowance to monitor and report on the implementation of 
agreed recommendations. 

10 Q2-Q4 2

  Total 10   

P
age 171



Page 5 of 10

Consultancy work
Ref Activity Scope of work Resources 

(days) Timescale Priority 

22 Attendance at Corporate 
Working Groups

Allowance for attendance at Corporate Working Groups. 5 Q2-Q4 3

  Total 5   

Counter fraud work 
Ref Activity Scope of work Resources 

(days) Timescale Priority 

Proactive counter fraud work: 
23 Lone workers Fraud proofing review of arrangements for the monitoring of 

lone workers.
15 Q2 2

24 Staff leave booking Fraud proofing review of arrangements to ensure that leave 
and bank holidays are recorded accurately.

15 Q3 2

25 Proactive investigation work Allowance to carry out pro-active exercises to identify fraud 
and error.

19 Q2-Q4 2

26 Data matching exercises 
(including NFI & KIN)

Allowance to carry out and evaluate data matching exercises to 
identify fraud and error.

19 Q2-Q4 2

Reactive counter fraud work: 
27 Responsive investigation work Allowance to carry out investigations into referrals of 

suspected fraud or malpractice.
78 Q2-Q4 1

Other counter fraud work: 
28 Liaison with the DWP Allowance to provide the Single Point of Contact (SPOC) role 

for the DWP FES for their investigation of Housing Benefits 
administered by the council.

35 Q2-Q4 1

29 Responding to information 
requests 

Allowance to respond to information requests from the Police, 
local authorities and other investigatory bodies under 
exemptions in the Data Protection Act/General Data Protection 
Regulations. 

23 Q2-Q4 1

  Total 204   

P
age 172



Page 6 of 10

Summary
Ref Activity Scope of work Resources 

(days) Timescale 

 Core governance & financial systems assurance work 80 Q2-Q4
 Corporate risks assurance work 190 Q2-Q4
 Follow up work 10 Q2-Q4
 Consultancy work 5 Q2-Q4
 Counter fraud work 204 Q2-Q4
 Total 489  

P
age 173



Page 7 of 10

V. Monitoring & review
Arrangements to monitor progress against the Plan are built into the working processes of the team and 
will be reported to senior management and the Finance & Audit Committee through the agreed 
Performance Indicator suite within the Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme. 

The service must remain responsive to the needs of the council, especially in light of potential further 
impacts created by Covid19, and will keep the planned work and priorities under review so that new 
emerging risks arising during the year can be addressed as necessary. The Plan will be reviewed and 
presented to Management Team and the Finance & Audit Committee alongside the quarterly update 
reports to ensure any amendments to the plan are properly approved; however, due to the nature of the 
current situation, some changes may require urgent approval. 

The Finance & Audit Committee are asked to approve an alternative approach whereby the Head of 
Internal Audit & Counter Fraud may make changes to the agreed workplan where agreement is received 
from the Chair of the Committee. This approach would only be applied in the event that the next 
meeting of the Committee would be too late for the changes to be approved.  

Page 174



Appendix A

Page 8 of 10

Cyclical programme of core financial and governance activities 

Activity 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27

Governance arrangements

Governance framework  1  1  1 1

IT Governance 1   1   1

Constitution & policy maintenance   1   1  

Corporate & business planning   1    1

Risk management framework, 
compliance & reporting  1   1   

Performance management framework, 
compliance & reporting 1  1  

Data quality   1   1  

Partnership framework & shared 
working arrangements   1   1  

Project & change management 1   1   1

Ethics 1  1  1  1

Financial systems

General ledger & bank reconciliation  1   1   

Treasury management   1   1  

Debtors, write offs & bad debt provision 1  1  1  1

Creditors, purchase cards & petty cash  1  1  1  

Income collection  1  1  1 1

Housing Benefit & Council Tax reduction  1  1  1 1

P
age 175



Page 9 of 10

Activity 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27

Council Tax administration, collection & 
recovery  1  1  1 1

NNDR administration, collection & 
recovery 1  1  1  1

Payroll establishment, payments & 
deductions 1  1  1  1

Housing rent administration, collection & 
recovery  1  1  1  

VAT  1   1   

Asset management   1   1  

Insurances   1   1  

Financial statements preparation   1    1

Budget monitoring   1   1  

Financial planning  1    1  

Capital accounting 1   1   1

Grant payments   1    1

P
age 176



APPENDIX 3

Planned Assurance reviews no longer on 2020-21 plan
Activity Scope of work Resources (days) Comments

Performance data 
verification

Allowance to assist the Corporate Performance Team 
with verifying annual performance information reported 
by the council. 

10 No longer required. Would originally have taken place in Q1 but 
performance report has now been issued.

Business continuity Review of arrangements to ensure the effectiveness of 
the council’s business continuity arrangements. 

15 Although this was priority 1, the councils corporate change team 
are in the process of looking at the ‘lessons learned’ as a 
consequence of the emergency response to the pandemic with 
the project due to be complete in March 2021. 
On that basis, it was felt that it would be more beneficial for this 
review to be deferred to 2021-22; at which point the assurance 
review could focus on establishing whether the lessons learned 
have been applied to the business continuity arrangements.

Council housing 
disabled adaptations

Review of arrangements to manage delivery of 
adaptations to council housing.

15 Priority 2 and planned for Q4, so deferred to 2021-22

Empty property 
strategy

Review of arrangements to implement the councils 
Empty Property Strategy.

15 Priority 2 and planned for Q4, so deferred to 2021-22

Sponsorship generation Review of arrangements to implement the sponsorship 
strategy and generate income.

15 Priority 2 and planned for Q4, so deferred to 2021-22

Finalisation of 2019-20 
planned work 

Allowance to finalise work from the 2019-20 plan not 
completed at 31 March 2020.

22 All finalisation dealt with as part of 2019-20 extension into Q1 of 
2020-21. Anything left is management time only rather than 
officers.

Planned consultancy no longer on 2020-21 plan
Activity Scope of work Resources (days) Comments

Borough Market Allowance to assist with a review of arrangements to 
manage the Borough Market.

10

Social mobility - 
apprentices

Allowance to research potential assessment criteria for 
apprentices in line with the social mobility pledge.

10

These items were planned consultancy but given the current 
situation and loss of resource, it was felt more appropriate to 
direct the time to assurance work. This was agreed with the client, 
who also felt that it was not the most appropriate time for the 
work to take place. These will be revisited during consultation for 
the 2021-22 plan.

P
age 177



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PSAA, 18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ
www.psaa.co.uk Company number: 09178094

I am writing to notify you of your 2020/21 audit scale fee. In previous years your 
auditor has been required to write to you to do this. However, going forward, we 
have agreed with the audit firms that it is more efficient for PSAA to write out to all 
bodies directly. 

PSAA commissions auditors to provide audits that are compliant with the National 
Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’). PSAA is required by s16 of the 
Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) to set the scale 
fees by the start of the financial year, and we published the 2020/21 scale fees on 
our website on 31 March 2020. In addition to notifying you directly of your scale fee, 
this letter provides you with key updates and information on audit matters in these 
difficult times. 

We wrote to all S151 officers on 12 December 2019 describing that local audit and 
audit more widely is subject to a great deal of turbulence with significant pressures 
on fees.  These pressures still apply and the key aspects are summarised below;

 It is apparent that the well publicised challenges facing the auditing profession 
following a number of significant financial failures in the private sector have 
played a part. As you know, these high profile events have led the 
Government to commission three separate reviews - Sir John Kingman has 
reviewed audit regulation, the Competition and Markets Authority has 
reviewed the audit market, and Sir Donald Brydon has reviewed the audit 
product. 

 30 April 2020

              Email generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk

 

 By email

Dear Section 151 Officer and Audit Committee Chair

 Fee Scale for the Audit 2020/21 and update on 2019/20

Page 179 Agenda Item 11

http://www.psaa.co.uk/


2

 It is not yet clear what the long term implications of these reviews will be. 
However, the immediate impact is clear - significantly greater pressure on 
firms to deliver higher quality audits by requiring auditors to demonstrate 
greater professional scepticism when carrying out their work across all sectors 
– and this includes local audit. This has resulted in auditors needing to 
exercise greater challenge to the areas where management makes 
judgements or relies upon advisers, for example, in relation to estimates and 
related assumptions within the accounts. As a result, audit firms have updated 
their work programmes and reinforced their internal processes and will 
continue to do so to enable them to meet the current expectations.

How we set your scale fee

We consulted on the 2020/21 Scale of Fees in early 2020 and received a total of 54 
responses. We published the final document on our website (Scale fee document). 
In it we explained that although we have set the scale audit fee at the same level as 
for 2019/20, we do not expect the final audit fee to remain at that level for most if not 
all bodies because of a variety of change factors, the impact of which cannot be 
accurately or reliably estimated at this stage. 

The impact of these changes is likely to vary between bodies depending on local 
circumstances, and information to determine that impact with any certainty is not yet 
available. Our view is that it would also be inappropriate to apply a standard increase 
to all authorities given the differing impact of these changes between bodies. As the 
impact of these changes is understood, fee variations will need to be identified and 
agreed reflecting the impact on each audit

Scale fee for the audit 
2020/21

Scale fee for the audit
2019/20

Gravesham Borough 
Council

£41,036 £41,036

As well as the Scale of Fees document, we have also produced a Q&A which 
provides detailed responses to the questions raised as part of the consultation. We 
will update the Q&As periodically to take account of ongoing developments affecting 
scale fees.

The fee for the audit is based on certain assumptions and expectations which are set 
out in the Statement of Responsibilities. This statement serves as the formal terms of 
engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where 
the different responsibilities of auditors and of the audited body begin and end, and 
what is to be expected of both in certain areas. 

Page 180

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-fees/2020-21-audit-fee-scale/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-fees/2020-21-audit-fee-scale/frequently-asked-questions/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/


3

The final fee for the audit will reflect the risk-based approach to audit planning as set 
out in the Code. Under the Code, auditors tailor their work to reflect local 
circumstances and their assessment of audit risk. This is achieved by assessing the 
significant financial and operational risks facing an audited body, and the 
arrangements it has put in place to manage those risks, as well as considering any 
changes affecting audit responsibilities or financial reporting standards.

Fee Variations

As noted above, we recognise that with so much turbulence and change in the local 
audit environment, additional fee variations are likely to arise for most if not all 
bodies. 

The amount of work required on arrangements to secure VFM is a matter of auditor 
judgement and is based on the requirements set out in the new Code and supporting 
guidance which will be published later in 2020. Once the Auditor Guidance Notes 
have been published we will be able to consider the impact of the new requirements 
in more depth, and may be able to provide indicative ranges in relation to the likely 
fee implications for different types and classes of body.

Given that local circumstances at each audited body are key to determining the 
assessment of risk and the audit work required, we would encourage early dialogue 
with your auditor to determine any related implications for fees.  The process for 
agreeing fee variations begins with local communication, and ideally agreement. We 
have produced a fee variation process note which is available on our website (Fee 
variations process). Please note that all fee variations are required to be approved 
by PSAA before they can be invoiced. 

Quality of Audit Services

We are committed to do all we can to ensure good quality audits and a high-quality 
service for the bodies that have opted into our arrangements. The service that you 
can expect to receive from your auditors is set out in their Method Statement, which 
is available from your auditors.

Whilst professional regulation and contractual compliance are important components 
of the arrangements for a quality audit service, so too is the aspect of relationship 
management. We recently commissioned a survey via the LGA Research team to 
obtain audited bodies’ views of the audit service provided to them. The themes and 
improvement areas from the survey will be discussed with firm contact partners for 
development at a local level. The results from our 2018/19 survey of all opted-in 
bodies will be available on our website in May and we will notify all S151 officers and 
Audit Committee Chairs.

Impact of COVID-19 on current 2019/20 audits

Page 181

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-fees/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-fees/


4

The global COVID-19 pandemic has created further turbulence impacting on all 
aspects of the economy including the public sector. There are potentially significant 
repercussions for the delivery of audits, audit-related issues and delays to signing 
audit opinions for 2019/20.  MHCLG has acted to ease these pressures by providing 
more flexibility in the 2019/20 accounts preparation and auditing timetable by 
temporarily revising the Accounts and Audit Regulations. This has extended the 
period which an authority has to publish its draft financial statements until 31 August, 
and importantly there is much greater flexibility for the public inspection period as it is 
now required to start on or before the first working day of September 2020. The 
revised date for publishing audited accounts (if available) is 30 November 2020.

We recommend that you discuss with your auditors the use that can be made of this 
flexibility in meeting mutual governance and assurance responsibilities, noting that in 
a letter to all local authority Chief Executives on 22 April, MHCLG encouraged 
approval of pre-audit accounts earlier than 31 August if possible. 

We have referred to the importance of audit quality in this letter, and just as 
important is the quality of the pre-audit financial statements and the working papers 
that are prepared by bodies. The disruption caused by COVID-19 will impact on 
areas of judgement and creates uncertainty in preparation of the financial 
statements, and it is key that bodies ensure there is sufficient focus upon financial 
reporting and related processes and controls, and that the planned timetable allows 
for sufficient internal quality assurance and review of financial reporting issues taking 
into account the wider impact of the pandemic on the officers’ time.

Local Audit Quality Forum

Our Local Audit Quality Forum focuses on providing information to support audit 
committees (or equivalent) in delivering their remit effectively. We are disappointed 
that we are not able to host our planned event this summer due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. However, we plan to host our next event towards the end of the year. It 
will provide an opportunity to discuss a range of relevant topics and themes. If there 
are any particular areas you would like to see included on a future agenda, or if you 
wish to raise any other issues with PSAA, please feel free to contact us at 
generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk

Your auditor will, of course, be best placed to answer any questions you may have 
with regard to your audit. 

Yours sincerely,

Tony Crawley

Chief Executive

Page 182

mailto:generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk


Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 21 July 2020

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: External Audit Questions to Those Charged with Governance

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an opportunity to consider and discuss a number of questions 
posed by the External Auditors to the Finance & Audit Committee in relation to the council’s 
arrangements to manage fraud risk and ensure legislative compliance.

Recommendations:
1. That the Finance and Audit Committee consider and agree whether the response to 

the letter from Grant Thornton UK LLP, as set out in Appendix Three of this report, is 
consistent with its understanding of the council’s management processes and 
arrangements.

1. Introduction

1.1 As the council’s External Auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP is required to maintain 
effective two-way communication with the council’s Finance & Audit Committee.  
This assists both the External Auditor and the Committee in understanding 
matters relating to the work of External Audit and developing a constructive 
working relationship. It also enables the External Auditor to obtain information 
from the Committee and supports the Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities in 
relation to the financial reporting process.

2. Letter to Those Charged with Governance

2.1 As part the audit risk assessment procedures, Grant Thornton UK LLP has posed 
a number of questions directly to the Finance & Audit Committee regarding how 
the committee oversees the council’s management processes and arrangements.  
A copy of the letter sent to the Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee is provided 
at Appendix Two.  Members are requested to consider and agree the response of 
the committee as set out at Appendix Three to this report.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Page 183 Agenda Item 12



2

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 184



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal N/A

Finance and Value 
for Money 

N/A

Risk Assessment N/A

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan N/A

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 185

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Chartered Accountants 

Member firm within Grant Thornton International Ltd 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG 

A list of members is available from our registered office. 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority for investment business. 

 

 
   
 

Commercial in confidence 

 

 
Councillor G Singh 
Chair of Finance and Audit Committee 
Gravesham Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Windmill Street, Gravesend  
Kent 
DA12 1AU 
 
13th February 2020 
 
Dear Councillor Gurbax, 

Gravesham Borough Council Financial Statements for the Period 

Ended 31 March 2020 

 
To comply with International Auditing Standards, we need to establish an understanding of 
how the Audit Committee gains assurance over management processes and arrangements. 
 
I would be grateful therefore if you could write to me in your role as Chair of the Finance 
and Audit Committee with your responses to the following questions in respect of the 
Council’s financial statements. 

1 Do you have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged frauds? If so, please provide 
details.   

2 How does the Audit Committee gain assurance that all relevant laws and regulations have 
been complied with?   

3 Are you aware of any actual or potential litigation or claims that would affect the financial 
statements? 

I have attached a separate schedule, which explores these areas in more detail, and this is 
included as an Appendix. Please contact me if you wish to discuss anything in relation to this 
request, either via telephone on 020 7728 3091 or by the following e-mail address: 
Emily.McKeown@uk.gt.com. Alternatively, please contact Lisa Lee, Audit In-charge on 020 
7184 4575 or Lisa.PH.Lee@uk.gt.com. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
Emily McKeown 
Engagement Manager 
 
For Grant Thornton UK LLP 
 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
110 Bishopsgate 
London  
EC2N 4AY 
 
T +44 (0)20 7383 5100 
www.grant-thornton.co.uk  

 

Page 187



 

 2 

Commercial in confidence 

 

Appendix 

Responses from Audit Committee Chair: 

 

Question Response 

Are you aware of any related party 
relationships or transactions that could 
give rise to risks of fraud? 
 

 

Do you have knowledge of any actual, 
suspected or alleged fraud affecting 
the Trust as a whole or within specific 
departments since 1 April 2019? 

 

How does the Audit Committee gain 
assurance that all relevant laws and 
regulations have been complied with?   

 

 

Are there any instances of non-
compliance or suspected non-
compliance with law and regulation 
since 1 April 2019 that the Audit 
Committee are aware of? 

 

Is the Audit Committee aware of any 
actual or potential litigation or claims 
that would have a financial impact of 
greater than £70,000 on the financial 
statements? 

 

 
 

Page 188



Response from Finance and Audit Committee Chair

Auditor Question Response
Are you aware of any related party relationships or 
transactions that could give rise to risks of fraud?

No.

The officer and Member codes of conduct 
require interests to be declared.

Related party transaction declarations will 
be requested from senior officers and all 
Members relating to 2019-20 as part of 
the process to produce the Statement of 
Accounts.

Do you have knowledge of any actual, suspected or 
alleged fraud affecting the Council as a whole or within 
specific departments since 1 April 2019?

Yes, as information on the number of all 
suspected, alleged or actual frauds are 
reported to the Finance & Audit 
Committee in the Audit & Counter Fraud 
update reports.  

How does the Finance & Audit Committee gain 
assurance that all relevant laws and regulations have 
been complied with?  

The Annual Governance Statement 
relating to 2019-20 will be presented to 
the Finance & Audit Committee along 
with a record of the evidence sources 
used to prepare the Statement. This 
evidence includes the review of the 
council’s governance arrangements as 
well as assurance statements completed 
by all managers which include a specific 
question seeking assurance that all laws 
and regulations have been complied with. 

The findings of all Audit & Counter Fraud 
reviews are reported to the Finance & 
Audit Committee.  If an audit found 
concerns or any non-compliance this 
would be reported directly to the 
Committee; no such reports have been 
made since 1 April 2019.

The Committee also receive the Local 
Government & Social Care Ombudsman’s 
report as a source of assurance.

Page 189



2

Auditor Question Response
Are there any instances of non-compliance or 
suspected non-compliance with law and regulation 
since 1 April 2019 that the Finance & Audit Committee 
are aware of?

No.

The evidence collated for the Annual 
Governance Statement will include an 
assurance statement specific to the role 
of the Monitoring Officer. 

Based on information provided by the 
Deputy Monitoring Officer, no instances 
of non-compliance have been identified 
since 1 April 2019, nor is there any 
evidence of significant unreported 
concerns.

Is the Finance & Audit Committee aware of any actual 
or potential litigation or claims that would have a 
financial impact of greater than £70,000 on the 
financial statements?

There are no known potential litigation 
cases or claims at the time of preparing 
this response.

Page 190


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.
	5 General Fund Provisional Outturn Report
	6 Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report
	7 Annual Treasury Management Review 2019-20
	Appendix 2 - Property Fund Valuations
	Appendix 3 - Multi Asset Fund Valuations

	8 Annual Governance Statement 2019-20
	2. Appendix Two - Source Material
	3. Appendix Three - Annual Review of Governance 2019-20
	4. Appendix Four - AGS 2019-20
	1. Contents and Intro
	2-3. Definition and environment
	4-5. Vision and performance
	6. Finance
	7-8. Audit and Risk
	9-10. Partnerships and Transparency
	11-12. Review and Covid-19
	13. Plan


	9 Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Report 2019-20
	2. APPENDIX 2 - GBC A&CF Annual Report 2019-20

	10 Draft Audit Plan 2020-21
	4. Appendix 2 - Revised GBC A&CF Plan 2020-21
	5. Appendix 3 - Items no longer on 2020-21 plan

	11 Fee Scale for the 2020-21 Audit and update on 2019-20 fees
	12 Draft response to Letter to Those Charged with Governance
	2. Appendix 2 - Enquiries to Those Charged with Governance 1920
	3. Appendix 3 - Letter to TCWG response




